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Whitbread Group PLC

Strategic report

Intreduction

These consolidated financial statements represent Whitbread Group PLC and all its subsidiaries (*Group'). Whitbread is the owner of Premier
Inn. the UK s biggest hotel brand. with over 83.500 rooms in over 840 hotels and a growing presence in Germany with 9.000 rooms in

51 hotels, offering quality accommodation at affordable prices in great locations. People are at the heart of our business. We employ over 40.000
team members in over 1,600 Premier Inn hotels and restaurants across the UK and Germany and serve over five million customers every month.

QOur strategy of investing through periods of uncertainty has underpinned our strong performance in the UK and provided real momentum as we
continue to expand in Germany. We have a long track record of generating attractive and consistent rates of retum for our shareholders whilst
also ensuring we remain a Force for Good. We have emerged from the pandemic with a strong balance sheet and signiticant opportunities tor
growth, and remain confident in delivering attractive long-term returns for shareholders.

We own, operate and manage a large network of hotels and restaurants. With significant asset-backing, our vertically integrated model ensures
the consistent delivery of a high-quality product for our guests, attractive and sustainable rates of return for our shareholders whilst having a
positive impact on our other key stakeholders.

Premier Inn currently operates 800+ hotels in the UK (83,500 rooms) and is looking to continue its expansion into Germany through
a combination of organic growth and acquisitions. Germany has 51 operational hotels as at 2 March 2023 and a committed
pipeline of 37 further hotels that are planned to open over the next few years. Further details can be found in the Strategic Report
of the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC for the year ended 2 March 2023. The financial year represents the 52
weeks to 2 March 2023 (prior financial year: 53 weeks to 3 March 2022).

Business Review
Group adjusted’ profit before tax was £376.8m (2021/22: loss of £55.7m). Group statutory protit for the year was £249.1m
(2021/22: £11.6m). Group revenue for the year was £2,625 2m (2021/22: £1,703.4m).

At 2 March 2023, net debt* was £171.4m (2021/22: net debt of £140.5m).

Liquidity and debt funding facilities

Whitbread PLC received confirmation of its investment grade status on 20 February 2023 and aims t0 manage to investment grade
metrics of lcase adjusted net debt® of less than 3.7x! funds from operations* over the medium term. During the first halt. the Group
returned to below this level and as at the end ot 2022/23 the ratio was 2.7x,

During the first half of 2022/23. the Group entered into a new £775 million revolving credit facility (*RCF’). replacing the previous
£850 million facility that was due to expire in September 2023. The new five-year facility, with two one-vear extension options, is a
multi-currency revolving credit facility and is provided by a syndicate of seven banks led by Banco Santander. Barclays. NatWest
and Bank of China. The RCF has variable interest rates with GBP linked to SONIA and EUR being linked to EURIBOR.

The maturity of the Group’s facilities is set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

- Alternative performance measure — see page 12 for further detail

' The covenant measures are calculated pre-IFRS 16
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Strategic report (continued)

Premier Inn UK

Premier Inn UK stalulury revenue was 50% ahead of FY22 and 22% up compared te FY20. Comparisons are made to FY22
that was partially impacted by the pandemic and 2019/20, with 2019/20 being the last financial period before the onset of the
pandemic.

The impact of the pandemic on the 2021/22 results meant that the 2022/23 comparative performance was stronger than versus
2019/20. Total statutory revenue was 22% ahead of 2019/20. driven by the strength of our UK hotel performance. UK
accommodation sales were 37% ahead of 2019/20. driven by a 640bps increase in occupancy and 17% increase in average room
rates as well as the addition of over 6,000 rooms 1o our estate. Factors behind our strong performance included external drivers
such as strong consumer demand, a reduced level of supply and a robust pricing environment.

While these factors benefited the M&E (Midscale & Economy) sector as a whole, Premier [nn remaincd well-ahead of the M&E
market throughout the period thanks to the inherent strengths of our vertically integrated operating model. direct distribution,
market-leading position and the execution of severat commercial initiatives.

Food and Beverage (F&B) sales were well-ahead of 2021/22, driven by the commercial initiatives we implemented during the
year and the market recovery following the pandemic. Despite this recovery and the benefits of high hotel occupancy and a
number of commercial initiatives helping to drive F&B sales. the value pub restaurant sector remains challenging with the result
that overall F&B sales were 4% behind pre-pandemic levels.

Adjusted other income {excluding rental income) of £5 million related to a provision release following the completion of an
HMRC review of the Group’s COVID-related support claims, tor further information see page 49. Whilst in 2021/22. adjusted
other income (excluding rental income) of £70 million included £62 milfion benefit from the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
and £8 million benefit from other COVID-related grants, no claims for COVID-related Government support were made in
2022/23.

Adjusted operating costs of £1,595 million were 28% higher than 2021/22 driven by increased occupancy across a higher
number of rooms, higher inflation, the absence of any benefit received in relation to the Government’s business rates holiday
(2021/22: £56 million) and after the benefit of our ongoing cost efficiency programme. Adjusted EBITDAR* margins recovered
strongly to 37% (2021/22: 29%) and total adjusted EBITDAR* increased to £918 million which was 16% above pre-pandemic
levels. Right-of-use asset depreciation was £134 million and lease liability interesi was £125 million reflecting the addition of
net 1,495 more leasehold rooms during the year. A total of ten new hotels and an cxtension added 1.722 new rooms while four
hotels totalling 432 rooms were closed as the Group coniinues to oplimise its estate when suitable opportunities arise. At the end
of the vear, the UK and Ireland cstate stood at 847 hotels with a total of 83,576 rooms and a committed pipeline of 7,425 rooms.

The increase in adjusted EBITDAR* meant that adjusted profit before tax* increased to £492 million, significantly ahead of
2621/22 and 19% ahead of 2019/20. Despite the chalicnge of sector-wide inflationary pressures, pre-tax profit margins reached
19.6% which was a marked increase from 2021/22 and almost back to the 20.2% achieved in 2019/20.

The strong profit performance coupled with our disciplined approach to capital allocation fed through into a marked recovery in
ROCE* that was 12.9% for the year. up from 2.3% in 2021/22 and 11.2% in 2019/20.
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Strategic report (continued)

Premier Inn Germany

With over 9,000 rooms open in 51 hotels, we have established a broad national network. We will continue to pursue an ambitious
growth strategy in Germany. both organically and through bolt-on acquisitions. Our total open and committed pipeline stands at
16.000 rooms and we believe there is ample opportunity to grow further.

Pandemic-related restrictions were finally lifted during the first quarter which prompted an uplift in leisure demand throughout the
summer months. This continued into the third quarter with leisure demand remaining buoyant, supported by a high number of
leisure events, as well as a rebound in business travel including the return of a number of large international trade fairs. Despite the
popularity of Christmas markets in a number of German cities, market demand in the seasonally quiet fourth quarter was softer
than expected. The net result was that total statutory revenue increased by 234% versus 2021/22. up to £118 million and was
significantly ahead of 2019/20 revenue of £12 million, this increase driven by the increase in the size of our estate since 2019/20.

Adjusted other income (excluding rental income) was significantly less than last year, with no claims being made for COVID-
related Government support in 2022/23 (2021/22: £44 million).

Adjusted operating costs increased by £44 million versus 2021/22 (2021/22: £42 million increase) reflecting the continued growth
in our estate and inflationary pressures. We made good progress on continuing to refine our eperating model and tailor our
customer proposition. We also continued to drive cost efficiencies without compromising our ability to drive revenue growth. The
addition ot 2,706 new leasehold rooms to the estate meant that right-of-use-asset depreciation increased by 41% to £32 million and
lease liability interest increased by 63% te £14 million. During the year we opened ten hotels and acquired six hotels including a
frechold hotel in Austria, ending the period with 51 hotels and 9,042 rooms open.

Cash generation

Adjusted EBITDAR increased by 88% to £888 million (2021/22: £473 million). driven by the strength of the trading performance
of Premier Inn UK, resulting in an adjusted operating cashflow of £719 million (2021/22: £404 million). Expansionary and
maintenance capital expenditure increased to £546 million in 2022/23 (2021/22: £261 million) resulting in total cashflow before
shareholder returns and debt repayments of £182 million broadly in line with last year (2021/22: £187 million).

Future likely developments
For details of these please refer to the future likely developments section of the Directors' report.

Risks and uncertainties

The Whitbread PLC Board has ultimate responsibility for risk management throughout the Group and determines the nature and
extent of the risks Whitbread is willing to take to achieve its objectives. Risk is managed proactively by the Executive Committee
of Whitbread PLC. Certain responsibilities, such as overseeing the systems of risk management and internal control, have been
delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee of Whitbread PLC, which completes an annual review of the effectiveness of
these processes. The business units complete an annual review of the risks to the achievement of their strategic goals, whilst also
taking into account the key operational risks. which are updated regularly. A robust top-down risk assessment is also completed
to capture the Board's views on the principal risks facing Whitbread and its risk appetite for each. Actions required to manage
these risks are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis. Emerging risk themes and trends from industry and professional
bodies, and peer networks, are collated and reviewed biannually by the Executive Committee of Whitbread PLC and managed
through the risk management framework as appropriate. The principal risks identified, together with a summary of key
mitigations are sumimarised below.

Risk appetite is defined as the level of risk we are willing to accept in pursuit of our strategic priorities. The level of risk
acceptable for principal and emerging risks is assessed on an annual basis by the Executive Committee of Whitbread PL.C and
Whitbread PLC Board members, who define their risk appetite against key indicators including potential impact of risk,
likelihood of risk, and ability to reduce risk through mitigation. This ensures alignment between our view of acceptable risk
exposure and the strategic priorities of the Group.

Strategic priorities” key:
» | —innovate and grow in our core UK business
+ 2 — focus on our strengths to grow intemationally
* 3 — enhance our capability to support long term growth
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Strategic report (continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs prior
Risk Key mitigations priorities” appetite | year
Uncertain economic outlook
Uncertain UK and Germany cconemic - We curremtly have a strong balance sheet with substantial| 1.2.3 N/A No change
outlook with the threat of & recession Liquidity and a large frechold property base, giving us the
which is deep and prelonged, option to enter into sale and leaseback agreements if
exacerbated by the impact from wider required
macroeconomie trends and current . o
; L . - We continue to make good progress with our efficiency
geopolincal conflicts. This is resulting - s :
: . programme and rolling utilities hedging, to offset
in changeable demand: weak public and inflati i - - discioli
consumer confidence. reduced inflationary pressures and maintam rigorous discipline
international travel, structural and over our capital and cost spend.
significant inflatron widely impacting - We have updated our supplier base to include more local
our cost base across the business; and suppliers and opened new warehousing in Germany 10
the potential makbity to meet customer minimise supply chain disruption.
demand Overall, causing declining cash . . .
flows, significant supply chain - Thgle is a ngorous business p_lanmng process in place
disru;;tion impact on property which considers many scenarios with appropriate
valuations, increasing quantu}n and cost responses
of borrowing and a strain on balance
sheet strength
Cyber and data security ) ] )
Businesses continue to be subject to - We have a specialist team and robust [nformation 3 Low Increased due to
continuously evelving methads of cyber- | Securtty Management in place with a wide range of contnuously
attack. Data breaches or operational proactive and reactive secunty contrels including up-to- evolving A
disruption caused by matware suck as date antivirus software across the estate, network/ system methods of attack
ransomware, can result 1 a loss of brand menitoring and regular penetration testing to identify as le““ asflhc
trust, regulatory fines and an adverse vulnerabilitres. ;::)t:iTti °
tmpact on the value of the business. - A continuous security improvement programme 1§ in .
place with regular internal and independent external
review of control effectiveness and Information Security
maturity,
- Qur mature risk process and proactive threat modelling
and menitoring allow us to identify and address threats at
the carliest opportunity.
~ We have solid compliance foundations across all
countries for data protection and effective collaboration
between Information Security and Data Protection teams
to minimise data risks and ensure compliance with
GDPR
- All IT change and engineering has Information Security
built in by design
Technology-led business change . .
- To help ensure the successful delivery of change projects, 123 High Increased due to

and interdependencies

The risk that we are unable to successtully
deliver major transformationai
programmes particularly under time
bound pressures and realise benefits due
to high velume of change This
particularly refers to the replacement of
the legacy reservation system in year at a
signiticant pace, our systems networks
across the estate, other commercial and
people technology driven transtormation
programmes, and Germany expansion
whilst embedding new teams and ways of
working

we have enhanced internal project delivery expertise and
capability and a robust assurance management
framework This is coupled with regular reporting and
discussion at the Risk Working Group, Executive
Committee and Board.

- Utilisation of specialist technology third parties and
subject matter experts to provide further independent
assurance,

criticality of the
speed of change
and operational
impact, as well as
recognising the
significant
investment in
technology over
the next five
years
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Strategic report (continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs prior

Risk Key mitigations priorities' appetite year
Germany profitable growth
The risk that intemational expansion in |- We are able to use the deep level of skills and 2 High [ncreased in line
Germany 1s impacted by a prolonged experience used te build the UK business, coupled with with the mcrease
downturn in the German economic our strong development team in country which 1s able to I nvestment
clunate, or a failure to achieve our perform detailed and ongoing assessments of the
market revenue growth or cost Germian market and economic fundamentals at both a
assuwniptions making it harder to achieve micro and 3 macro level,
a level of return 1 a nmeframe that - Focus is on develaping our strong organic and M&A
satisfies stakeholder expectations. There pipelines and reducing capital costs through better
i5 some counterbalance identified within buying power and hamessing efficiencies and synergies
the nisk created by increased opportunity with the UK business.
to acquure sites due to competitor - A monthly executive meeting reviews the German
weakness. bustness in detail, including finaneial performance,

customer feedback, marketing and operations and

people, capital and property plans.
Increased and extended focus , . New i
on food and beverage - New menus and propositions including revenue - €W in year

et . opportunities from focus on daypart trading and
proposition in Restaurants premiumisation, and improvement of guest experience
:jfhare is arisk tha; the cun’enft by integrating ground floor spaces.
ivergence In performance o B . . o
accommodation and food and beverage gs:;t:trsbuymg with supply chain and procurement
drives a disproportional focus in ) .
restaurants by the business. The pub - Brand-led nitiatives and focus on key events
restaurant market continues to be - Extensive market research and customer feedback.
highly competitive, with headwinds - Rejuvenation of brands and associated marketing to
from inflation and the cost-of-living optimise spend.
impact on demand yet to be fully
understood. This also highlights an
opportuntty to focus on the value-led
consumer and to continue to benefit
from the Premier Inn customer to drive
incremental RevPAR.
Talent, attraction, and
- The success of our businesses would not be possible 3 Medium No change

retention

The risk of structural changes to the
macro labour market where the
hospitality sector is considered a less
attractive employer, compounded by
immugration regulations for specific
roles such as chefs and housekeeping
and real cost-of~living pressures, along
with the transferability of functional
expertise especially in the Technology
and Digital areas, which could lead 1o a
smailler talent pool and low levels of
diversity in the senior leadership team
resulting 1n sigmificant cost inflation
and potential disruption

without the passion and commitment of our teams.
Therefore, team engagement is fundamental. We
monitor this ¢closely through our annual engagement
survey and invest in ongoing development, wellbeing
and engagement, along with driving our diversity and
inclusion strategy.

= Team retention is a key component of our WINcard and
Annual Incentive Scheme, with long-term incentive
schemes in place for senior team members and an
ongoing review of high-risk areas such as [T and Digital
remuneration, We regularly benchmark our reward
packages against the market and have targeted pay
interventions around skills hotspots

~ We have nvested significantly in our Dhrect Hire
Resourcing team, optimised the model and continuing to
drive employer presence with a specific focus on vouth.
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Strategic report (continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs§ prior
Risk Key mitigations priorities! appetite year
Third-party arrangements
Whitbread has several key supplier - We continually review our suppliers and business 2.3 Medium No change
éﬂﬁ:lgrn\‘sil ;uL}-] 3:‘15‘:{?3325:1{3 ?fpgﬁle“‘ continuity arrangements, with demand planning and
Centre operatiens, mcluding [T, food and enhanced supplier performance monitoring allowing
heverare distribution and landry proactive action when required.
services. Withdrawal of services for one |- We expect our supphers’ practices to be in line with our
;’;ﬂ‘::g{mﬁ::ggg’]ﬁgﬁﬁ s{aﬁa‘;‘lf'(]isslogr‘)t values and standards. Suppliers are thoroughly vetted
reputational damage as a result of before we enter into any arrangements 1o ensure they are
unethical supplier practices could cause reputable and then monitored through our supplher
significant business interruption management arangements.
- We have business continuity plans in place for all critical
suppliers.
Structural shifts and threat
from disruptors - We perform extensive scenario modelling, fed by regular | 1,23 N/A No change
This risk is particularly focused on competitor and market analysis, allowing us to assess the
g?:;%";frreig&a'?hznsn{};ﬁl};ﬂeg;er Inn impact of various structural shifts on the business and
disruptors to explot current consumer enabling us to make informed decisions going forward.
price sensitivity due to the cost-ofuliving | - We have Custemer and Trading Committees which track
‘L:er;rsrlyss?ll-ﬁgtgu gitlslhtili‘:te geﬁgggfnm 0;111;?&‘3;5 Brand Index, NPS, customer satisfaction and feedback,
utilising online meeting tCChﬂglgg\’ and and we are continually improving our digital marketing
the reducton in international travel to both leisure and business to business customers
resulting in a loss of market share. The - We are continually eptimising the customer proposition
combined umpact of these factors presents | around our estate, upgrading roems and churning
a risk to returns, cash flow and property - -
asset valuations, particularly of sites suboptimal sites.
located in metropoelitan areas. - We are also taking a cautious approach to further
expansion, beyond our existing pipeline, stowing sigrning
of new sites in the UK until the environment is more
certain, with our focus shifting to lower risk market
share trading initiatives.
Extended stagnation of the UK
1 N/A New in vear

property market slows UK

growth

The stagnation in the UK property market
continues for longer than expected and
impacts our ability to maintain the UK
pipeline, putting pressure on our returng
and UK growth in subsequent years

This is driven by the slowdown in
developer-led opportunitics, due to weak
sentiment and possible fall in value of
land: construction inflation; increased
cost of debt; and investment yields.

‘Whitbread could potentially take on a risk
premium to acquire sites by assumung a
future value from sale and leaseback
arrangements

Opportunities may become available due
1o less competition to buy land and to
build out, or developers may look to
release properties in the short term

- Strong financial covenants make us more attractive to
investment funds as a preferred hotel tenant.

- Expenenced and well-networked Property team.

- Robust capital investment framework with updated
analysis, mcluding yield ranges (+/~50bps) to support
decisions.

- Sale and leaseback vields tested with continual
monitoring of the market

- Solid commutted pipeline of 7,425 rooms across 40
hotels.
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Strategic report (continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs prior
Risk Key mitigations priorities! appetite | year
Health and safety o Noch
Adverse publicity and brand damage duc | = The safety of our guests and employees is of paramount | 1.2.3 Low o change
to death or serious injury as a result of importance. NSF, an independent specialist, undertakes
Company neghgence or a significant unannounced health and safety audits on sites, covering
incident resulting from food, 1n particular food, fire, and general health and safety requirements.
the risk from allergens, fire, terrorism or | - We have robust fire safety policies, procedures and
another safety faillure. This could be due te|  trairung for our team members We work closely with
a failure in safety standards, butkding independent fire safety consultants, regarding fire safety
standards, supply chain provenance, in our hotels
responsible sourcing, poor hygiene - We have stringent food safety and sourcing policies with
standards or a direct targeted terrorism robust traceabulity and testing requirements in place in
attack, all of which could lead to adverse respect of meat and other products. We invest
publicity, brand damage and sudden or considerable resources in employee training along with
prolonged downtqm in demand in key allergen information which s also made easily
markets and locations. accessible both online and at sites
- Health and safety is a measure on the WINcard and acts

as a hurdle for incentive payments. Regular health and

safety updates are provided to the Risk Working Group,

the Executive Committee and the Board.

- We nvest in ongoing site level training to help 1dentify

hostile reconnaissance activities or potential terrorism,

and to ensure we have an appropriate response should

such events take place. The executive team also holds

crisis management exercises to ensure we are prepared

for such events.
Environmental, Social and 123 A increased in

Governance

As a business, we have an impact on and
are impacted by a wide range of
environmental issues, such as an
inability to meet carbon targets, natural
resource scarcity, and social trends such
as veganism. There is uncertainty as to
how these collective risks will evolve
and the expectations of our wide
stakeholder group to deliver on our
commuitrnents and embed them within
the business model wholly could impact
our reputation and performance.

There is also the risk of an issue within
the supply chain materialising which is
unethical or lacks traceability, which
would impact our sustainability
credentials

Gur TCFD response helps us te identify and assess key
risks, epportunities and impacts of climate change to the
business.

Cur Force for Goed programme covers large aspects of
our ESG agenda, with targets around emissions, food
waste, and single-use plastics, ensuring our
accountability for positive change.

We continue to manage and monitor the use of proceeds
against the projects cutlined in our Green Bond
Framework. The proceeds have been allocated against
our green energy, sustainable procurement, and green
building projects.

We champion inclusivity and improving diversity across
the organisation and have set eight diversity and
inclusion targets to ensure our teams feel supported and
engaged as part of this process

Regular ethucal supplier audits combined with our
responsible sourcing policies and inttiatives ensure
ethical end to end buying

&

recognition of
potential time
bound pressures
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Strategic report (continued)
Section 172 statement

In accordance with scetion 172 of the UK Companies Act 2006, in its decision making the Board of Whitbread Group PLC considers
the interests of the Group's employees and other stakeholders.

Maintaining and developing positive relations with all the stakeholders who may be impacted by the decisions we make is a critical
factor in ensuring long-term sustainable success for our business. Stakeholder engagement is central to the formulation and delivery
of our strategy. As the stratcgy for the Group is developed, the views and interests of various stakeholders are factored in to the
strategic options, including the views of customers, empleoyees, shareholders and suppliers. Equally, the impact of Group siralegy ou
the communities in which we operate. and on the environment, is considered. That way. the strategy of the Group is developed
directly with those interests in mind.

Equally. the interests of all relevant stakeholders are carefully considered by the Board and the Executive Committee as and when
specific decisions are made throughout the year. In its decision making, the Board considers what is most likely to promote the
success of the Company for its stakeholders in the long-term.

Our directors understand the importance of their section 172 duty to act in good faith to promote the success of the Company. Some
examples of how the Board considers these groups during Board meetings and discussions include the following:

¢ As part of the monthly Key Performance Indicators (KP1) pack, the Board considers data relating to customer feedbackand
team retention, as well as data on shareholders and themes from investor relations meetings.

» The Chiet Financial Officer’s Board reports give details on recent engagement with shareholders and Pension Trustees
discussions. and qualitative feedback on specific concerns.

s The Chief People Officer’s Board reports provides details of all relevant employee-related matters, including recruitment,
retention, diversity and inclusion, listening, wellbeing, training and reward.

s  The General Counsel’s report contains an update of key developments on the Force for Good agenda. including work in the
community. charitable fundraising, the environment, plastics and food waste. [t also includes best practice guidance on section
172 compliance.

¢ The Chict Executive's report gives details of any rclevant intcraction with Government or regulators, and key issues with
suppliers and landlords.

¢ The Board debate on possible mergers and acquisitions include wider impact assessments, considering issues such as

integration with the current business, management capabilities, the impact on team members, and the ability of our supply
chain to react with the plan.

The Board also takes into consideration the long-term consequences for the whole Group when making these decisions, making sure
the Company conducts its business in a fair way, protecting its reputaticn and external relationships.

Further information and examples of how Whitbread's Board engages with. and considers interactions with key stakeholders can be
found below.

Employees

s Over the vear, the Whitbread PLC Board has focused discussions on team member pay. Taking into consideration the current cost of living
and the impact on our entry level workers in particular

= The Whitbread PLC Board receives monthly data in the monthly KPI pack regarding team retention, and the monthly data is considered

carefully

s The Whitbread PLC Chief Executive in his report specifically mentions team retention and reward strategies, and makes proposals for
approval

e Our Voice", a body made up of elected representatives across the business, represent the views of employee constituencies to senior

management. The Board receives reports of these meetings

¢ Review of the Speaking Out process, as requested by the audit committee of Whitbread PLC to ensure a better platform for employees to
Taise concerns

e The Board has set eight specific Diversity and Inclusion targets to ensure that the business is properly representative of the communities in
which we operate. Good progress has been made in retation to these targets

s In the monthly CPO report, the Whitbread PLC Board receives detail around all areas of the People strategy

*  Diversity and inclusion is considered as part of all Whitbread PL.C Board appointments. This is guided by the Whitbread PLC Board
Diversity Policy, which was introduced in 2021 and the Gender and Ethnicity Pay Gap Report 2022, More detail on this can be found on
the Whitbread website

¢ The Whitbread PLC Board reviewed diversity and inclusion as part of the succession planning and People strategy. This also included focus
around creating a diverse pipeline at the senior management level. The Whitbread PL.C Board discussed the various diversity inclusion
networks, Glow, RRCH. eNable and Gender Equality
»  The Board receives reports on health and safety management bi-annually; statistics are included in the KPI pack, and any incidents are
reported straight away to the Board.
10
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Strategic report (continued)

Section 172 statement (continued)

Customers

*

The Whitbread PLC Board receives data on customer satisfaction scores each month
The Whitbread PL.C Board receives a monthly report on commercial, pricing and operational performance each month
Quarterly deep dives are provided into pricing and commercial strategies in the UK and Germany as part of the strategy day presentations

The Whitbread PL.C Board approves the refurbishment schedule and repairs and maintenance programmes. The Whitbread PLC Board also
continued with a programme of investment through the cycle. to ensure the portfolio retains the high quality our guests expect

The Whitbread PLC Board considers room innovations periodically, e.g. Premier Plus rooms, twin rooms
The Whitbread PLC Board considers marketing campaigns and digital strategies

The Remuneration Committee of Whitbread PLC includes customer measures in the remuneration structures for key team members

Suppliers

-

Given the supply chain issues and increased costs as we have emerged {rom COVID-19, the Whitbread PL.C Board has received regular
updates on issues such as shortages, security of supply. the impact on the business and on other stakeholders. cost inflation and strategies
to tackle each

The Whitbread PI.C Board has discussed inflation along the supply chain as part of the CFOs report.

The Whitbread PLC Board approves a Modern Slavery Act Statement each year

The Whitbread PLC Board approves material contracts with suppliers each year if they are of significant size and importance. This year,
the Board has reviewed and approved contracts with Oracle. Fujitsu. laundry providers and energy suppliers

The Whitbread PLC Board has received presentations on sustainability, which includes the responsible sourcing of critical commaodities,
Scope 3 carbon emissions, the reduction of single-use plastics, and the reduction of food waste

This year, the Whitbread PLC Board has approved the delivery of over 42,000 meals to FareShare, a charity which delivers food which
would otherwise be wasted, to foodbanks

Communities and the environment

The Whitbread PLC Board has received presentations regarding our sustainability programme, Force for Good. and has challenged the
targets which were proposed

The Whitbread PL.C Board receives regular updates on key developments in the Force for Good programme and provides comment and
view on material issues

The Whitbread PLC Board reviewed the Company’s Charity partnership and has received information on the amount of fundraising, with

*
our chosen charity partner, Great Ormond Street Hospital Children’s Charity
Lenders

Once a year the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer of Whitbread PLC meet the key lenders within the revolving credit facility to
discuss the annual results and business performance

The Group holds a fixed income call with our bondholders after the annual results presentation

The Whitbread PLC Group Financial Controller is in regular contact with our banks’ relationship teams. discussing operational and strategic
financing requirements, and our Treasury team engages to manage the Group’s operational requirements

We conlinue to monitor and discuss with the banks their strategy and ability to lend 1o the Group in the future and any changes that may
impact this

Pensions Trustees

The Chief Financial Officer of Whitbread PLC attends a Trustee meeting annually to present. and answer questions on. the Company’s
annual results and its ability to meet its obligations to the pension scheme

The Chief Financial Officer of Whitbread PLC regularly interacts with the Chair of the Trustee

A Company representative attends the Trustee’s Benefit Sub-Committee and the Funding & Investment Sub-Commitice meetings.
Attendance at the latter enables an understanding of any investment changes that are planned and can provide a Company view where
appropriate

Each quarter, the UK Finance Director of Whitbread PLC meets with the Funding & Investment Sub-Committee to give an update on
Company performance and answer any questions

The Whitbread PL.C Board receives presentations in relation to pension issues. including regarding the funding position. triennial valuation
and investment performance

During the year, the Whitbread PLC Board received updates on the pensioner buy-in transaction. having previously confirmed it was
supportive of the Trustee entering into a buy-out policy to further derisk the pensien scheme. The UK Finance Director of Whitbread PLC
was part of the Joint Working Group established to progress the transaction

11
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Strategic report (continued)
Financial and non-financial key performance indicators
This Group is exempt from the requirements of scction 464({cb) of the Companies Act 2006 to report a non-financial information
statemnent. This information is presented on page 59 of the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC (the immediate and
ultimate parent company) for the year ended 2 March 2023. The table below shows the consolidated financial key performance

indicators of Whitbread Group PLC.

2022723 2uzi/22

Revenue growth % 54.1%  189.0%
Revenue £m 2,625.2 1,703.4
Profit before tax £m 3383 18.3
Adjusted protitiloss) betore tax* £m 376.8 (55.7)
Total rooms - UK and ireland No. 83,500 82,200
Premier Inn UK occupancy % 83% 68%

Occupancy represents the number of hotel bedrooms occupied by guests expressed as a perceniage of the number of bedrooms
available in the period.

Adjusted profit before tax* represents profit before tax before adjusting items. The closest IFRS measure is profit before tax. See the
consolidated income statement for a reconciliation.

Alternative performance measures*

We use a range of measures to monitor the financial performance of the Group. These measures include both statutory measures in
accordance with TFRS and alternative performance measures (APMs) which are consistent with the way that the business
performance is measured internally. We report adjusted measures because we believe they provide both management and investors
with useful additional information about the financial performance of the Group’s businesses.

Adjusted measures of profitability represent the equivalent [FRS measures adjusted for specific items that we consider relevant for
comparison of the tinancial performance of the Group’s businesses either from one period to another or with other similar

businesses.

APMs are not defined by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with similarly titled measures reported by other
companies. APMs should be considered in addition to, and are not intended to be a substitute for. or superior to. IFRS measures.

For further information relevant to the use ot APMs by the Group refer to the Adjusting items and use of alternative performance
measures Accounting Policy in these financial statements.

The strategic report was approved by the directors on 25 July 2023 and signed on its behalf.

Nl

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer
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Directors’ report

The directors present their Annual Report and audited tinancial statements for the year ended 2 March 2023,

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Group is the operation of hotels and restaurants, located in the UK and internationally.

Dividends
The directors did not declare or pay a dividend in the year (2021/22: £nil). No further dividends were proposed (2021/22: £ail).

Directors

The directors who served during the year were:
- M Anderson
- A J Brittain (resigned 17 January 2023)
- N T Cadbury (resigned 22 March 2022)
- R M Howarth
- H K Patel {appointed 22 March 2022)
- D J Paul {appointed 17 January 2023)
- C A Thomas (appointed 22 June 2023}

Employee involvement
All employee services are provided to the Company by Whitbread Group PLC. For further intformation on employee involvement
please refer to the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC for the ycar ended 2 March 2023.

Political donations
No political donations were made during the vear (2021/22: £nily.

Future likely developments

The Group remains committed to pursuing its ambitious growth milestones. The plan is to grow Premier Inn UK rooms from
83,300 at the year-end with around 7,500 rooms in a comimitted UK pipeline. The Group's ambition is to reach 125,000 rooms in
the UK. We plan to open rooms in locations where we currently have no hotels and also in high demand locations where we
already have a presence.

In Germany, Premier Inn has an estate of 9,000 rooms. with a committed pipeline of 7,000 rooms. We believe the opportunity

to create substantial value in Germany is significant. The German hotel market today is very similar to where the UK was 15-20
years ago: it is highly fragmented. with a large independent hotel sector and a relatively small branded budget hotel segment. but
with a large, prosperous economy and significant volumes of business and leisure travel.

For further information on future likely developments please see the business review included in the Annual Report and Accounts
of Whitbread PLC (the immediate and ultimate parent company) for the vear ended 2 March 2023,

Employment policies
Whitbread has a range of employment policies covering such issues as diversity, employee well-being. engagement. participation
and equal opportunities.

The Company takes its responsibilities to disabled persons seriously and seeks not to discriminate under any circumstances
fincluding in relation to training. career development and promotion) against current or prospective employees because of any
disability. Full and fair consideration is given to applications for employment made by disabled persons, having regard to their
aptitudes and abilities. Employees who become disabled during their career at Whitbread will be retained in employment
wherever possible and given support with rehabilitation and training.

Financial risk management
Informmation on the Company's use of financial instruments. financial risk management ebiectives and policies and expasure is
given in Note 23 and Note 24.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Going concern

The Group's and Company’s business activities, financial position, borrowing facilities and performance tor the year are set out
in the strategic report on pages 3 to 12. The net debt, borrowing facilities and the maturity of those facilities are set out in Note
19 1o the consolidated financial statements.

The directors have outlined the assessment approach for going concern in the accounting policy disclosure in Note 2 of the
conselidated lnancial statements. Following that review the directors have concluded that the going concern basis remains
appropriate,

Directors' indemnity
A qualifying third-party indemnity provision (as defined in Section 236 (1) of the Companies Act 2006) is in force for the benefit
of the directors.

Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

+ so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and
+ the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given, and should be interpreted, in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act
2006.

Events after the balance sheet date
Information on ¢vents after the balance shect date is provided in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

This Group is exempt from the requirements of Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) Statutory Instrument:
2018/1155 through virtue of it being a subsidiary consolidated into Whitbread PLC {immediate parent entity) which discloses
the information required by SECR.

Reappointment of auditors
The auditor Deloitte LLP are deemed reappointed under section 487(2) of the Companics Act 2006,

The consolidated financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC for the year ended 2 March 2023 were approved and
authorised by the Board of directors on 25 July 2023,

On behalf of the board

Nl

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer
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Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report und Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to
prepare the group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (adopted international
accounting standards).

The directors have chosen to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they givea
true and fair view ol the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:
« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
= make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
+ state whether applicable U/K Accounting Standards have been followed. subject to any materia! departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements: and
+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 10 presume that the Company
will continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements. International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:

= properly select and apply accounting policies consistently;

* present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides refevant. reliable, comparable and understandable
information:

+ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements of the financial reporting framework are
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s
financial position and financialperformance; and

* make an assessment of the group's ability 1o continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

* the financial statements. prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework. give a true and fair view of
the assets. liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whele;

= the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties that they face: and

« the Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the
informationnecessary for shareholders to assess the Company s position and performance. business model and
strategy.

The responsibility statement was approved by the board of directors and is signed on its behalf by:

By order of the Board.

‘ULl

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WHITBREAD
GROUP PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
in our opinion:

s the financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC {the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘Group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 2
March 2023 and of the Group’s profit for the 52 weeks then ended;

e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards;

e the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced
Disciosure Framework”; and

s the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

the Consolidated income statement;

the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

the Consolidated and Parent Company batance sheets;

the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity;

the Consolidated cash flow statement;

the related notes to the consoclidated financial statements 1 to 34, including the accounting policies;
and

¢ the related notes to the Parent Company financial statements 1to 21,

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements
is applicable law, and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure framework” (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) {I1SAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our repert.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that

are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s {the
‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
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responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services provided to the Group and
Parent company for the year are disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements. We confirm that we have not
provided any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard to the group or the parent company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters

The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

e f[mpairment and impairment reversals of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Within this report, key audit matters are identified as folfows:
@ Newly identified

@ Increased level of risk

@E Stmilar level of risk
@ Decreased level of risk

Materiality

The materiaiity that we used for the Group financial statements was £20.0 million
(2022: £16.0 million) which was determined based on 5.3% of adjusted profit before
tax which represents 0.64% of net assets {2022: 0.57% of net assets).

The materiality that we used for the parent company only financial statements is
£19 million {2022: £15.2 million) which was determined on the basis of 0.86% of
net assets {2022: 0.63% of net assets).

Scoping

We focused our Group audit scope primarily on all significant trading entities at
Premier inn in the UK and the Group head office, with specified audit procedures
performed for the Germany business.

These locations represent the principal business units and account for 85.1% of the
Group's revenues and 89.8% of the Group’s net assets.

Significant changesin
our approach

[n terms of Group materiality, we have used adjusted profit before tax as our
benchmark in the current year. In the prior year, the materiality benchmark was
net assets. The reason for this change was the impact of COVID-19 which
continued to affect the Group’s financial performance in the prior year.

Our audit report no longer includes the following as a key audit matter:
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e Recognition of UK and Germany government grants — In the prior period,
we identitied a key audit matter relating to the presentation and accuracy
of amounts received from government support in the UK and Germany. No
further claims have been made in relation to government grants during the
year and therefore we do not consider this to be a key audit matter in the
current year.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going cancern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Cur evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s and Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting included consideration of the following matters:

. Obtained an understanding of the relevant controls relating to the Group’s budgeting and
farecasting process;

. Obtained an understanding of the current economic market conditions relating to the Group’s
market;

. Verified the mechanical accuracy and assessed the model used to prepare the Group’s forecast;

. Challenged, with reference to external data, recent performance and historic forecasting
accuracy, the key assumptions used /applied in the group forecast;

. Assessed the mitigating actions available to the Group;

. Evaluated the impact of the proposed dividend payment on the Group’s going concern
assessment; and

. Assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s disclosure concerning the going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and Parent Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sectians of this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud} that we identified. These matters included those which
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team.,

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our apinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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5.1. Impairment and impairment reversals of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets @

Key audit matter
description

As described in Note 14 {Impairment), Note 13 (Property, plant and equipment)
and Note 21 (Lease Agreements) of the financial statements, the Group held
£4,554.2 million (2022: £4,227.1 million} of Property, plant and equipment and
£3,504.6 million (2022: £3,267.6 million) of Right-of-use assets at 3 March 2023.

Under IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, the Group is required to complete an
impairment review of its site portfolio where there are indicators of impairment.
In the prior year, the Group recognised a net impairment reversal of £33.4 million
as a result of the recovery in financial performance ahead of previous forecasts
following the COVID-19 pandemic.

In the current year, although accommodation sales have significantly increased
compared to the prior year, uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment has
driven higher market interest rates which has subsequently led to an increase in
market-based discount rates for both the UK and Germany. The discount rates are a
key assumption in the valuation of the Group’s portfolio of sites. Food and Beverage
(“F&B”) sales are yet to recover 1o the levels achieved before the COVID-19
pandemic and this has led to judgement and complexity in the cash flow forecasting,
particularly for sites which are standalone restaurants and those specific sites where
F&B sales rapresent a more significant proportion of total sales.

In the current year, the Group recognised impairment losses in the UK of £54.2
million driven by the higher discount rate and lower cash flow forecasts for F&B
related sites. Impairment reversals were also recognised in the UK of £54.9 million,
on accommodation sites where anticipated cash flows have increased significantly
following the COVID-13 pandemic. In Germany, impairment losses of £30.8 million
have been recognised driven by the higher discount rate and lower forecast cash
flows an specific sites. The net impairment charge for the year of £33.4 million
{£30.1 million from the impairment assessment and £3.3 million from the
impairment of assets held for sale) has been recognised through the consolidated
income statement.

Estimation is required in determining the recoverable amount of the Group’s
portfolio of sites. There is a risk that the carrying value of sites {including the
Property, plant and equipment and Right-of-use assets) may be higher than the
recoverable amount, which would indicate an impairment is required. There is also a
risk that the recoverable value of previously impaired sites is higher than the carrying
value, which would indicate an impairment reversal is required. Where an
impairment review is performed, the recoverable amount is determined based on
the higher of ‘value-in-use’ or ‘fair value less costs of disposal’ {(which is determined
through the use of either a discounted cash flow method using a market based
discount rate or an industry valuation methodology).
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Key audit matter

description
{continued)

There are several judgements in assessing the appropriate valuation, which are
set out below:

Determining the cash-generating units (“CGUs") that show indicators of
impairment or impairment reversal. A CGU is determined to be each
individual trading outlet;

Assessing the appropriate discount and long-term growth rates;

Estimating of future trading earnings and cash flow projections, including the
recovery profile of F&B sales;

Assessing the future growth profile of sites which have not yet reached
maturity;

Assessing appropriateness of the valuation methodology, as well as inputs to
these; and

Estimating a reasanable possible change in assumptions for the purpose of
sensitivity analysis.

The Group's accounting policy on impairment and key sources of estimation
uncertainty in relation to impairment testing are set out in Note 2. In additian,
impairment testing — property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is
also a significant matter considered by the Board of Directors.

How the scope
of our audit
responded to
the key audit
matter

In responding to the identified key audit matter, we completed the following
audit procedures:

Obtained an understanding of the relevant controls relating to the
impairment review process and determination of cash flow forecasts;

Assessed the valuation methodolagies adopted by management to identify
impairment indicators, including the consistency of these with the
requirements of IAS 36 and IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;

Tested the mechanical accuracy of the impairment models, with input from
our analytics and modelling specialists;

Assessed the completeness of CGUs displaying impairment indicators or
impairment reversat indicators by challenging a sample of CGUs for which no
indicators had been identified;

Assessed the appropriateness of the discount rates applied with involvement
of our internal valuation specialists and compared the rates applied with our
internal benchmarking data;

Assessed the appropriateness of forecast revenue and margin growth rates
through compariscn to board approved pians with reference to historical
forecasting accuracy and external market data (such as industry forecasts);

Performed testing on a sample of sites where impairment had been
recognised, sites where impairment indicators had been identified, but no
impairment recognised and sites which indicated an impairment reversal
was required; we challenged the individual circumstances of these sites and
whether the rationale for management’s conclusion was appropriate. In
order to perform this assessment, we reviewed the trading history of the
site, understood its current performance with reference to market data and
assessed the appropriateness of Group-wide forecasts being applied;

Assessed the sensitivity analysis performed by managemeant; and

Assessed the completeness and accuracy of disclosures within the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, in particular Note 14.
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Key observations

Based on the audit procedures performed, we are satisfied that the impairment

and impairment reversals recognised
disclosures, including the sensitivities

in the year are appropriate. We consider the
in Note 14, to be appropriate.

6. Our application of materiality

6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use
materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as

follows:
Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Materiality £20.0 million {2022: £16.0 million) £19.0 miilion (2022: £15.2 million}
Basis for We have determined materiality to be £20 Materiality was determined on the basis of
determining million, which represents 5.3% of adjusted Parent Company’s net assets. This was
materiality profit before tax. This represents 5.9% of  then capped at 95% (2022: 95%) of group

statutory profit before tax and 0.68% of
net assets. Determined materiality in the
prior year was £16.0 million represented
0.57% of net assets.

materiality. This is consistent with the prior
year. This represents 0.86% of net assets
(2022: 0.63% of net assets).

Rationale for
the benchmark
applied

In the previous year, we applied net assets
as the benchmark for determining
materiality given the continued impact of
COVID-19 on the Group’s financial
performance.

In determining the benchmark for the
current year, we have considered the focus
of the users of the financial statements on
the Group’s trading perfermance and
determined that use of adjusted profit
befare tax is the most appropriate
benchmark. The use of adjusted profit
before tax is consistent with our approach
prior to COVID-19.

As well as trading, the parent company
primarily acts as a helding company and
financing entity for the wider group. The
entity holds external debt and contains an
investment in all of the Group’s trading
components and as a result, in line with the
prior year, we have determined materiality
on the basis of net assets for the current
year
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Group materiality
£20.0m
Component
materiality range
Adjusted profit EZm to £19.0m
before tax £375.4m

# Adjusted profit
hefore tax
= Group materiality

Reporting threshold
£1.0m

6.2. Performance Materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate,
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements

Perfor-m:':mce 70% (2022: 70%) of group materiality 70% (2022: 70%) of parent company
materiality materiality
Basis and In determining performance materiality, we considered the fallowing factors:
rat'ona!e .for e Our risk assessment, including our assessment of the Group’s overall control
de:?rmmlng environment; and

errormance .
P . e Our cumulative knowledge of the Group, including the nature, quantum and
materiality

velume of corrected and uncorrected misstatements in prior periods.

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Board of Directors that we would report to the Board all audit differences in excess of
£1.0 million {2022: £0.8 million), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted
reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Board of Directors on disclosure matters that we
identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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7. Anoverview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and scoping of components

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its envirocnment, including
Group-wide controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level.

Components were selected to provide an appropriate basis for undertaking audit work to address the risks of
material misstatermnent.

Based on our assessment, we have focused our audit on the UK business, which was subject to full audit
procedures, and performed specified audit procedures in the German business. Our component work
was performed by the Group audit team, with the assistance of component auditors in Germany.

These lpcations represent the principal business units and account for 95.1% of the Group’s revenues
and 99.8% of the Group’s total assets. For the UK business, component materiality was assessed at
£19.0 millicn and for Germany this was assessed at £8.0 million which was based an revenue.

At the Group level, we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical review procedures to
confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated
financial information of the remaining components not subject to audit or specified audit procedures. We
have also performed analytical review procedures on other wholly owned and joint venture businesses.

Net assets

Revenue

« Ryl audit scope
= Full audit scope & Specfied audit procedures

# Review at group level = Review at group leval

7.2. Cur consideration of the control environment

The Whitbread IT landscape contains a number of IT systems, applications and tools used to support
business processes and for reporting. in line with our scoping of components {refer to section 7.1) our work
in relation to IT controls focuses on the UK companent. We perform an independent risk assessment of the
systems, applications and tools to determine those which are of greatest relevance to the Group’s financial
reporting, including those that contain system configured automated controls that host financiaily relevant
data and associated reports.

With involvement of our IT specialists we tested general IT Controls (“GITCs") of these systems, typically
covering controls over user access managemerit, change management and interfaces with other systems
relating to in scope iT systems (such as Oracle Fusion) as well as controls over key reports generated from
the IT systems and their supporting infrastructure (database and operating system}.
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In order to evaluate [T controls, we performed walkthrough procedures of relevant controls in key business
cycles, including revenue, property, plant and eguipment, intangible assets and expenditure (processed
through Oracle Fusion} to understand whether the purpose of the control was effectively designed to
address the IT related risk. We then performed testing of the relevant controls acress the audit period, to
determine whether the control had been consistently applied as designed.

Our procedures enabled us to place reliance on IT cantrals, as planned, in the audit approach across a
nurmber of business cycles, where audit quality and effectiveness are enhanced by doing so. Based on the
tasting performed, we adopted a controls reliance approach over the processes supporting revenue,
expenditure (processed through Oracle Fusion), additions to property plant and equipment and intangible
assets.

7.3 Our consideration of climate-related risks

The full TCFD report is disclosed on page 52 of the Annual report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC (The
ultimate parent company) for the year ended 2 March 2023. The full TCFD report outlines the process they
have taken to identify the principal climate-related issues which have affected and will potentially affect the
business. We have considered the impact of these risks and the opportunities on the financial statements
and their cenclusion that there is no material impact on the financial performance and position of the Group
(as described in Nate 2 to the financial statements). We also reviewed the full Whitbread PLC TCFD report to
consider whether it is materiality consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained in
the audit.

As part of our risk assessment procedures, we have performed the following:

. Obtained an understanding of management’s process and controls in considering the impact of
climate risks;

. Performed enquiries of management and those charged with governance to understand the
impact of climate-related risks;

. Assessed whether the risks identified are complete and consistent with our understanding of the
Group’s business;

. Performed a review of the climate change risk assessment and related documentation prepared
by management and assessed whether it is consistent with the ESG disclosure on page 9 of the
Group’s accounts and our knowledge obtained in the audit; and

. Evaluated whether appropriate disclosures have been made in relation to climate-reiated risks in
the financial statements.

7.4 Working with other auditors
The Group audit team is responsible for the scope and direction of the audit process and pravides direct
oversight, review and coordination of our component audit teams. During the current year we engaged
component auditors from the Deloitte member firm in Germany to perform specific procedures on the
German entities. This approach allowed us to engage local auditers who have appropriate knowledge of
local regulations ta perform this audit work. We issued detailed instructions to the companent auditor and
directed and supervised their work.

We interacted regularly with the component Deloitte team during each stage of the audit and reviewed key

working papers. We maintained continuous and open dialogue with our component teams in addition to
holding formal meetings so that we were fully aware of their progress and results of their procedures.
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8. Otherinformation

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, being the strategic reports on
pages 3 to 12, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are
responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the
parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our chjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whather due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs (UK} will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Afurther description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's
website at: www.fre org. yk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of cur auditor’'s report.

11.Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with taws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below.

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

e the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the
design of the Group’s remuneration policies applicable to the group, key drivers for directors’
remuneration, banus levels and performance targets;

s results of our enquiries of management, internal audit, General Counsel, Whitbread PLC Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregularities;

* any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their policies
and procedures relating to:

o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of
any instances of non-compliance;

o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud;

o theinternal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations;

s the matters discussed among the audit engagement tearn and relevant internal specialists, including
tax, valuations, pensions, IT and financial instrument specialists regarding how and where fraud might
occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the apportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following area: impairment and
impairment reversals of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. in common with all audits
under 1SAs (UK}, we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management
override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group operates in,
focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this
context included the UX Companies Act, , pensions legislation and UK and overseas tax legislation.
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In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental te the Group’s ability to cperate or to
avoid a material penaity.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified Impairment and impairment reversals of property, plant and
equipment and right-of use assets as a key audit matter related to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit

matters section of our report explains the matters in more detail and also describes the specific procedures
we performed in response to those key audit matters.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the foilowing:

e reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the
financial statements;

e enquiring of management, the Board of Directors and General Counsel concerning actual and
potentiat litigation and claims;

* performing anatytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may
indicate risks of material misstatement due tc fraud;

e reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and
correspondence with HMRC; and

* in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness
of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making
accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any
significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement
team members including internal specialists, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance
with taws and regulations throughout the audit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

* the informaticn given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

* the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements. In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the
Parent Company and their environment cbtained in the course of the audit, we have not
identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report
or the directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception

13.1. Adeguacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

¢ we have notreceived alt the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

s azdequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e the Parent Company financia! statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

13.2. Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in cur opinion certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration have not been made.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14. Other matters which we are required to address

14.1. Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the board of directors of Whitbread Group PLC, we were appointed by the
members on 21 June 2015 to audit the financial statements for the year ending 3 March 2016 and subsequent
financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previcus renewals and
reappointments of the firm is eight years, covering the years ending 3 March 2016 to 2 March 2023.

14.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Board of Directors

Cur audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Board of Directors we are reguired to provide
in accordance with ISAs {UK}.
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15. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Kate J Houldsworth FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

London, UK

25 July 2023
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Consolidated income statement

Year ended 2 March 2023

52 weeks to 2 March 2023

53 weeks to 3 March 2022

Before adjusting Adjusting items Before adjusting Adjusting items

items {(Note &) Statatory items (Not: 6) Statutory
Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m

Continuing operations
Revenue 3 2,625.2 - 2,625.2 1,703 4 1,703 4
Other ncome 4 8.0 47 12.7 1224 8.7 1311
Operating costs 5 (2,089.0) (43.2) (2,132.2) (1,669 6) 65.3 (1.6043)
Impairment of joans to joint ventures 15 (L.5) - (1.5) (1.8) - (1.8)
Operating profit/(loss) before joint veniures 542.7 (38.5) 504.2 1544 74.0 228 4
Share of profit from jont venlures 15 2.3 - 2.3 04 - 04
Operating profit/(loss) 545.0 (38.5) 506.5 1548 740 2288
Finance costs 3 (205.0) - (205.0) (215m - (215.0)
Finance income 8 36.8 - 36.8 45 - 4.3
Profit/(loss) before tax 3768 (38.3) 3383 {357 740 183
Tax (expense¥credit 10 (78.3) (10.9) (89.2) 178 (24.5) (6.7)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to parent 298.5 (49.4) 2491 {37 9) 495 116

Sharehgclders
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 2 March 2023
52 weeks to 2 53 weeks to 3
March 2023 March 2022
Notes £m £m
Profit for the year 249.1 116
Ttems that will not be reclassified to the i 1. nt:

Remeasurement (toss)/gain on defined benefit pension scheme 31 {223.6) 3188
Current 1ax on defined benefit pension scheme 10 0.7 -
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension scheme 10 54.7 88 M
(168.2) 2308

Iterns that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Net {loss¥gain on cash flow hedges 24 (1.3) 24
Digferred tax on cash flow hedges 10 - {0.5y
Net (loss)/gain on hedge of'a net mvestment 24 {22.2) 90
Defetred tax on net loss/{gamn) on hedge of a net investment 10 2.1 (0.8)
Cost of hedging 24 1.1 25
(20.3) 126
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 373 (16 G)
Deferred tax on exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (4.0) 27
333 (133)
Other comprehensive (loss)income for the year, net of tax (155.2) 2301
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 93.9 241 7
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Year ended 2 March 2023

Currency
Share Share Retained transiation Hedging

capital premium earnings reserve reserve Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 25 Februavy 2021 1337 2077 2.208.6 28.7 (1.9 25768
Profit for the year - - 116 - - 11.6
Other comprehenswe ncome - - 2308 (4 4) 37 230.1
Total comprehensive income - - 2424 44 3 2417
Accrued share-based payments (Note 30) - - 12.9 - - 12.9
‘Tax on share-based payments - - 0 2) - - {0.2)
At 3 March 2022 133.7 2077 24637 243 1.8 28312
Profit for the year - - 249.1 - - 249.1
Other comprehensive income - - {168.2) 10.7 23 (155.2)
Total comprehensive income - - 80.9 10.7 2.3 3.9
Accrued share-based payments (Note 30} - - 17.9 - - 17.9
Tax on share-based payments - - {0.1) - - (0.1)
At 2 March 2023 133.7 207.7 2,562.4 350 4.1 2,942.9
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Consolidated balance sheet

At 2 March 2023

2 March 2023 3 March 2022
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12 179.6 1593
Right-of-use assets 21 3,504.6 32676
Property, plant and equipment 13 4.554.2 42271
Investment in joint ventures 15 48.2 41.1
Derivative financial instnuments 24 - 158
Defined benetit pension surplus 31 324.7 5226
8611.3 82335
Current assets
{nventories I6 21.7 194
Current tax asset 10 2.5 7.6
Trade and other recervables 17 141.8 116 .4
Cagh and cash equivalents 8 1,164.83 11324
1.330.8 12758
Assets classified as held for sale 13 3.2 64 8
Total assets 9.945.3 3.574.1
Current liabilities
Borrowirtgs i9 - -
Lease Liabilities 21 1441 1263
Provisions 22 20.2 196
Trade and other payables 25 1,852.1 1,865 9
2,016.4 20148
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 19 993.4 991 9
Lease liabtiities 21 3,814.3 35725
Provisions 22 8.3 17
Derivative financial instruments 24 7.8 -
Deferred tax liabilities 10 158.4 1508
Trade and other payables 25 338 12
4.986.0 47281
Total Habilities 7,002.4 67429
Net assets 29429 28312
Equity
Share capital 26 133.7 1337
Share premium 27 2077 2077
Retained earmings 27 2,562.4 24637
Currency translation reserve 27 35.0 243
Other reserves 27 4.1 18
Total equity 2,942.9 28312

"MNlibz

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer

25 July 2023

33



Whitbread Group PLC

Consolidated cash flow statement
Year cnded 2 March 2023

%2 weeks to
2 March 2023

53 weeksto
3 March 2022

Notes £m £m
Cash generated from operations 28 997.8 6952
Payments agamst provisions (2.7} {18.9}
Defingd benetit pension scheme payments (15,1 {148}
Interest paid — lease habilities (138.7) {1332
Interest paid — other (32.0) (20.2)
Interest received 22.6 22
Corporation taxes pa:d (29.9) (0.1}
Net cash flows from operating activities 801.4 5102
Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment properties 3 (482.0) (200 4)
Proceeds from disposal of preperty. plant and equipment 59.6 56.4
Investment in intangible assets 3 (36.8) {21.1%
Movement in funding of parent company (150.3) 04
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration 25 (25.3) (36 3)
Capital contributions te joint ventures 3 - (L.4y
Loans advanced to joint ventures 13 (1.5) (18
Net cash flows used in investing activities (636.3) (204.2)
Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities
Drawdowns of long-term borrowings 19 - 50.0
Repayments of long-term borrowings 19 - (353.9)
Pavment of facility fees (4.2) -
Net lease incentives received 3.5 20
Payment of principal of lease liabilities {1339 (127.1Y
Net cash flows used in financing activities (134.6) (429.0%
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 19 30.5 (123.0)
Opening cash and cash equivalents 19 1,132.4 1.256.0
Effect of forcign exchange rate changes 19 1.9 (0.6)
Closing cash and cash equivalents 18 1,164.8 11324
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Notes (o the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Year ended 2 March 2023

1. General Information and authorisation of consolidated financial statements

‘The consolidated financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC for the year ended 2 March 2023 were authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 25 July 2023. Whitbread Group PLC is a public company limited by shares incorporated in the United
Kingdom under the Companies Act and is registered in England and Wales. The Company's seniot unsecured bonds are listed on
the London Stock Exchange. The address of the registered office is shown on page 2.

Whitbread Group PLC, its subsidiaries and joint ventures, operate hotels and restaurants, located in the UK and intemationally.

2. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting and preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC and all its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with

international accounting standards in contormity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. except for certain financial instruments that
are mcasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period and the defined benefit pension scheme. as explained in the
accounting policies below.

The consolidated tinancial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand
except when otherwise indicated. The financial year represents the 52 weeks to 2 March 2023 (prior tinancial year: 53 weeks to 3
March 2022).

Going concern

A combination of the strong cash flows generated by the business, and the significant available headroom on its credit facilities.
support the directors’ view that the Group has sufficient funds available for it to meet its foreseeable working capital
requirements. In reaching this conciusion. the directors have considered all elements of the capital allocation framework. The
directors have also determined that, over the period of the going concern assessment, there is not expected to be a signiticant
tmpact as a result of climate change.

The assessment of the Group to continue as a going concern is supported by the following:

+ Cash and cash equivalents of £1.2bn at the balance sheet date,

*  The Group maintains headreom to its current financial covenants in excess of £2.0 billion throughout the going concern
period.

= £1.0 billion of sterling bonds maturing outside of the going concern period, between October 2025 and May 2031, with no
covenants.

The directors have therefore concluded that the going concern basis of preparation remains appropriate.

Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those followed in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3 March 2022, except for the adoption of the new
standards and policies applicable for the year ended 2 March 2023, The significant accounting policies adopted are set out below.

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for the annual reporting period commencing 4 March
2022:

* Amendments to IAS 16 Property. Plant and Equipment — proceeds before intended use (effective for periods beginning on or
after | January 2022)

» Amendments to TAS 37 — Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (effective for periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022)

* Amendments to IFRS 3 — Reference to the Conceptual Framework {effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022)

* Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Standards issued by the IASB not effective for the current year and not early adopted by the Group

Whilst the following standards and amendments are relevant to the Group, they have been assessed as having minimal or no
financial impact or additional disclosure requirements at this time:

» IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (eflective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

« Amendments to IAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (effective for periods beginning on or afier 1
January 2023)

+  Amendments to IAS 1 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective for periods beginning on or after | January 2023)

+  Amendments to [FRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and [AS 28 — Sale or contribution of Assets Between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

= Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimate (effective for periods beginning en or after | January 2023)

+ Amendments to IAS 12 — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (effective tor
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

The Group does not intend to early adopt any of these new standards or amendments.

Basis of consolidation

The consclidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of Whitbread Group PLC and all its subsidiaries, together with the
Group’s share of the net assets and results of joint ventures incorporated using the equity method of accounting. These are
adjusted, where appropriate, to conform to Group accounting policies. The financial statements of significant trading subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company.

A subsidiary is an enlity controlted by the Group. Control is achieved when the Company:
» has power over the investee:
= is exposed. or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
¢ has the ability to use its power (o affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Acquisitions by the Group are accounted for under the acquisition method and any goodwill arising is capitalised as an intangible
asset. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements
from, or up to, the date that control passes respectively. All intra-group transactions, balances, income, and expenses are
eliminated on consclidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date tair values of assets transterred by the
Group. liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and any equity interest issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes contingent consideration, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transterred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the *measurement period’ {which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration at subsequent reporting dates that do not quality as measurement period
adjustments are recognised within finance costs in the consolidated income statement, unless the contingent consideration is
classified as equity.

[ the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Goadwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition is capitalised and represents the excess of the fair value of consideration over the value of the
Group's interest in the identifiable assets and liabilities ot a subsidiary, at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortised but
reviewed for impairment annually. or more frequently il events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
be impaired. On disposai of a subsidiary. the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss
on disposal.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried initially at cost. An intangible asset acquired as part of a business
combination is recognised at fair value. separately from goodwill if the asset is separable, or arises from contractual or other legal
rights. and its fair value can be measured reliably.

Amortisation of IT software and technology is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated life which varies between
three and ten years.

The carrying values are reviewed for impairment i’ events or changes in circumstances indicate that they may not be recoverable.

Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) arrangements

Saa$ arrangements are service contracts providing the Company with the right to access the cloud provider’s application software over
the contract period. Costs incurred o configure or customise. and the ongoing fees to obtain access to the cloud provider’s application
software, are recognised as operating expenses when the services are received.

Some of these costs incurred are for the development of software code that enhances or modilfies, or creates additional capability to.
existing on-premise systems and meets the definition of and recognition criteria for an intangible asset. These costs are recognised as
intangible software assets and amortised over the usetul life of the software on a straight-line basis. The usefut lives of these assets are
reviewed at least al the end of each financial year. and any change accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired separately from a business are stated at cost or deemed cost at transition to 1FRS, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Gross interest costs incurred on the financing of qualifying assets are
capitalised until the time that the assets are available for use. Property, plant and equipment acquired as part of a business
combination are recognised at fair value. Depreciation is calculated on a siraight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
asset as follows:

+ freehold land is not depreciated;
= freehold and long leasehold buildings are depreciated to their estimated residual values over periods up to 30 years; and
* plant and equipment is depreciated over three to 25 years.

The residual values and estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.

Profits or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment reflect the difference between net selling price and carrying
amount at the date of disposal and are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Investment property

Investment property assets. including properties which are owned by the Group and properties which are leased by the Group, ate
carried at cost tess accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment in value. The depreciation pelicies for investment
property are consistent with those described tor property, plant and equipment.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Leases
Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets for hotel and restaurant properties which are used in the Premier Inn business and other
equipment at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available tor use). Right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised. initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date. less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the leased assct at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assct is depreciated over the shorter of
its estimated usetul life and lease term.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the fease term. The lease payments include fixed payments and variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate less any kcase incentives receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate (e.g. turnover rent) are
recognised as an expense in the period over which the event or condition that triggers the payment oceurs. The Group incurs
service charges on property leases which are non-lease components of the contract under IFRS 16 and therefore these charges are
recorded separately within operating costs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. Incremental borrowing rates are determined quarterly and
depend on the country. currency and start date of the lease. The incremental borrowing rate is determined based on a series of
inputs including: the risk-free rate based on Government bond rates; a country specific risk adjustment; and a credit risk
adjustment based on the Group’s credit rating.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is re-measured if there is a modification or a change in the
lease term. Cash outflows relating to lease interest are recorded within net cash flows from operating activities and cash outflows
relating to prineipal repayments are included within net cash flows from financing activities in the consolidated cash flow
statement.

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction occurs when the Group sells an asset and immediately reacquires the use of the same asset by
entering into a lease with the buyer. A sale cccurs when control of the underlying asset passes to the buyer. A lease liability is
recognised. the associated property. plant and equipment asset is derecognised. and a right-of-use assct is recognised at the
proportion of the carrying value relating to the right retained. Any gain or loss arising relates to the rights transferred to the
buyer.
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Rental income
The Group recognises rental income from leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term within other income in the
consolidated income statement.

Impairment of non-current assets
Property. plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The carrying values of property. plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. For the purposes of the impairment review.
the Group considers each trading outlet to be a separate cash generating unit (CGU). Consideration is also given, where
appropriate. to the market value of the asset either from independent sources or. in conjunction with an accepted industry
valuation methodology. Any impairment in the values of property. plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is charged to the
consolidated income statement.

The Group assesses assets or groups of assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Individual assets are grouped. for impairment assessment purposes, at the
lowest level at which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets (cash
generating units or CGUs). If such indication of impairment exists or when annual impairment testing for an asset group is
required, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its fair value less costs of dispesal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an assct that does not generate largely
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is detenmined with reference to the CGU to which the asset belongs.
Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement within operating costs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrving amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwili allocated to the
units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of other assets in the CGU, on a pro-rata basis.

An assessment is made at cach reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the CGU’s recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimated future cash flows used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined.
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

Such a reversal is recognised in the consolidated income statement. After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in
future periods to allocate the asset’s carrving amount, less any residual value. on a straight-line basis over its remaining useful life.

For the purposes of impairment testing, all centrally held assets are allocated in line with IAS 36 to CGUs based on management’s
view of the consumption of the asset. Any resulting impairment is recorded against the centrally held asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is aliocated to groups of CGUs at the level management monitors goodwill,
which is af an operating segment level. The Group performs an annual review of its goedwill to ensure that its carrying amount is
not greater than its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the greater of fair value, less costs of disposal
and value in use. An impairment is then made to reduce the carrying amount to the recoverable amount.

Investments in joint venlures

The Group assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. I[f any such indication of impairment exists. the carrying amount of the investment is compared with its
recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the investment 1s written down to its
recoverable amount.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale only if available for immediate sale in their present condition
and a sale is highly probable and expected to be completed within one year from the date of classification. Such assets are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value, less the cost ot disposal. and are not depreciated or amortised.

In accordance with IFRS 3 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. the net results of discontinued
operations are presented separately in the consolidated income statement.
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inventories
Inventories are stated at the fower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated on the basis of first in, first out and net
rcalisable valuc is (he eslimated selling price less any costs to sell.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outtlow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

Provisivus ate discounted to present value, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The amortisation of the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous coniract is considercd
to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benetits expected to be received under it.

Restructuring costs

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan and has raised a valid expectation, in
those affected. that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those
affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring
which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoeing activitics of
the entity.

Adjusting items and use of alternative performance measures
We use a range of measures to monitor the financial performance of the Group. These measures include both stalutory measures

in accordance with IFRS and alternative performance measures { APMs) which are consistent with the way the business
performance is mecasured internally by the Board and Executive Committee. A glossary of APMs and reconciliations to statutory
measures 18 included in the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC for the year ended 3 March 2022,

The term adjusted profit is not defined under [FRS and may not be directly comparable with adjusted profit measures used by
other companies. It is not intended to be a substitute for. or superior to, statutory measures of profit. Adjusted measures of
profitability are non-1FRS because they exclude amounts that are included in, or include amounts that are excluded from. the
most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS.

The Group makes certain adjustments to the statutory profit measures in order to derive many of its APMs. The Group’s policy is to
exclude items that are considered to be significant in nature and quantum, not in the normal course of business or are consistent with
items that were treated as adjusting in prior periods or that span multiple financial periods. Treatment as an adjusting item provides users
of the accounts with additional useful information tc assess the year-on-year trading performance ot the Group.

On this basis, the following are examples of items that may be classified as adjusting items:

« net charges associated with the strategic programme in relation to the review of the hotel estate, excluding those relating to
financing:

= significant restructuring costs and other associated costs arising frotmn strategy changes that are not considered by the Group (o be
part of the normal operating costs of the business;

«  significant pension charges arising as a result of the changes to UK defined benefit scheme practices;

* net impairment and related charges for sites which are/were underperforming that are considered to be significant in nature
and/or value to the trading performance of the business:;

«  costs in relation to non-trading legacy sites which are deemed to be significant and not reflective of the Group’s ongoing trading
results;

= profit or loss on the sale of a business or investment, and the associated cost impact on the continuing business from the sale of
the business or investment;

* acquisition costs incurred as part of a business combination or other strategic asset acquisitions;

» amortisation of intangible assets recognised as part of a business combination or other transaction outside of the ordinary course
of business; and

* tax settlements in respect of prior vears, including the related interest and the impact of changes in the statutory tax rate. the
inclusion of which would distort year-on-year comparability. as well as the tax impact of the adjusting items identified above.

The directors believe that the adjusted profit share measure provide additional useful information to shareholders on the
performance of the business. These measures are consistent with how business performance is measured internally by the
Board and Executive Committee.
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Foreign currency translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are transfated into functional currency at the rates of exchange
quoted at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measurcd in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.

Day-to-day transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in the functional currency at an average rate for the month in which
those transactions take place, which is used as a reasonable approximation to the actual transaction rate. Translation differences on
monetary items are taken to the consolidated income statement.

A number of subsidiaries within the Group have a non-sterling functional currency. The financial performance and end position of
these entities are translated into sterling in the consolidated financial statements. Balance sheet items are translated at the rate
applicable at the balance sheet date. Transactions reported in the consolidated income statement are translated using an average
rate for the month in which they occur.

The differences that arise from translating the results of foreign entities at average rates of exchange. and their assets and
liabilidies at closing rates, are dealt with in a separate compeneat of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred
cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. All other currency gains and losses arc dealt with in the income statement.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitied in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. Consideration is net of discounts, allowances for customer loyalty and other
promotional activities and amounts collected on behalf of other parties. such as value added tax. Revenue includes duties which
the Group pays as principal.

The Group has analysed its business activities and applied the five step model prescribed by /FRS 5 Revenue from Contracis
with Customers to each material line of business, as outlined below:

Sale of accommodation

The contract 1o provide accommodation is established when the customer books accommeaedation. The performance obligation is to
provide the right to use accommodation for a given number of nights, and the transaction price is the room rate for each night
determined at the time of booking. The performance obligation is met when the customer is given the right to use the
accommodation, and so revenue is recoghised for each night as it takes place. at the rcom rate for that night.

Sale of food and beverage

The contract is established when the customer orders the food or beverage item and the performance obligation is the provision of
food and beverage by the outlet. The performance obligation is satistied when the food and beverage is delivered to the customer.
and revenue is recognised at this point at the price for the items purchased. Payment is made on the same day and consequently
there are no contract assets or liabilities.

Payment terms

Customers may pay in advance for accommodation, food and beverage. In this case the Group has received consideration for
services not yet provided. This is treated as a contract liability until the performance obligation is met. The Group has taken
advantage of the practical expedient in IFRS 15 to not adjust the consideration for the effects of a financing component as the
period between payment and the performance obligation is less than one year.

Payment terms for corporate customers are generally 30 days with amounts recorded in trade and other receivables once the
performance obligations have been met.

Consideration receivable from HM Revenue & Custonmis
Consideration received from HM Revenue & Customs under the Eat Out to Help Out Scheme is recognised within revenue from
sales of food and beverage.

Contract costs
The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of IFRS 15 and consequently contract costs incurred related to contracts
with an amortisation period of less than one year have been expensed as incurred.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Variable consideration

The Group makes an estimate, based on historical information. of amounts that will be retunded to customers. The refund liability
represents variable consideration under IFRS 15 with revenue recognisced reduced by this amount and a corresponding liability
recognised in other payables in the consolidated balance sheet.

Certain of the Group’s restaurants offer customer loyalty programmes whereby the customer can earn vouchers for historic
purchases which are redeemable as discounts on future purchases. The loyalty points issued by the Group are a separale
performance obligation providing a material right to a tuture discount. The sales price of goods is allocated to the loyalty points
and the goods sold based on their relalive standalone selling prices, with the loyalty points standalone price based on the value of
the points to the customer, adjusted tor expected redemption rates. The amount allocated to loyalty points is deferred as a contract
liability within trade and other payables. Revenue is recognised as the points are redeemed by the customer.

Finance income
Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues, using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except for gross intcrest costs incurred on
the financing of major projects. which are capitalised until the time that the projects are available for use.

Retirement benefits

In respect of the defined benefit pension scheme, the surplus recognised in the consolidated balance sheet represents the fair value
of scheme assets, reduced by the present value of the defined benetit obligation. Where the calculation results in a surplus to the
Group, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of any future available refunds from the plan.

The cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. Re-measurements are
recognised in full in the peried in which they occur in the statement of comprehensive income and are not reclassified to the
consolidated income statement in subsequent periods.

For defined benefit plans, the employer's portion of the past and current service cost is charged to operating profit. with net
interest costs reported within finance costs. In addition. all administration costs. other than those relating to the management of
plan assets or taxes payable by the plan itself. are charged as incurred to operating costs in the consolidated income statement. Net
interest is calculated by applying the opening discount rate to the opening net defined benefit obligation, taking into account the
expected contributions and benefits paid.

On 20 November 2020, the High Court ruled that pension schemes will need to revisit and equalise guaranteed minimum pensions
for historic individual transfers. The ruling impacted the Group's actuarial surplus as it will lead to an increase in pension
obligations. The Group recognised the increase in its defined benefit liability as a charge to the consolidated income statement.

Curtailments and settlements relating to the Group’s defined benefit plan are recognised in the period in which the curtailment or
settlement occurs.

Payments to defined contribution pension schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Government grants
A Government grant is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet within other reccivables when therce is reasonable assurance

that it will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attached to it. Grants are recognised within other
income in the consolidated income statement at a point in time 1o match the timing of the recognition of the related expenses they
are intended to compensate. Where cash is received in advance of the associated conditions being met, the grant is recorded
within trade and other payables in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled transaciions

Certain employees and directors of the Group receive equity-settled remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions. whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares in the immediate and Ultimate
Parent Company (Whitbread PLC). !

The cost of these equity-settled transactions is measured by reference o the fair value, determined using a stochastic model. at the
date af which they are granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised. together with a correspending increase in
equity representing the transaction with the Ultimate Parent Company. over the period in which the performance conditions or
non-vesting conditions are fulfilled, ending on the relevant vesting date. Except for awards subject to market-refated conditions
for vesting, the cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions, at each reporting date until the vesting date. reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired. and is adjusted to reflect the directors’ best available estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The income statement charge or credit for a period represenis the movement in
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. If options are subject to market-related conditions.
awards are not cumulatively adjusted for the likelihood of these targets being met. Instead, these conditions are included in the fair
value of the awards.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelied, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. Where an equity-settled award is forfeited, the related expense recognised to
date is reversed.

Where an equity-scttied award is replaced by newly granted instruments, these are accounted for as a modification of the existing
award. When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair value of
the unmodified award, provided the original vesting terms of the award are met. An additional expense. measured as at the date of
modification. is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is
otherwise beneticial to the employee.

Tax
The income tax charge represents both the income tax payable, based on profit tor the year, and deferred income tax.

Deferred income tax is recognised in tull, using the liability method, in respect of temporary differences between the tax base of
the Group's assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts that have originated but have not been reversed by the balance sheet
date. No deferred tax is recognised if the temporary ditference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability. in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differcnees can
be controlled and it is probabie that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all. or part
of, the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled. based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the batance sheet date. i

Income tax is charged or credited to other comprehensive income if it relates to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income. Similarly. income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates 1o items that are charged or
credited directly to equity. Otherwise, income tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Investments in joint ventures
[nvestments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature ol'its joint arrangements and determined them 1o be joint ventures.

The Group’s invesiments in joint venlures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method. the investiment in
a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to joint ventures is included in the
carrying amount of the investment.

The consolidated imcome statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the joint ventures. Any change in
other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Groups consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint ventures are ¢liminated to the
extent of the interest in the joint venture. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those
of the Group.

Financial assets

Trade receivables and contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently they are measured at amortised cost as the
objective of the business model is to hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the asset give
rise to cash flows on specified dates which are solely payments of principal and interest.

In line with the IFRS 9 Financiat Instruments *simplified approach’. the Group segments its trade receivables and contract assets
based on shared characteristics, and recognises a loss allowance for the lifetime expected credit loss for each segment. The
expected credit loss is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted tor factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of the current and forecast conditions at the reporting date.

Credit impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit impaired when one of more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred, such as significant financial difficulty of the debtor or default by the debtor. The Group writes
off a financial asset where there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Credit losses are recorded within operating costs in the
consolidated income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank. cash in hand and deposits (including Meney Market Funds) which are short
term, highly liquid and which are not at significant risk of changes in value.

Recognition and derecognition

The recognition of financial assets occurs when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

Derivatives and hedging
The Group enters into derivative transactions to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value on the date the contract is entercd into and subsequently re-measured to their fair
value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hedge rclationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is
recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Group has both the legal right
and intention to offset.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than
12 months and is not expected to be reatised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or
current liabilities.
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Derivatives and hedging (continued)
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest rate risks as fair
value hedges and cash flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged
item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group documents
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetiing the hedged risk. by confirming that:

» there is an economic relationship between hedged items and the hedging instrurnent;

+ the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship: and

+ the planned ratio of hedge: hedge item is the same as the actual ratic of hedge: hedge item. The fair value ¢change on
qualifying fair valuc hedges is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value change on qualifying fair value hedges is recognised in profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash tlow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the cash flow hedging reserve. Any gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
of the hedge is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Amounts previcusly recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. in the same line
as the recognised hedged item.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting when the hedge relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria. or when the hedging
instrument expires, is sold, terminated or exercised.

Hedges of a net investment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net
investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the
effective portion of the hedge are recognised in other comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective
portion are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. On disposal of the forcign operation. the cumulative value of any such
gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the statement of profit or loss.

The Group uses a cross currency swap as a hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its investments in foreign
subsidiaries. Refer to Note 23 and Note 24 for more details.

Financial liabilities
Debt and equity instruments are classified as financial liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements.

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method unless they are required to be measured
at fair value through profit or loss or the Group has opted to measure them at tair value through the profit or loss. The effective
interest rate method calculates the amortised cost of a financial liability and allocates interest expense to the relevant period.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received. net of any directly associated issue costs.
Borrowings are subsequently recorded at amortised cost, with any difference between the amount initially recorded and the
redemption value recognised in the consolidated income statement using the effective interest method.

Contingent consideration

Contingent consideration, resulting from business combinations and asset acquisitions, is valued at fair value at the
acquisition date as part of the business combination. When the contingent consideration meets the definition ot a financial
liability, it is subsequently re-measured to fair value at each reporting date. The determination of the fair value is based on
discounted cash flows.

Where the period between acquisition and payment is not significant, cash outflows for contingent consideration are included
within cash flows from investing activities. Where the period of deferral is significant, excess payments over the fair value
recognised at acquisition are recognised within cash flows from financing activities. None of the Group’s contingent consideration
is deemed to relate to post-acquisition remuneration.
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Financial liabilities {continued)
Recognition and derecognition
The recognition of iapilities occurs when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The derccognition of financial liabilities occurs when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. When
the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the substantially different terms. such
exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncerfainty

The preparation of financial stalements requires management to make judgements. estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported as assets and Habilities at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported as revenucs and expenses during the year. Although
these amounts are based on management’s best estimates. events or actions may mean that actual results ultimately differ tfrom those
estimates, and these differences may be material. These judgements and estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed
regularly.

The Group has considered the impact of climate-related risks on its financial performance and position, and although the impact
represents an uncertainty, il is not considered to be material.

Critical accounting judgements

The following are the critical accounting judgements, apart from those involving estimations (dealt with separately below) that
management have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Adjusting items

During the year certain items are identified and separately disclosed as adjusting items. Judgement is applied as to whether the
item meets the necessary criteria as per the accounting policy disclosed earlier in this note. This assessment covers the nature of
the item, cause of occurrence and the scale of impact of that item on reported performance. Reversals of previous adjusting items
are assessed based on the same criteria. Note ¢ provides information on all of the items disclosed as adjusting in the current year
and comparative financial statements.

Property transaction including sale and leaseback of land

During the period, the Group entered into a sale and lease transaction of a single property, comprising land and a hotel currently
under construction. Under the agreement, the Group is acting as the developer of the site. As a part of the transaction. the
property is being developed into a completed hotel asset via a forward funding agreement with a counterparty. The transaction’s
sale, development and subsequent lease contracts were all negotiated together as one commercial transaction, with the
transaction prices allocated based on the negotiated position rather than standalone contracts.

In relation to the land portion of the site sold, management has reviewed the criteria within IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers and IFRS 16 Leases, concluding that a sale and leaseback for the land has occurred to the counterparty.

In relation to the hotel under construction asset, management has reviewed IFRS 15, concluding that a sale for this asset has
occurred to the counterparty and the building leased back in the future will be the completed hotel, not the same asset that was
sold. Therefore, management has concluded that the current year sale and future lease of the completed hotel does not represent a
sale and leaseback under IFRS 16.

Treatment of sale and leaseback of land
The land on which the hotel is being developed has been sold with Whitbread holding no rights to re-obtain the legal title. The

performance obligation for the sale of land has been satisfied as defined under I[FRS 15. A gain of £3.1m is recognised on the
sale of the land, which represents the proportion of the land assessed as having been sold and subject to leaseback at practical
completion of the site sold. In assessing the gain to be recognised on the sale and leaseback transaction, management has
considered the fair value of the land at the sale date against the consideration allocated for the salc of the land.

Treatment for sale of hotel under construction

During the period. the performance obligation associated with the sale of the hotel under construction was assessed as being
satisfied such that the asset has been derecognised. Nil gain was recognised as allocated proceeds were substantially similar to
the carrying value of the building. The Group is exposed to cost overruns on the development of the hotel. Due to the allocation
of the transaction’s proceeds to the land, net costs of £1.7m have been recognised. reducing the overall transaction’s gain in the
reporting period as the commercial terms were negotiated together. The net gain recognised on this transaction of £1.4m has
been based on an assessment of the obligations completed under the terms of the agreement.
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Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)}

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key areas of estimation uncertainty that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial vear.

Defined benefit pension

Defined benefit pension plans are accounted for in accordance with actuarial advice using the projected unit credit method. The
Group makes significant estimates in relation to the discount rates, mortality rates and inflation rates used to calculate the present
value of the defined benefit obligation. Note 31 describes the assumptions used together with an analysis of the sensitivity to
changes in key assumptions.

Impairment testing — Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
The performance of the Group's impairment review requires management to make a number of estimates. These are set out below:

Identification of indicators ot impairment and reversal
The Group assesses each of its CGUs for indicators of impairment or reversal on an annual basis and, where there arc indicators
of' impairment or reversal, management performs an impairment assessment.

Inputs used to estimate value in use
The estimate of value in use is most sensitive to the following inputs:

* Five-year business plan — forecast cash flows for the initial five-year period are based on the five-year business plan,
which is based on results from FY23.

* Discount rate — judgement is required in estimating the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) of a typical market
participant and in assessing the specific country and currency risks associated with the Group. The rate used is adjusted
for the Group's gearing. including equity. borrowings and lease liabilities

+ TImmature sites — judgement is required to estimate the time taken for sites to reach maturity and the sites” trading level
once they arc mature.

Methodology used to estimate fair value

Fair value is determined using 4 range of methods, including present value techniques using assumptions consistent with the value
in use calculations and market multiple techniques using externally available data.

Key estimates and sensitivities tor impairment of assets are disclosed in Note 14.
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Notes to the consoclidated financial statements (continued)
3. Segment infermation
The Group provides services in relation to accommodation, food and beverage beth in the UK and internationally. Management
monitors the operating results of its operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about allocating resources
and assessing performance. Segment performance is measured based on adjusted operating profit before joint ventures. Included
within central and other in the following tables are the costs of running the public company. other central overhead costs and
share of profit from joint ventures.

The following tables present revenue and profit infermation regarding business operating segments for the years ended 2 March
2023 and 3 March 2022,

52 weeks to 2 March 2023 53 weeks to 3 March 2022
UK & Central UK & Central

Revenue Ireland Germany and other Total Ireland Germany and other Total

£m £m £fm £m £m £m fm £m

Accommadation 1,795.0 1001 - 1,895.1 1,157 8 29.1 - 1,189

Food, beverage and other tems T12.7 17.4 - 730.1 5104 5.1 - 5165

Revenue 2.507.7 117.5 - 26252 1,668 2 352 - 1.703 4

52 weeks to 2 March 2023 53 weeks to 3 March 2022
UK & Central K& Central

Ireland  Germany and other Total Treland Germany and other Totat

Profit/(loss) £m £m £m £m £m £m £m im

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) before joint 616.6 (35.9) (38.0) 542.7 1996 (154) (29.8) 154.4

ventures

Share of profil from jeint ventures

- - 23 2.3 - - 0.4 04

Adjusted operating profit/(loss) 616.6 35.9) 357 545.0 199 6 (154 (29 4) 154 8

Net finance costs (124.9) (13.8) (29.5) (168.2) (124 7) (8.5) {77.3) (216.%)

Adjusted profit/{loss) before tax 491.7 9.7) 65.) 376.8 749 (23.9) (106.7) (35.7)

Adjusung items before tax (Note 6) (38.5) 74.0

Profit before tax 3383 183

In relation 1o the previous yeae's results, adjusted operating profit/(loss) for the UK & freland segment included the impact of £126 Sm from Govermment grants whilst the German segment
included the impact of £44 3m. The UK & Ireland segment includes the umpact of the release of a previously held provision of £4 7m. Refer to Note 9 for detals,

52 weeks to 2 March 2023 53 wecks to 3 March 2022
Other segment information UK and Centrat Total UK and Central Towml
Ireland Germany and other  operations ireland Germany and other operations
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Capital expendsture:
Property. plant and equapment — cash basis 4059 76.1 - 482.0 143 1 523 - 2004
Property. plant and equipment and investment
property — accruals basis (Note 13) 430.4 73.7 - 504.1 1658 542 - 2200
Intangible assets (Note 12) 36.7 0.1 - 368 201 - - 211
Cash outflows from lease iterest and pavment
of principal of lease liabilities 234.0 38.6 - 272.6 2345 258 - 260.3
Depreciation ~ property. plant and equipment 152.2 11.0 - 163.2 1483 %3 - 157.9
Depreciation — right-of-use assets 133.6 32.2 - 165.8 1252 229 - 148 1
Amortisation 16.3 0.2 - 16.5 206 03 - 209
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3. Segment information (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed because they are not reported to, or reviewed by, the Chiet Operating Decision Maker

2022/23 202122
The Group’s revenue, split by country 1n which the legal entity resides, is as follows: £m £m
United Kmgdom 2,487.7 1,661 %
Germany 117.5 352
Other 20,0 64
2,625.2 17034
2023 2022
The Group’s non-current assets'. split by country in which the legal entity resides, are as follows: £m £m
United Kingdom 6,869.2 65713
(rermany 1,216.2 1,009.1
Osher 201.2 114.7
8,286.6 7.695.1
"Non-current assets exclude derivative financial instruments and the surplus on the Group's defined henefit pension scheme
4. Other income
An analysis of the Group’s other income is as follows;
2022/23 2021722
£m £m
Rental income 31 7%
Government grants’ {Note 9) 4.7 1138
Other 0.2 07
Other income hefore adjusting items 8.0 122 4
Legal claim settiement (Note 6) 4.7 -
VAT settlement (Note 6) - 87
Other income 12.7 1311

'£4 7m has been released from a previously held provision relating to Government grants Refer to Note 3 for details

49



wWhitbread Group PLC

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5. Operating costs

An analysis of the Group’s operating costs is as follows:

20022/23 2001122

£m £m

Cost of inventoertes recognised as an expense’ 229.0 146 6
Emplovee benefit expense’ (Note 7} 782.8 677 4
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 12) 16.5 209
Depreciation — property, plant and equipment and investiment property (Note 13) 163.2 157.9
Depreciation - right-of-use-assets (Note 21) 165.8 148.1
Utilitles 117.2 37.8
Rates 125.0 712
Other site property costs 384.3 2773
Vanable lease payment expense (Note 21) 21 03
Net foregn exchange (gain)loss 2.1 21
Other operating charges? 105.2 80.0
Adjusting operating costs® (Note 6) 43.2 (653)
2,132.2 1.604.3

! Cost of inventones recognised as an expense meludes £6.7m (2021/22; €6, [m} of inventory wnite-downs recorded during the year.
? Adjusting operatiag costs includes a charge for net impairments of £33.4m (2021/22. credit of £36.2m). a charge of £9.8m {202 1/22: credit of £28 8m) relating to other
operating charges and a charge of £0.5m (2021/22: credit of £0.3m} relating to employce benefit expenses (see Note 7).

Fees paid to the Group’s auditor during the vear consisted of:

2022723 2021722

£m £m

Audit of the Group’s financal statements 1.2 10
Audit of the Group’s subsidiaries 0.6 06
Total audit fees 1.8 16
Audit-related assurance 0.1 01
Other nen-audit fees - -
Total non-audit fees 0.1 0.1
Inciuded in other operating charges 1.9 1.7

The fees above include all amounts paid to the Group’s auditor for the audit of Whitbread PL.C and its subsidiaries as the amounts
are borne by Whitbread Group PLC.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
6. Adjusting items

As set out in the policy in Note 2. we use a range of measures to monitor the financial performance of the Group. These measures
include both statutory measures in accordance with [FRS and APMs which are consistent with the way that the business
performance is measured internally. We report adjusted measures because we believe they provide both management and investors
with useful additional information about the financial performance of the Group’s businesses. Adjusted measures of profitability
represent the equivalent IFRS measures adjusted for specific items that we consider hinder the comparison of the financial
performance of the Group's businesses either from one period to another or with other similar businesses.

2022/23 2021/22
£m £m
Adjusting items were as follows:
Other income:
VAT settlement’ - 87
Legal claim settlement® 4.7 -
Adjusting ather income 4.7 87
Operating costs’
Net mpairment {chargesyreversals — property. plant and equipment and night-ot-use assets’ (33.4) 362
UK restructurmg’ - 03
Net gamns on disposals. property and other provisions’ 4.0 288
Strategic IT programme costs® (13.8) -
Adjusting operating costs (43.2) 653
Adjusting items before tax (38.5) 74.0
Tax on adjusting items (1.0) {11.4)
Impact of change in tax rates {9.9) {13.1)
Adjusting tax expense {10.9) (24 %)

! Dunng 2021/22, HMRC confinmed it would not appeal the ruling of the First Tier Tribunal in the case of Rank Group PLC that VAT was incorrectly applied
to revenues eamed from certain gaming machines from 2006 to 2013 The Group has submitted claums for the repayment of overpaid VAT amounting to
£8 7m which are substantially similar .

© During the year, the Group received a settlement of £4.7m in relation 10 a legal claim made against a payment card scheme provider

* During the year. the Group identified impairment indicators and indicators of impairment reversals relating to assets held by the Group both at the half-year end
date and at the year-end date An impairment review of those assets was undertaken, resulting o adjusting net impairment charges of £30¢ 1m This is made up
of imparment charges on rrading sites of £85.0m (£76 m relating to property. plant and equipment and £8 9m relating to right-ofuse assets) offset by
umpairment reversals of £54 9m (£35.5m relating to property, plant and equipment and £19 4m relating to right-of-use assets) In addition, impairment charges
of £3 3m have been recorded in relation to assets held for sale during the vear. This brings the total adjusting net impairment charges to £33 4m within
operating costs. Further information is provided in Note 14

During 202122, a total net impairment reversal of £42 Om was recorded. made up of £10.5m of impairment charges on trading sites (£10.1m relating to
property, plant and equipment and £0 4m relating to right-of-use assets), offset by impairment reversals of £52 Sm (£30.4m relating to property. plant and
equipment and £22.1m relating to right-of-use assets). In addition, an impairment charge of £5.8m was recorded in relation to assets classified as held for sale.
This brings the total adjusting net impairment reversals to £36 2m within operating costs.

 During 2021722, the Group released the remaining provision of £6 3m following the comptetion of its restructuring of the Supporn Centre and site operations
after 1t had recognised redundancy and project costs of £12.1m during 2020/21

*> During the year, the Group entered into a sale and fease transaction of land and a hotel currently under construction. As a result of this transaction, the Group
received proceeds of £46.4m and recognised a net gain of £1.4m The completed hotel and land will be leased back at practical completion to the Group. In
addition. the Group increased its property related provision by £0.4m and made a profit on other property disposals of £3 Om.

During 2021/22, the Group disposed of a single property as part of a sale and leaseback transaction for gross proceeds of £40 Om. A profit on disposal of
£27 5m was recognised on disposal of the property. In addition, during 2021/22, the Group made a profit on other property disposals of £5 7m and recognised
other provisions of £4.4m relating to historic indirect tax matters.

" During the year, the Group has assessed the presentation of costs incurred in relation to the current and future strategic [T programme implementations The
programmes currently scheduled include the Group's Hotel Management System and HR & Payroll System These represent significant business change costs
for the Group rather than replacements of IT systems with Software as a Service {SaaS). The start date of these projects vartes and as such we expect costs 10 be
incurred wathin this category over the next few financial years, with their strategic benefit seen as lasting multiple vears. At this time, the Group expects to
incur costs relating to the Group’s Hotel Management System and HR & Payrell System presented within adjusting items across future financial years as
follows; during the financial year ended 2024 between £15.0m and £25.0m. during the financial vear ended 2025 between £15.0m and £25.0m and during the
financial year ended 2026 up to £5 Om._
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7. Employee benefits expense

2022/23 2021722

£m £m

Wages and salaries 714.6 6195
Social secunty costs 55.4 467
Pension costs 12.8 112
7828 677 4

The amonnts above exclnde adjusting items. Wages and salaries excludes a charge of £0.5m this vear relating to the Strategic IT
programme costs (2021/22: credit of £0.3m relating to the restructuring of Group’s operations}).

Included in wages and salaries is a share-based payments expense of £17.9m (2021/22: £12.9m), which arises from transactions
accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments.

Empioyee costs split between hourly paid and salaried employees 2022”:23 2021/;22
§ ] m
Employee costs — hourly paid 520.1 4403
Employee costs — salaried 265.7 2371
785.8 677.4
2022/23 2021722
Average number of employees directlty emploved Number Number
UK & Ireland 37,865 33,546
Germany 1,139 782
39,004 34,328

Employees of jomnt ventures are excluded from the numbers above.

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed below:

2022/23 2021/22
£m £m
Dizectors’ remuneration 5.5 42
Agaregate contributeons to the defined contribution penston scheme - -
1.2 1.7

Aperegate gains on the exercise of share options
The highest paid director received total remuneration of £2.3m (2021/22: £2.2m) including company contributions to a money

purchase pension scheme of £0.1m (2021/22: £0.2m). Aggregate gains on the exercise of share options relating to the highest paid
director were £0.8m (2021/22: £0.4m).
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8. Finance (costs)/income

2022/23 2021/22
£m £m
Finance costs

Interest on bank loans and overdratts 51 7.4
Interest on other leans (24.3) 300
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 21} (138.7) (133.2)
Interest capitalised (Note 13) 2.5 G.9
Unwinding ef discount on contingent cansideration (Note 23 {0.2) (1.4
Impact of meffectsve portion of cash flow and fair value hedges (Note 24) 1.1 (25)
Interest payable to parent company (38.1} 41 4)
(205.0) (215

Finance income
Bank interest receivable 23.2 0.7
Other interest receivable - 02
[AS 19 pension tinance mcome (Note 31) 13,6 36
36.8 45
‘Yotal net finance costs {168.2) 2103

Net finance costs includes £203.7m (2021/22: £211.1m) finance costs and £23.2m (2021/22: £0.9m) finance income in respect of
{inancial assets and liabilities that are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

9. Government grants and assistance

During the year. the Group submitted its German Bridge Aid IIT Plus and IV claims, for which it received net cash of £17.3m. These
amounts were recognised in the 2021/22 vear tor costs the Group incurred trom July 2021 to January 2022, No further claims for
COVID-related Government support were made in the UK or in Germarty, and hence the Group has not recognised any amounts for
COVID-related Government support during this financial year. A provision being held in relation to any potential repayments required
in respect of the interpretations and assumptions made by Whitbread for UK Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme claims was released
during FY23 as management is satisfied that no repayments are required following completion of an HMRC review. This has resulted
in a credit to the conselidated income statement of £4.7m as shown below.

During the previous vear, the Group had claimed Government support designed to mitigate the impact of COVID-19.
Grants recognised in the previous year and the provision released in the current year by type are shown below:

2022723 2021/22

£m £m

Release of provisions previously made relating to Govermment grant ¢laims 4.7 -

UK Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme - 67

Ireland Employment Wage Subsidv Scheme - 02

Jersey Co-Funded Payvoll Scheme - 21

UK Hospitality and Leisure Cirant - 82

German Fixed Cost Grant - 433

Cerman Kurzarbeit Scheme — compensation for secial secunty pavments - 03

Included in other income 4.7 1138
The Group benefited from the following schemes which led to savings in operating costs:

2022/23 2021/22

£m £m

German Kurzarbest Scheme — employees support - 07

UK Busmess Rate Relief - 563

Reduction in operating costs - 37.0
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10. Taxation

2022/23 2021722
Consolidated income statement £fm £m
Current tax

Current tax {credit Hexpense 282 (76}
Adjustments 1n respect of previous periods 0.7 {01}
289 (7

Deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences 51.6 175
Cffect of in yoar rato differentialichange in tax rates 9.9 131
Adjustments in respect of previous periods {1.2) (16 2)
60.3 144
Tax reported in the consolidated income statement 89.2 67

In relation to the previous year. the adjustments in respect of previous periods arose mainly due to a reassessment of delerred tax on
property, plant and equipment.

2022/13 2021722

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income £m Im
Current tax’

Defined benefit pension scheme 0.7
Deferred tax:

Cash flow hedges - 05

Tax on net {loss)/gain on hedge of a net investment 2.1 0.8

Tax on exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 4.0 27)

Defined benefit pension scheme (54.7) 88.0
Tax reported in other comprehensive income (33.5) 86 6

A reconciliation of the tax expenses/{credit) applicable to adjusted profit/(loss) before tax and profit before tax at the statutory tax
rate, to the actual tax expense at the Group's effective tax rate, for the years ended 2 March 2023 and 3 March 2022 respectively is
set out below. All items have been tax effected at the UK statutory rate of 19%. with the exception of the effect of unrecognised
losses in overseas companies, which has been tax effected at the statutory rate in the relevant jurisdictions with an adjustment to
account for the differential tax rates included in the effect of different tax rates.

2022/23 2021722
Tax on 2022/23 Tax on 2021/22
adjusted loss Tax on loss adjusted loss Tax on loss
£m £m £m £m
Profit/(loss) before tax as reported in the consolidated income statement 376.8 338.3 (557) 18.3
Tax at current UK tax rate of 19 00% {2021/22: 19.00%) 71.6 64.3 (106) 35
Effect of different tax rates (7.5} {11.5) {(38) (3 8)
Unrecogmsed losses in overseas companies 19.5 294 L8 11.8
Effect of super deduction in respect of tax relief for fixed assets (4.5) 4.5) (2.7) (2.7)
Expenditure aot allowable 2.4 14 5.5 29
Adjustments to current tax expense in respect of previous years 0.7 0.7 (0.1 0.1}
Adjustments to deferred tax expense m respect of previous years (1.2) (1.2) (162} (162)
Impact of deferred tax m respect of sale and lease transaction (Note 6} - 34 - -
Impact of deferred tax being at a ditferent rate from current tax rate - 9.9 - 131
Other movements (2.7) 2.7 (1.7} (1.8}
Tax expense/{credit} reported in the consolidated income statement 78.3 39.2 (17.8) 67
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10. Taxation {continued)

Deferred tax
The major catcgories of deferred tax assets/{liabilities) recognised by the Group and movements during the current and prior
financial years are as follows:

Rolled over

Accelerated gains and

Capital property
Allowances valuations Pensions Leases Losses Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £im £m
At 23 February 2021 (429 (578) (62 5} 366 794 o2 4710y
{Charge)/credit to consolidated income statement (29 6) (34.7) (154) 12.0 5749 (46} {14.4)
Charge to statement of comprehensive income - - (88.0} - 20 (0.6) (B&.6)
Charge to statement of changes m equity - - - - - (0 3) 0.3
Foreign exchange and other movements - — - — - {23 {2.5)
At 3 March 2022 (72 5} (92 5) (165 9) 186 1393 (78) {150.8)
(Charge)credit to consolidated income statement (14.6) 2.1 (3.2) (3.3) {40.6) 4.9 (60.3)
Charge to statement of comprehensive income - - 54.7 - (2.0) - 52.7
Charge to statement ot changes in equity - - - - - 0.1 0.1
Foreign exchange and other movements - 0.8 - (1.1) - 0.2 {0.1)
At 2 March 2023 (87.1) {93.8) (116.4} 44.2 97.3 (2.6) (158.4)

The Group recognises UK deferred tax assets to the extent that taxable profits will be available to utilise deductible temperary
ditferences of unused tax losses, At 2 March 2023, no UK deferved asset is unrecognised (2022: £nily.

The Group has unrecognised German tax losses of £199.9m (2022: £128.2m) which can be carried forward indefinitely and offset
against future taxable profits in the same tax group. The Group carries out an assessment of the recoverability of these losses for each
reporting period and. to the extent that they exceed deferred tax liabilities within the same tax group, does not deem it is appropriate
at this stage to recognise any deferred tax asset. Recognition of these assets in their entirety would result in an increase in the
reported deferred tax asset of £63.8m (2022: £40.9m).

A1 2 March 2023, no deferred asset is recognised (2022: £nil) on gross temporary differences of £11.1m (2022: £13.9m) rclating to
the accumulated losses of other international subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timings of the reversal of these
temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future,

Tax relief on total interest capitalised amounts to £0.5m (2021/22: £0.2m).

Factors affecting the tax charge for future years

The UK Budget 2021 announcement on 3 March 2021 included an increase to the UK s main corporation tax rate to 25%. eftective
from 1 April 2023. This was substantively enacted in May 2021 and remains the position at the signing of these financial statements.
As such, the Group continues to estimate that all UK deferred tax balances expected to be utilised or crystallise after I April 2023
should be recognised at the rate of 25%.
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202223 2022/23 2021/22 2021/22
Pence per share £m Pence per share £m
Dividends paid during the year - - - -
12. Intangible assets
IT software and
Goodwill technology Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 25 February 2021 3501 1100 460.1
Additions - 211 211
Assets written off - (10.8) {108}
Foreign currency adjustment - 1) 01}
At 3 March 2022 350.1 120.2 470.3
Additions - 36.8 36.8
Assets written oft - (105) {10.5}
Foreign cumrency adjustment 02 0.2
At 2 March 2023 350.1 146.7 496.8
Amortisation and impairment
At 25 February 2021 {239.6) (61.4) (301.0)
Amortisation during the vear - (20.9) (20.9)
Impawrment during the vear - 0.8 10.8
Amortisation or assets written oft - 0.1 0.1
At 3 March 2022 (239.6) (71.4) (311.9)
Amortisation during the year - (16.5) {16.5)
Amortisation on assets writen off - 10.5 10.5
Foreign currency adjustment - (0.2} {0.2}
At 2 March 2023 (239.6) (77.6) {317.2)
Net book value at 2 March 2023 110.5 69.1 179.6
Net boek value at 3 March 2022 1165 48 8 1593

Other than goodwill, there are no intangible assets with indefinite lives. IT software and technology assets have been assessed as
having finite lives and are amortised under the straight-line method over periods ranging from three lo ten years from the date the

asset became tully operational.

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments in relation to intangible assets at the year-end amounted to £7.7m (2022: £7.3m).
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13. Property, plant and equipment and investment property

Total
property,
Land and Plant and plant and Investment
buildings equipment equipment property Total
£m ifm £m £m £m
Cost
At 23 February 2021 3.640.6 1,517.6 5,158.2 21.8 5,180.0
Additions 92.0 128.0 220.0 - 22000
Interest capitalised 0.9 - 0.9 - 0.9
Net movements to assets held for sale in the vear {62.2) {4.5) (66.7) - (66.7)
Disposals (8.9) - (8.8) - (8.8)
Assets written off 4.1 {57.9) {62.00 - (62.0)
Transfers 214 - 214 (21.4) .
Foreign cutrency translation (17.8) {2.5) (20.3) 0.4) (20.7)
At 3 March 2022 3.662.0 1,580.7 5,242,7 - 52427
Additions 295.7 208.4 504.1 - 504.1
Interest capitalised 25 - 2.5 - 25
Net movements from assets held for sale in the year 6.1 3.8 9.9 - 9.9
Dhsposals (7.0) 2.0 (9.0 - 9.0
Assets written off 3.9 (73.7) {77.6) - (77.6)
Asset reclassified from nght-of-use asset 3.3 - 3.3 - 3.3
Foreign currency transiation 30.4 4.5 34.9 - 349
At 2 March 2023 3,982.5 1,721.7 5,704.2 - 5,704.2
) Depreciation and impairment

At 25 February 2024 (287 3) {657 8) (943.0) (0.2 (945 3)
Depreciation charge for the year (22 9} (1350) (137 M - (1579
Net impairment reversal/(charge) (Note 14) 169 {2.4) 145 - 145
Net movements to assets held for sale in the year 73 2.4 o7 - 9.7
Disposals 06 - 06 - 06
Depreciation on assets wntten off 4.1 579 620 - 620
Transfers {0.2) - (0.2) 0.2 -
Fereign currency translation 0.1 0.7 0.8 - 0.8
At 3 March 2022 (281.4) (734.2) (1,015.6) - (1,015.6)
Depteciation charge for the year (23.5) {139.7) (163.2) - (163.2)
Net impairment charge (Note 14) (26.4) {15.5) 419 - (41.9)
Net movements te assets held for sale in the year (6.1) (L) (7.9 - (7.9)
Disposals 22 2.0 4.2 - 42
Depreciation on assets wntten off 39 721 76.0 - 76.9
Foreign currency translation 0.4 (1.2) (1.6) - (1.6)
At 2 March 2023 (331.7) (818.3) (1,150,0) - (1,150,0)
Net book value at 2 March 2023 3.650.8 903.4 4,554.2 - 4,554.2
Net book value at 2 March 2022 33806 846 5 227 1 - 42271

Included above are assets under construction of £426.9m (2022: £260.3m}.

There is a charge in favour of the pension scheme over properties with a market value of £531.5m (2022: £531.5m). See Note 31

for further information.

Amounts relating to right-of-use assets under IFRS 16 are detailed in Note 21.

Investment property

During 2019/20, the Group acquired a freehold site which was leased to a third party and was recorded within investment

property. The Group recognised rental income of £nil (2021/22: £0.2m) within other income and £nil (2021/22: £0.1m) of direct
operating expenses in relation to this property. During 2021/22, the property was transferred to property. plant and equipment as
the lease ended and the Group took over the operations of the hotel.
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13. Property, plant and equipment and investment property (continued)

Capital expenditure commitments

2023 2022
£m £m
Capital expenditure commitments for property, plant and equipment for which no provision has been made 125.4 106 .4

Capitalised interest
Interest capitalised during the year amounted to £2.5m, using an average rate of 2.5% (2021/22: £0.9m, using an average rate of
2.7%).

Assets held for sale

During the vear. eight propetty assets with a combined net book value of £5.2m (2021/22: four at £57.0m) were transferred to assets
held for sale. Seven property assets with a combined net book value of £7.9m were transferred back to property, plant and equipment
{2021/22: no properties). Seven property assets sold during the year had a net book value of £37.5m (2021/22: seven at £1 1.2m}. An
impairment loss of £1.4m (2021/22: £nil) was recognised relating to assets classitied as held for sale. By the year-end. there were
five sites with a combined net book value of £3.2m (2022: eleven at £64.8m)} classified as assets held for sale. There are no gains or
losses recognised in other comprehensive income with respect to these assets. Sites are classified as held for sale only if they are
available for immediate sale in their prescnt condition and a sale is highly probable and expected to be completed within one year
from the date of classification. If the site does not meet these criteria, it is subsequently transierred back to property, plant and
equipment.

Included within assets held for sale are assets which were written down to fair value less costs to sell of £1.5m (2022: £15.4m). The
fair valuc of property assets was determined based on current prices in an active market for similar properties. Where such
information is not available. management considers information from a variety of sources including current prices for properties of a
different nature or recent prices of simiiar properties, adjusted to reflect those differences. This is a level 3 measurement as per the
fair value hierarchy set out in Note 24. The key inputs under this approach are the property size and location.

14. Impairmenl

During the year. net impairment charges of £33.4m (2021/22: net impairment reversals of £36.2m) were recognised within operating
costs. The increase in market interest rates has driven higher discount rates and has increased impairments in the UK and Germany.
Gross impairment charges in the UK of £45.6m, impacted 13 standalone restaurants and those sites where F&B revenues represent a
mare significant proportion of total sales. The WACC increase resulted in further impairment charges of £8.6m which was offset by
impairment reversals of £34.9m as the Group recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic and sites returned to a more normal level of
trading. This resulted in a total net impairment reversal of £0.7m being recorded in the UK. In Germany, the pace of expansion and a
number of portfolio acquisitions where there is a distribution of performance, which when combined with an increase in market
discount rates, has resulted in a £30.8m impairment charge. In addition, impairment charges of £3.3m (2021/22: impairment charges
of £5.8m} have been recorded in relation to assets held for sale during the year. The charges/(reversals) were recognised on the
following classes of assets:

2022/23 2021422
£m £m

Impairment losses
Property, plant and equipment — impairment charges 76.1 10.1
Property, plant and equipment — imparment reversals (35.5) (30.4)
Property, plant and equipment — transfer to assets held Tor sale 1.3 58
B.9 04

Right-of-use assets — impairment charges

Right-of-use assets — impairment reversals (4 el
Assets held for sale T ;
334 36.2)

All of the impairment assessments take account of expected market conditions which include luture risks including climate change
and climate change related legislation.
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14. Impairment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets — impairment review

Where indicators of impairment are identified, an impairment assessment is undertaken. The Group considers each trading site to
be a CGU. A trading site will offer a combination of accommedation and food and beverage services. Some trading sites provide
food and beverage services only. In assessing whether an asset has been impaired, the carrying amount of the CGlJ is compared
with its recoverable amoupt. The recoverable amount is the higher of its value in use (VIU) and its fair value less costs of disposal
(FVLCD).

The Group calculates a VIL! for each site. Where the VIU is lower than the carrving value of the CGU, the Group uses a range of
mcthods for estimating the FVL.CD. These include applying a market multiple to the CGU EBITDAR and. for leasehold sites,
present value techniques using a discounted cash flow method. Both FVLCD methods rely on inputs not normally observable by
market participants and are therefore level 3 measurements in the fair value hierarchy.

The key assumptions used by management in estimating value in use were:

Discount rates

The discount rate is based on the Weighted Average Cost of Capital {(WACC) of a typical market participant, taking into account
specific country and currency risks associated with the Group. The discount rate has increased. reflecting market volatility in the
spot risk-free rate and equity risk premium inputs used in the Group’s WACC caleulation.

2022/23 2021/22
UK Germany UK Germany
Average pre-tax discount caee 11.1% 9.9% 8.7% 7.3%
Average post-tax discount rate 3.9% 7.5% 7.0% 5.6%

Approved budget period
Forecast cash Hows for the initial five-vear period are based on actual cash flows for FY23 and applying management’s
assumptions of the performance of the Group over the next five years.

The key assumptions used by management in setiing the Board approved financial budgets for the initial five-year period were as
follows:

» Forecast period cash flows: The initial five-vear perjod’s cash flows are drawn from the five-year business plan,
which is based on results from FY23.

Forecast growth rates: Forecast growth rates are based on the Group business plan. which includes assumptions
around the UK and German economies over the next tive years.

Operating profits are forecast based on historical experience of operating margins, adjusted for the impact of
inflation and cost-saving initiatives.

Local factors impacting the site in the current year or expected to impact the site in future years. Key assumptions include
the maturity profile of individual sites, the future potential of immature sites and the impact of increasing or reducing
market supply in the local area.

Long-term growth rates

A long-term growth rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) was used for cash flows subsequent to the five-year approved budget/plan period.
This long-term growth rate is a conservative rate and is considered 10 be lower than the long-term historical growth rates of the
underlying territories in which the CGUs operate and the long-term growth rate prospects of the sectors in which the CGUs
operate.

The key assumptions used by management in estimating the FVLCD were:

EBITDAR multiple
An EBITDAR multiple is estimated based on a normalised trading basis and market data obtained from external sources. This
resulted in a multiple in the range of 7 to 11 times.

Discounted cash flows

The key assumptions used by management in estimating the FVLCD on a discounted cash flow method were similar to those
used in the value in use assessment, modified to reflect estimated cost of disposal and lease payments. The inclusion of lease
payments is reflected in the discount rate. increasing WACC for the specific asset class from 11.1% to 12.3% in the UK and

from 9.9% 1o 11.0% in Germany.
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Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The level of impairment is predominantly dependent upon judgements used in arriving at future growth rates and the discount rates
applied to cash flow projections. The impact on the impairment charge of applying a reasonably possible change in assumptions to
the growth rates used in the five-year business plan. long-term growth rates. pre-tax discount rates and EBITDAR multiple would be
an incremental impairment charge/(reversal) in the year to 2 March 2023 of:

Total
£m

Incremental impairment charge/(reversal)
Increase to impairment charge/{reversal) if year one’s cash flows reduced by 10% 20
Increase to Impairment charge/{reversal) :if discount rate increased by 2 0% 145
[ncrease o impairment charge/(reversal) if long-term growth rates reduced by 1% g0
Increase to impairment charge/{reversal) if EBITDAR multple reduced by 10% 14.1
Decrease to impairment charge/(reversal) if year one’s cash flows increased by 10% (29)
Decrease to impairment charge/(reversal) if discount rates decreased by 2% (29.3)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption whilst holding all other assumptions constant. In practice. this
is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.

The impairment sensitivities above show the downside risk from a reasonable possible change in the modelled assumptions and are
in line with disclosure requirements.

Goodwil}
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to groups of CGUs at an operating segment level. being the level at
which management monitors goodwill, All of the Group’s goodwill is allocated to the UK and Ireland segment.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use using the same assumplions as those used in
the site level impairment reviews. The recoverable amount has been determined from value in use calculations. The future cash flows
are based on assumptions from the approved budget and cover a five-year period. These forecasts include management’s most recent
view of medium-term trading prospects, Cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated using a 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) growth rate. The

pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 11.1% for the UK (2022: 8.7%).

As a result of the German goodwill being impaired in previous years and the level of headroom within the UK segment, there is no
reasonably possible change that could result in a further material impairment of goodwill.

Investments in joint ventures

Changes in consumer behaviour following the COVID-19 pandemic continue to have a significant impact on trading and future
forecasts for trading at one of the Group’s joint ventures. Additional loan funding of £1.5m has been provided to Healthy Retail
Limited in the year to 2 March 2023 and subsequently impaired. See Note 15.

Property, plant and equipment — assets held for sale

During the period, eight hotels were transferred to assets held for sale, resulting in an impairment charge of £1.3m (2021/22: four
hotels resulting in an impairment charge of £5.8m). In addition. during 2022/23. an impairment charge of £2.0m (2021/22: £nil) was
recorded in relation to assets which had previously been classified as held for sale as a result of a reduction in expected sales
proceeds.
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15. Investment in joint ventures

Premier Inn Hotels LLC
The Group holds a 49% interest in Premier Inn Hotels LLC. a joint venture which operates Premier Inn branded hotels in the
United Arab Emirates. The investment forms part of the Group's international growth strategy.

Premier Inn Hotels LLC holds a 49% investment in Premier Inn Qatar Limited. During the year. the Group subscribed for share
capital of £nil (2021/22: £1.4m).

Healthy Retail Limited

The Group holds a 49% interest in Healthy Retail Limited. a joint venture which operates a chain of 19 stores in London trading as
‘Pure’. that specialises in fresh. natural healthy meals, Changes in consumer behaviour following the COVID-19 pandemic continue
to have a significant impact on the company s trading and on 7 October 2020 Healthy Retail Limited entered into a Creditor’s
Voluntary Agreement (CVA). Pure has also obtained a Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan Scheme facility from Lloyds which
is in priority to the Group’s security over loans advanced to the joint venture. The Group has impaired its investments and loans
made to llealthy Retail Limited in full, resulting in a charge of £1.5m (2021/22: £1.8m).

The Group has an option to purchase the remaining $1% interest which expires an 30 June 2024, The Group continues to account for
the investment as & joint venture on the basis that the majority shareholders have an equal representation on the investee’s board of
directors. which has control over the relevant activities of the business. and the potential voting rights under the option to purchase
are not considered to be substantive.

Premier Inn Kier Limited
The Group holds a 50% investment in this dormant UK entity.

Movement in investment in joint ventures

2023 2022

£m fm

Opering investment in joint ventures 411 373
Share of profi for the vear 2.3 o4
Foreign exchange movements 4.8 2.0
Loans advanced L5 1.8
Impairment! (1.5) {18
Capital contribution -~ 14
Closing investment in joint ventures 48.2 411

'Ineludes an impairment of loans advanced to joint ventures of £1.5m (2021/22: £1.8m) determined under IFRS 9
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Summary of joint ventures’ balance sheets

2023 2022
Premier Inn  Healthy Retail PremierInn - Healthy Retail
Hotels LLC Limited Total Hotels LLC Limited Tota}
£m £m £m £m fm £m
Current assets 15.6 1.9 17.5 91 20 111
Non-current assels 154.1 16.1 170.2 1412 202 161 4
Current liabilities (16.0) (18.3) (34.3) (10 4) (159 (26 3)
Non-current Liabilities (55.2) (13.2) (68.4) {360) {16.1) (72.1)
Net assets 98.5 (13.5) 85,0 8390 (9 8) 741
Group's share of interest in joint ventures’ net assets 48.2 (6.6) 41.6 411 49 36.2
Eremium patd on acquisition - 4.5 4.5 - 45 43
Loans to joint ventures - 9.0 9.0 - 75 75
Accumulated impairment - (6.9) (6.9) - (7.0 (7.1)
Group’s carrying amount of the investment 48.2 - 48.2 411 - 41.1
Within gross balance sheets:
Cash and cash equivalents 12.5 0.9 13.4 69 1.6 85
Current financial liabilities (7.5) (14.9} (22.4} (4.6) (13.1} (i7.7)
Non-current financial habilities (585.2) (13.2) (68.4) (360 (16.1) {72.1)
Summary of joint ventures’ income statement
2023 2022
Premier Tnn Healthy Retail Premier Inn Healthy Retail
Hotels LLC Limited Total Hotels [L1.C Lumited Total
£m £m £m £m £m £fm

Revenue 28.6 20.9 49.5 182 118 30.0
Other income - - - - 03 073
Depreciation and amortisation 4.8) (4.8} {9.6) 46} (42) [t.X:2]
Other operating costs (16.2) {19.0) (35.2) (109 (10 3) 21.4)
Finance costs 2.9) (1.5} {4.4) 20 (1.3 (33
Profit/{loss) before $ax 4.7 (4.4) 0.3 07 (3N (3.2)
Income tax - - - - - -
Profit/(loss) after tax 4.7 {4.4) 0.3 o7 (3.9 {3.2)
Group share:
Profit after tax' 23 - 23 0.4 - 0.4

! The Group share of loss after tax of Healthy Retail Limited has becn recognised only to the extent that its share of losses equals its interest in the joint venture.

following the impairment recorded during the prior year.

At 2 March 2023, the Group’s share of the capital commitments of its joint ventures amounted to £0.1m (2022: £0.1m).
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i6. Inventories

2023 2022
£m £m
Finished goods held for resale 15.5 150
Consumables 6.2 4.4
21.7 194
The carrying value of inventories is stated net of a provision of £3.2m (2022: £2.5m).
17. Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
£m £m
Trade receivables 46.0 455
Prepayments and accrued income 49.8 242
Other receivables 46.0 46.7
141.8 il6 4

Trade and other reccivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. Trade receivables includes £45.1m (2022:
£44.2m) relating to contracts with customers.

The allowance for expected credit loss relating to trade and other receivables at 2 March 2023 was £1.7m (2022: £2.0m). During the
year, credit losses of £1.2m (2021/22: £2.7m) were recognised within operating costs in the consolidated income statement.

18. Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 60.2 435
Money market funds 769.6 7573
Short term deposits 3330 331.6
1,164.8 1.132.4

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group. They earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

The Group does not have material cash balances which are subject to contractual or regulatory restrictions.
For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the amounts as disclosed above.

19. Borrowings

Amounts drawn down on the Group”s borrowing facilities are as follows:

Current Non-current
2023 2022 2023 022
£m £m £m £m
Revolving credit facifity - - - N
Senior unsecured bonds - - 993.4 991 9
- - 993.4 9919

Revolving credit facility and covenant

The revolving credit facility. which at 3 March 2022 was £850.0m, was replaced on 25 May 2022 with a new [ive-year £775.0m
multi-currency revolving credit facility agreement. The new revolving credit facility agreement contains one financial covenant ratio.
being net debt/adjusted EBITDA <3.5x.

At 2 March 2023, the Group had available £775.0m (2022: £850.0m) of undrawn committed borrowing facilitics in respect of
revolving credit facilities on which all conditions precedent had been met.
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19. Borrowings {continued)
Senior unsecured bonds

The Group has issued senior unsecured bonds with coupons and maturities as shown in the following table:

Title Year issued Principal value Maturity Coupon

2025 senior unsecured bonds 2015 £450.0m 16 October 2025 3375%
2027 sentor unsecyred green use of proceeds bond 2021 £300 0m 31 May 2027 2375%
2031 senior unsecured green use of proceeds bond 2021 £250 0m 31 May 2031 3 000%

Amortised arrangement fees of £2.6m (2022:

embedded derivative.

20. Movements in cash and net debt

£3.4m) incurred in relation to the bonds are included in the carrving value and are
being amortised over the term of the bonds. The bonds contain an carly prepayment option which meets the definition of an

Fair value Amortisation of
3 March Net new lease Foreign adjustments  premiums and 2 March
2022 Cashflow liabilities exchange to loans discounts 2023
Year ended 2 March 2023 £m £m £m £m im £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 1,132.4 30.5 - 1.9 - - 1,164.8
Liabilities from financing activities:
Borrowings {991.9) - - - - (1.5) (993.4)
Lease liabilities (3,701.8) 133.9 (3d6.1) (44.4) - - (3,958.4)
Total liabilities from financing (+,693.7) 133.9 (346.1) (44.4) - (1.5) (4,951.8)
activities
Less: lease labilities 3,701.8 (133.9) 346.1 44.4 - - 3,958.4
Net cash 1405 30,5 - 1.9 - (1.5) 171.4
Fair value Amortisation of
25 February Net new lease Foreign adjustments premiums and 3 March
2021 Cash flow liabilities exchange to loans discounts 2022
Year ended 3 March 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 12360 (123.0) - (0.6} - - 1,132.4
Liabilities from financing activities:
Bommowings (1,302 3) 3039 - B - (1.4} (991 9}
Lease liabilities (3,231 6) 127.1 619 4) 2211 - - (3,701.8)
Derivatives held to hedge 58 - - - (5 8} - -
financing activities
Totai liabilities from financing {4,528.3) 4310 (6194} 30.2 (5.8) (1.4} (4,693 7)
activities
Less lease liabilities 32316 (127.1) 6194 (22.1) - - 3,701.8
Less' derivatives held to hedge financing (58) - - - 58 - -
agtivities
Net (debt)/cash (46.5) 1809 - 73 - (t.4) 1405
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21. Lease arrangements

The Group leases various buildings which are used within the Premier Inn business. Ihe leascs are non-cancellable leases with
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. and include variabte payments that are not fixed in amount but based upon a
percentage of sales. The Group also leases various plant and equipment under non-cancellable lcase agreements.

w An analysis of the Group’s right-of-usc asset and lease lability is as follows:

Right-of-use asset

Total right-of-use Investment
FProperty Other asvets properiy! Total
£m £m £ £m £m
At 25 February 2021} 27367 17 27384 650 2,803 4
Additions 6129 08 613.7 - 6137
Net Impairment reversal (Note 14) 217 - 217 - 217
Fareign currency translation {22.9) - (229) - (229)
Depreciation (144 ) (11) {1431y (3.0} (L48. )
Terminations {02y - {02) - 02)
Transfers 62.0 - 620 (62.0) -
; At 3 March 2022 3.266.2 1.4 3.267.6 - 3.267.6
‘[ Additions 368.8 1.2 370.0 - 370.0
i Net Impairment reversal {Note 14) 10.5 - 10.5 - 10.5
| Foreign currency translation 45.4 - 45.4 - 45.4
Depreciation (164.8) (1.0} {165.8) - (165.8)
Terminations (1.2) - (1.2) - (1.2)
Reclassification to property, plant and equipment® (21.9) - (21.9) - (21.9)
At 2 March 2023 3,503.0 1.6 3,504.6 - 3,504.6

Lease liability

Total lease Investment
Property Other liabilities property’ Total
£m £m £mn £m £m
At 25 February 2021 31642 1.4 3,165.0 66.0 3,231 0
Additions ¢l18.8 08 619.6 - 6196
Interest 1320 0.1 1321 1.1 1332
Foreign currency translation (22 1) - (22 1) - (22 1)
Payments (255.9) (0 8) (256 7) (3.6) (260 3)
Terminations (0.2) - 0.2) - (02)
Transfers 635 - 63.5 63.5) -
At3 March 2022 3,700.3 1.5 3,701.8 - 3,701.8
Additions 371.6 1.2 372.8 - 3728
Interest 138.7 - 138.7 - 138.7
Foreign currency translation 444 - 444 - 44.4
Payments (271.3) (1.3) {272.6) - (272.6)
Terminattons (1.5) - {1.5) - (1.5)
! Reclassification te property. plant and equipment® (25.2) - {25.2) - (25.2}
At 2 March 2023 3,957.0 14 3,958.4 - 3,958 4

1 During 2020/21, the Group acquired a leaschold site which was sub-leased to a third party and recorded within investment property. During 2021/22, the property
was transferred to right-of-use assets for property, plant and equipment as the sub-iease ended and the Group took over the operations of the hotel

2 During the year. the Group acquired a property over which it had previously held a leasehold interest
‘ During the year, the Greup had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of £292.0m (2021/22: £583.3m)
| relating to new leases and £80.8m (2021/22: £34.3m) relating to amendments to existing leases. The Group recognised net
lease incentives of £2.8m (2021/22: £2.0m) on entering new and amended leases.

A maturity analysis ot gross lease liability payments is included within Note 23.

65



Whitbread Group PLC

Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

21. Lease arrangements (continued)
Amounts recognised in the Group income statement

2022/23 2021422

£m £m

Depreciation expense of right-of-use asscts 165.8 148 t
[nterest expense on lease liabilities 138.7 1332
Expense relating to low-value assets and short-term leases - -
Varrable lease payment expenses z1 0.3
Impairment reversals of ight-of-use assets {Note 14) (10.5) (21.7y
Lease mcome 3.1 (79}
2930 2320

Amounts recognised in the Group cash flow statement
The Group’s totat cash outflow in relation to leases was £277.4m (2021/22: £260.6m).

Future possible cash outflows not included in the lease liability
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. Set out below are the undiscounted future rental
payments relating to periods following the exercise date of extension and termination options that are not included in the lease liability.

2022/23 2021/22

£m £m

Extension aptions expected not 1o be exercised 1,246.4 906 &
Termination options expected 10 be cxercised - -
1,246.4 906.6

The Group uses judgement in determining whether termination and extension option periods will be included within the lease term. The
Group assumes that. unless a decision has been made to exit a lease, termination options will not be exercised as a result of historic
practices within the Group. At the outset of a lease, the Group assumes that it will not exercise extension options. Due to the length of
the Group’s leases. there is generally insufficient evidence that exercising an extension option is certain.

Future increases or decreases in rentals linked to an index or rate are not included in the lease liability until the change in cash flows
lakes effect. Approximately 76% of the Group’s lease liabilities are subject to inflation-linked rentals (with 76% of these leases
containing caps) and a further 10% which are subject to rent reviews. Rental changes linked to inflation or rent reviews typically
ocecur on an annual or five-yearly basis.

As at 2 March 2023, the Group was commitied to leases with future cash outflows totalling £1,799.7m (2022: £2,106.7m) which had not
yet commenced and as such are not accounted for as a liability. A Hability and corresponding right-of-use asset will be recognised for
thesc lcases at the lease commencement date.

The Group as a lessor

The Group acts as a lessor in relation to a number of non-trading legacy sites and in subletting space within trading sites. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was £2.4m (2021/22: £7.9m). Futurc minimum rentals receivable under non-
cancellable operating feases at the vear-end are as follows:

202223 2021/22

£m £fm

Within one vear 2.4 29
After one year but not more than five years 6.0 52
More than five years 8.3 6.4
16.7 14.5
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22. Provisions

Onerous Property Insurance  Government
Restructuring contracts cosls Claims Payments Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 25 February 2021 ii 101 157 72 36 18 365
Created 04 09 - 30 11.8 - 161
Uitilised (0 8) 3.3 G 1) (20) (3.8} - (21.0
Released (0 3) [(thra] - - (2.3 - 33
At 3 March 2022 0.4 5.0 6.6 8.2 %.3 1.8 31.3
Created - 2.0 - 23 - 0.8 5.6
Transferred - - - - 2.3 - 23
Utilised - (1.4) (1.0) (2.3} {0.1) (0.1) “+4.9)
Released (0.4) 0.9 - - {4.7) - (6.0)
Foreign exchange - - - - 0.2 - 0.2
At 2 March 2023 - 4.7 56 3.7 7.0 25 28.5
Analvsed as.
Current - 4.7 5.6 0.4 7.0 25 20.2
Non-current - - - 3.3 - - 8.3
At 2 March 2023 - 4.7 5.6 8.7 7.0 2.5 28.5
Analysed as
Current 0.4 25 52 04 93 18 196
Non-current - 5 14 78 - - 1z
At 2 March 2022 04d 50 6.6 82 G3 18 313

Restructuring
A provision of £0.4m was brought forward in relation to the restructure of the Group’s Support Centre and site opcrations.
During the year, the Group released the remaining prevision to the income statement.

Onerous contracts

Onerous centract provisions relate primarily to property, software licences and supplier contracts where the contracts havebecome
onerous. Provision is made for property-related costs for the period that a sublet or assignment of the lease is

not possible.

Onerous contract provisions are discounted using a discount rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) based on an approximation for the time value
of money.

Property-related

The amount and timing of the cash outflows are subject to variation. The Group utilises the skills and expertise of both internal and
external property experts to determine the provision held. Provisions are expected to be utilised over a period of up to 12 years and
£0.2m has been utilised in the year.

Software

Certain software licence agreements were deemed to be onerous when, following the disposal of Costa, it was no longer beneficial to
the Group to use the software. In addition. a provision was created in FY20 as a result of the cancellation of a contract relating to the
supply of IT equipment. A provision of £0.8m was brought forward in relation to these contracts. During the year, the Group utilised
£0.3m (2022: £0.4m) of this provision, with the provision carried forward to be utilised over a two-year period. The software
intangible assets associated with these contracts have been fully impaired in previous financial years.

Supplier contracts

Certain supplier contract arrangements were deemed to be onerous where. as a result of the reduced trading brought on by the COVID-
19 pandemic restrictions. minimum order commitments were not going to be met. A provision of £1.1m was brought forward in
relation to these contracts. During the year, the Group utilised £0.9m of the provision and created a further £0.2m of provision.
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Property costs
From FY 18 to FY20, the Group established a provision for the performance of remedial works on cladding material at a smail
number of the Group’s sites. As a result, a provision of £6.6m is brought {orward in relation to these costs. During the year, £1.0m of
the provision has been utilised. All of the remaining provision is expected to be utilised within one year.

Insurance

A provision of £8.2m was brought forward in relation to the estimate of the cost of future claims against the Group from employees
and the public, The ¢laims covered typically relate to accidents and injuries sustained in Whitbread's sites. During the year. further
pros isiony of £2.8m were created and £2.3m of the provision was utilised.

Government payments

The Group has made various claims for Government support which are subject to review by the relevant agencies. The provision
recognisced represented the Group’s best estimate of amounts potentially repayable under previously submiited claims. and for
potential historical indirect tax repayments. A provision of £9.3m was brought forward in relation to these claims. During the vear,
on confirmation of receipt tor grants recognised in the previous financial year for costs related to that year the accrued provision
against the other receivable of £2.3m was transterred into provisions. £0.1m of the provision was utilised with £4.7m of the provision
released. Due to the complex nature and fast pace of changes in the rules around certain Government payments. the Group has
always endeavoured to apply and adhere to the rules in place. [n certain areas where a rule interpretation was required, the Group has
claimed in accordance with its assumptions. Subsequent third-party review had highlighted that an alternative assumption could be
formed and, on the basis of a probable outflow, a provision based on that approach has been made. As disclosed within Note 9,
during the year, a provision being held in relation to any potential repayments required in respect of the interpretations and
assumptions made by Whitbread for UK Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme claims was released as management is satisfied that no
repayments are required following an HMRC review.

Other

In July 2016, the Group announced its intention to exit hotel operations in South East Asia. This resulted in the recognition

of a provision of £3.7m for risks arising from tax affairs and indemnity agreements. At 2 March 2023, £0.1m of the provision
had been utilised in the year, with £1.7m of the provision still held for risks arising from indemnity agreements. The remaining
costs are expected to be utilised within one year.

The Group operates leases where it neither anticipates nor intends exiting a lcase, therefore the Group has determined
that the circumstances in which these leases would end mean that an outflow of resources is not considered probable and
therefore it does not hold a material dilapidations provision.

23. Financial risk management and objectives

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans, senior unsecured bonds. cash. short-term
deposits, trade recetvables and trade payables. The Group’s financial instrument policies can be found in the accounting policies in
Note 2. The Board agrees policies for managing the financial risks summarised below:

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long-term debt obligations. Interest
rate swaps are used where necessary to maintain a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings to manage this risk. in line with the
Group treasury policy. At the year-end, { 100%) of Group debt was fixed for an average of 4.5 years at an average interest rate of
3.0% (2022: £991.9m {100%) for 5.5 years at 3.0%). The interest rate swaps for sterling expired in February 2022.

In accordance with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, the Group has undertaken sensitivity analysis on its financial
instruments which are affected by changes in interest rates. This analysis has been prepared on the basis of'a constant amount of
net debt. a constant ratio of fixed to floating interest rates. and on the basis of the hedging instruments in place at 2 March 2023
and 3 March 2022 respectively. Consequently, the analysis relates 1o the situation at those dates and is not representative of the
vears then ended. The following assumptions were made:

* balance sheet sensitivity to interest rates applies only to derivative financial instruments, as the carrying value of debt
anddeposits does not change as interest rates move; and

+ gains or losses are recognised in equity or the consolidated income statement in line with the Groups accounting policies.

Based on the Group’s net debt/cash position at the year-end, a 1% pt change in interest rates would affect the Group’s profit
beforetax by £11.6m {2021/22: £11.3m).
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Liquidity risk
In its funding strategy. the Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between the continuity of funding and flexibility through
access to a revolving credit facility. additional uncommitted credit lines and the bond market. This strategy includes monitoring the
maturity of its {inancial liabilities to avoid the risk of a shortage of funds.

Excess cash used in managing liquidity is placed on interest-bearing deposit where maturity is fixed at no more than three months.
Short-term flexibility is achieved through the use of shori-term borrowing on the money markets.

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group's financial labilities at 2 March 2023 and 3 March 2022 based on
contractual undiscounted pavments, including interest:

Lessthan 3 3o 12 More than Carrying
On demand months months  1toS years 5 years Total value
2 March 2023 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial assets/liabilities:
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings - 14.6 15.2 8243 294.6 1,148.7 9934
Lease liabilities' - 70.9 217.6 862.1 5,437.3 6,587.9 3,958.4
Trade and other payables 1,175.4 198.9 - 3.8 - 1,378.1 1,378.1
1.175.4 284.4 232.8 1,690.2 5,731.9 9,114.7 6,329.9
Derivative financial assets/liabilities:
Cross-currency swaps
Derivative contracts — receipts _ - (15.2) (480.4) - (495.6)
Derivative contracts — paymetits - - 98 481,7 - 491.5
- - (5.4) 1.3 - .1
Total 1,175.4 284.4 227.4 1,691.5 5,73L.9 93,1106
Less than 3 3te 12 More than Carrying
On demand months months | to 5 vears 5 vears Total value
3 March 2022 £m fm fm £m £m £m £m
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings - 190 152 3541 594 6 1,1829 991 9
Lease liabilities' - 673 2065 1.1165 49183 63086 37018
Trade and other payables 1,295 0 163 6 12.4 12 - 1,472 2 1,471 9
1,295 0 2499 2341 16718 55129 8,963 7 6,156.6
Derivative financial assets/liabilities:
Cross-currency swaps
Derivative contracts — receipts - _ (15.2) (495 &) - (310.8)
Derivative contracts — payments - - 9t 4591 - 4682
- - (6.1) (36.5) - (42.6)
Total 1,2850 2499 2280 1.635.3 55129 8921.1

! Contractual undiscounted payments relating 1o lease liabilwics due 1n mose than S years includes £1.401 2ny (2022: £1.324 Sm) due between 5 and 10 years. £2,271 lm
(2022 £1,925 3m) due between 10 and 20 years and £1,765.0m (2022: £1,668.5m) due 1n more than 20 years

Credit risk

Due to the high level of cash held at the year-end, the most significant credit risk faced by the Group is that arising on cash and
cash equivalents. The Group's exposure arises from default of the counterparty, with a maxumum exposure equal to the carrying
value of these instruments. The Group seeks to minimise the risk of default in relation to cash and cash equivalents by spreading
investments across a number of counterparties and dealing in accordance with Group treasury policy which specifies acceptable
credit ratings and maximum investments for any counterparty.

In the event that any of the Group’s banks get into financial difficulty, the Group is exposed to the risk of withdrawal ot currently
undrawn committed facilitics. This risk is mitigated by the Group having a range ot counterparties to its facilities.

The Group is exposed to a small amount of credit risk artributable to its trade and other receivables. This is minimised by dealing with
counterparties with good credit ratings. The amounts included in the balance sheet are net of expected credit losses. which have been
estimated by management based on prior experience and any known factors at the balance sheet date.

The Group's maximum exposure 1o credit risk arising from trade and other receivables, lcans to joint ventures, derivatives and
cash and cash equivalents is £1,256.7m (2022: £1.240.4m).

Foreign currency risk

The Group monitors the growth and risks associated with its overseas operations and will undertake hedging activities as and
when they are required. In October 2019. the Group entered into a net investment hedge to manage the impact of movements in
the GBP:EUR exchange rate on the value of the Group's investment in its business in Germany. See Note 24 for more details.
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23. Financial risk management and objectives (continued)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective in regard to capital management is to ensure that it continues to operate as a going concern and has
sufficient funds at its disposal to grow the business {or the benefit of shareholders. The Group seeks to maintain a ratio of debt to
equity that balances risks and returns and also complies with lending covenants. See finance review within the preliminary results
announcement of Whitbread PLC for the policics and objectives of the Board regarding capital management, analysis ol the
Group’s credit facilities and financing plans for the coming years.

The Group aims 1o maintain sufficient funds for working capital and futmre investment in order 10 meet growth targets. The management
of equity through share buybacks and new issues is considered as part of the overall leverage framework balanced against the funding
requirements of future growth. In addition. the Group may carry out a number of sale and leaseback transactions to provide further
funding for growth.

The revolving credit facility. which at 3 March 2022 was £850.0m. was replaced on 25 May 2022 with a new 5 year £775.0m
multicurrency revolving credit facility agreement. The new revolving credit facility agreement contains one financial covenant ratio.

being: Net Debt/Adjusted EBITIMA <3.5x.

The above matters are considered at regular intervals and form part of the business planning and budgeting processes. In addition,
the Board regularly reviews the Group's dividend policy and funding strategy.
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Amortised cost

Fair value

Financial assets Financial liabilities Hedging instruments Other Carrying value

At 2 March 2023 £m £m £m £m £m
Trade and other receivables 92.6 - - - 2.0
Cash and cash equivalents 395.2 - - 769.6 1.164.8
Interest — bearing leans apd borrowings - (993.4) - - (993.4)
Lease liabilities - (3,958.4) - - (3,958.4)
Derivative financial instruments - - {7.8) - (7.8)
Trade and other payables - (198.9) - - (198.9)
Contingent consideration - - - 3.3) 3.8)

Amortised cost Fair vatue

Financial assets Financial liabilities Hedging instruments Other  Carrying value

At 3 March 2022 £m im £m £m £m
Trade and other recervables 922 - - - 922
Cash and cash equivalents 375.1 - - 7573 1,132.4
Interest — bearing loans and borrewings - (991.9) - - (991 9)
Lease liabilities - (3,701.8) - - (3,701.8)
Derivative financial instruments - - 158 - 158
Trade and other payables - (151 8) - - (151 8)
Contingent consideration - - - (25 1) (25 1)

Fair values

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement requires that the classification of financial instruments at fair value be determined by reference

to the source of inputs used to derive the fair value. The classification uses the following three-level hierarchy:

+ Level | —quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets tor identical assets or liabilities;
= Level 2 - other techniques for which all inputs, which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value. are

observable, either directly or indirectly; and
+ Level 3 — techniques which use inputs, which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value, that are not basedon

observable market data.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis. the Group determines
whether transfers have cccurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost
The carrying value of trade and other receivables. cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables are considered to

be reasonable approximations of thetr tair values largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of the Group’s borrowings is estimated at £879.4m, The fair value of the Group’s borrowings is based on level 1
valuation techniques where there is an active market for the instrument and on level 2 valuation techniques otherwise.
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24. Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

2022/23 2021722
£m £m
Financial assets
Dernvatve financial instruments - level 2 - 158
Financial liabilities
Dernvative financial instruments — level 2 7.8 -
Contingent consideration - level 3 38 251

During the year ended 2 March 2023, there were no transfers between fair value measurement levels. Derivative financial
instruments include £nil assets {2022: £15.8m) and £7.8m liabilities (2022: £nil) due after one year, Deferred and contingent
consideration includes £3.8m (2022: £1.2m) due after one year.

The fair value of derivative instruments classified as level 2 is caleutated by discounting all future cash flows by the relevant
market discount rate at the balance shect date. The fair value of money market funds within cash and cash equivalents classified
as level 1 are calculated by reference to their active market value at 2 March 2023,

The fair value of contingent consideration rclating to acquisitions is classified as level 3. Details of the valuation are included
in Note 25.

Derivative financial instruments

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to commodity risk in the form of power requirements. The Group manages this risk through a combination of fixed
price agreements and hedging. During the year. the Group entered into power commeodity price swaps o fix the price of 20% of forecast
usage within FY235.

Interest rate risk
The Group had interest rate swaps in place which matured in February 2022 at the same point as the repayment of US
denominated debt.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operations

In October 2019. the group entered into cross-currency swaps, whereby it pays an average fixed rate of 2.12% on a notional
amount of €521.0m and receives a fixed rate of 3.375% on a notional amount of £450.0m. These swaps are being used as a net
investment hedge to manage the impact of movements in the GBP:EUR exchange rate on the value of the Group's investment
in its business in Germany. The swaps mature in October 2025 in line with the bonds.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument as the net investment creaies

a translation risk that will match the forcign exchange risk on the cross-currency swaps. The Group has established a hedge

ratio of 1:1 as the underlving risk of the hedging instrument is identical to the hedged risk component. The hedge ineffectiveness
will arise when the amount of the investment in the foreign subsidiary becomes lower than the nominal amount of the swaps.

The net investment hedges were assessed to be highly effective at 2 March 2023 and a net unrealised gain of £24.7m (2022:
gain of £0.0m) has been recorded in the translation reserve. The Group has recorded costs of hedging ot £1.1m (2022: £2.5m)
within finance costs in the consolidated income statcment as a result of the foreign currency basis spread within the hedging
instrument.
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The impact of the hedging instruments and hedged items on the statement of financial position is as follows:

Change in fair

value nsed for Change in
Line item in measuring fair
Notional Carcving statemeat of  ineffectiveness value of
At 2 March 2023 amount amount Financial pesition for the year Hedged item  hedged item
£m £m £m £m
Net investment in foreign operations
} Netinvestment
Derivative financial In foreign
Cross-cuIrency swaps 4500 (6.6} Mstruments (22.2) subsidiaries 222
Cash flow hedges
) ) Highly probable
Derivative financial forecast future  N/A — futare
Power commodity swap 102 (3 instruments (13 POWET usage usage
Change in fair
value used for Change in
Line item in measuring fair
Notional Carryving statement of  ineffectiveness value of
At 3 March 2022 amount t Fi ial positi for the year Hedged item  hedged item
£m £m £m £m
Net investment in foreign operations
o Net investment
Berivative financial n foreign
Cross-currency swaps 450.0 158 instruments 9.9 subsidiares 9.0)

The impact of the hedging instruments in the consolidated income statement and other comprehensive income is as follows:

Amount reclassified

from OC1 to profit

Accumulated value

Total hedging gain/(loss) or Line item in the recognised in cash
recognised in OCI loss consolidated income  flow hedge reserve
£m £m statement £m
2022/23
Power commodity swaps ¢1.3) - N/A — futare usage (1.3)
2021722
Interest rate swaps (0.2) 25 Finance costs -
Cross-CulTency swaps (8.0) 8.1 Finance costs -
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Impact of hedging on equity
Set out below is the recongiliation of each component of equity and the analysis of other comprehensive income:

Cash flow hedge Foreign currency

reserve translation

£m reserve

£m

At 25 February 2021 [T 287
Change in fair valuc recognised in other comprehensive income:

- Tnterest rate swaps 0.2) -

- Lross-currency swaps (8.4) -
Reclassified to profit or loss as hedged 1tem effects profit or loss

- Interest rate swaps 25 -

- Cross-currency swaps 81 -

Foreign exchange arising on consolidation - (16 0)

Fair value movement on dervatives designated as net investment hedges - 97

Deferred tax credit {0.5) 1.9

At 3 March 2022 - 24.3
Change in fair value recognised m other comprehensive income

- Power commodity swap {1.3) -

Foreign exchange arising on consolidation - 37.3

Fair value movement on desivatives designated as net investment hedges - (24.7)

Deferred tax credit - (1.9}

At 2 March 2023 (1.3) 35.0

Cash flow and fair value hedges are expected to impact on the consolidated income statement in line with the liquidity risk table
shown in Note 23. There have been no amounts reclassitied to profit or loss as a result of the hedged cash flow no longer being
expected to occur. The foreign currency translation reserve includes an accumulated loss of £10.5m (2022: gain of £14.2m) relating

to derivatives designated as net investment hedges.

25. Trade and other payables

2023 2022
£m £m
Trade payablcs 98,2 737
Other taxes and social security 40.2 258
Contract liabilitics 197.8 140.2
Accruals 239.8 2230
Amounts due to parent undertaking £,175.4 1,295.2
Other payables 103.7 78.1
Deferred and contingent consideration 3.8 25.1
1,855.9 1,867 .1

Analysed as
Current 1,852.1 1.865.9
Non-current 3.8 12
1,855.9 1.867 1

Inciuded within contract liabilities is £193.8m (2022: £141.4m) relating to customer payments received for accommodation where
the stay will take place after the vear-end and £4.0m (2022: £4.8m) revenue deferred relating to the Group’s customer loyalty
programmes. During the year, £146.2m presented as a contract liability in 2022 has been recognised in revenue (2022: £41.3m).

Trade payables typically have maturities up to 60 days depending on the nature of the purchase transaction and the agreed terms.
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25, Trade and other payables (Continued)

Deferred and contingent consideration

2023 2022

£m £m

Opening deferred and contingent consideration 251 62.8
Recognised on acquisition of assets 2.5 -
Unwinding of discount 0.2 1.4
Paid during the vear (25.3) 36.3)
Foreign exchange movements 1.3 (2 8)
Closing deferred and contingent consideration 38 251

The Group has contingent consideration in relation to tour pipeline sites from acquisitions in the current and previous yvears
which is held at fair value. The amounts payable are fixed and become payable once development of the site is complete and
the site has been handed over to the Group. which is expected to occur within two years. The fair value is calculated by
discounting the future payments from their expected handover date using a risk adjusted discount rate. A 1% decrease/increase
in the discount rate would increase/decrease the value of contingent consideration by £0.1m.

Foreign exchange movements on contingent consideration are recognised within exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

26. Share capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid

2023 2022
£m £m
“A” Ordinary shares of 235 pence each (2022, 25 pence each) 11.0 11.0
Ordinary shares of 23 pence each (2022 25 pence each) 122.7 1227
133.7 1337
2023 2022
Million Miition
Number of “A” ordinary shares i 13sue 44.0 44,9
Number or ordinary shares in issue 490.6 450 6
Total shares in issue 534.6 3346

The "A" shares have the same rights and rank equally with the ordinary shares. save that:
i. a holder of "A" shares shall, on return of assets. whether on a winding-up or otherwise, be entitled to participate
proportionately in the surplus assets of the Company remaining after the payment of its liabilities
il. a holder of "A" shares has no right as such to receive notice of or attend or vote at any general meeting of theCompany
unless a reselution to vary or abrogate the rights attaching to such shares as proposed; and
iil. a holder of "A" shares is not entitled to any dividend or any other distribution {¢xcept as provided for in (i) above).
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27. Reserves
Share capital
Share capital comprises the nominal value of the Company's ordinary shares of 25 pence cach.

Share premium
The share premium reserve is the premium paid on the Company's 25 pence ordinary shares.

Retained earnings
In accordance with [FRS practice. retained earnings inclnde revaliation regerves which arose on transition to IMRS.

Currency translation reserve

The toreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differcnees arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries. other foreign currency investments and exchange differences on derivative instruments that
provide a hedge against net investments in foreign operations.

Hedging reserve
This reserve records movements for effective cash flow hedges measured at fair value.

28. Analysis of cash flows given in the cash flow statement

2022/23 2021/22
£m £m
Profit for the period 249.1 116
Adjustments tor
Tax expense 89.2 67
Net finance costs (Note 8) 168.2 2105
Share of profit from joint ventures (2.3) (0.4}
Depreciation and amortisation 3455 326.9
Share-based payments 17.7 129
Impairment write offs/(reversals) (Note 14} 34.9 (34.4)
Gains on disposals, propertly and other provisions (4.0} (28.8)
Other non-cash items 0.6 77
Cash generated from operations before working capital changes 898.9 512.7
Increase in inventornes 2.5 {7.3)
Increase in trade and other receivables (10.9) (43.4)
Increase in trade and other payables 112.1 2352
Cash generated from operations 997.8 6952

Other non-cash items include an outflow of £0.4m representing bad debt charges (2021/22: £0.8m inflow), an outflow of £0.7m (2021/22:
£4.3m inflow) as a result of net provision movements, an inflow of £3.6m (2021/22: £2.6m inflow) representing non-cash pension scheme
administration costs and an outflow of £2.1m (2021/22: £nil} from foreign exchange gains.
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29, Contingent liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities to be disclosed in the year ended 2 March 2023 (2022: none),

Subsidiary audit exemptions

The following UK subsidiary undertakings are exempt trom the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act) relating to the
audit of individual accounts by virtue of section 479A of the Act.

*  Premier Inn (UK} Ltd, 10206037

= Premier Inn Ochre Limited, 08143826

= Whitbread Hotel Company Limited, 00224163

* Premier Inn Manchester Trafford Ltd, 03876877
* Premier Inn Westminster Ltd, 01999669

« Elm Hotel Holdings Limited, 04429036

«  Whitbread East Pennines Ltd, 00017030

+ St Andrews Homes Ltd, 00359470

« T.F. Ashe & Nephew Lid. 00459284

* Premier Travel Inn India Lid. 06190435

+  Premier Inn International Development Limited. 09190207
= Whitbread West Pennines Ltd, 00026091

*  Whitbread Properties Ltd, 00048574

*  Brickwoods Ltd. 00035113

= Duttons Brewery Ltd. 00054931

= Swift Hotels Ltd, 00050371

«  Siltk Street Hotels Ltd, 01033592

* Premier inn Glasgow Lid, 04541995

+ Premier Inn Manchester Airport Ltd, 05861673
« London Hotel Holdings Ltd. 14261871

Whitbread Group PL.C will guarantee all outstanding liabilities that these subsidiaries are subject to as at the financial year ended
2 March 2023 in accordance with section 479C of the Act, as amended by the Companies and Limited Liability Partnerships
(Accounts and Audit Exemptions and Change of Accounting Framework) Regulations 2012. In addition, Whitbread Group PLC
will guarantee any contingent and prospective liabilities that these subsidiaries are subject to.
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30. Share based payment pians

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

‘The LTIP awards were made to directors and senior executives of the Group prior to the adoption of the Restricted Share Plan.
Vesting of share awards under the scheme is dependent on coitinued employment and meeting performance targets over a three-vear
vesting period. The awards are settled in equity once exercised. As with all other plans, the shares discussed here relate to those of
the ultimate parent undertaking, Whithread PLC.

Deferred equity awards

Share awards are made under the Whitbread Directors Incentive Scheme implemented during 2004/05. The awards are not subject to
performance conditions and will vest in full on the release date subject to continued employment at that date. It the director or senior
executive of the Group ceases 1o be an employee of Whitbread prior to the release date. normally three years after the award, by
reason of redundancy, retirerent. death. injury. ill health. disability or some other reason considered to be a permitted reason by the
Remuneration Committee, the awards will be released in full. 1f employment ceases for any other reason, the proportion of awards
which vest depends upon the vear in which the award was made and the date that employment ceased. [ employment ceases in the
{irst year after an award is made. none of the award vests; between the first and second anniversary, 25% vests; and between the
second and third anniversary. 50% vests. The awards are settled in equity once exercised. As with all other plans, the shares
discussed here relate to those of the ultimate parent undertaking. Whitbread PLC.

R&R Scheme

The R&R Scheme enables Whitbread to make share awards periodically on a flexible basis. There are typically no performance conditions
but these can be imposed by Whitbread at time of grant. The awards issued are subject to being in employment at date of vesting with no
performance conditions. If employment at Whitbread ceases prior to the vesting date by reason of resignation or terminated for cause. all
unvested shares will lapse. [ employment ceases for any other reason. any vesting will be at the discretion of the CEQ and, if granted, will
be on a pro-rated basis to the leaving date. The awards are settled in equity once exercised. As with all other plans. the shares discussed
here relate to those of the ultimate parent undertaking, Whitbread PLC.

Restricted Share Plan

At the general meeting hield on 6 December 2019, it was agreed that the Restricted Share Plan would replace the Long Term
Incentive Plan. Vesting of all shares under the scheme will depend on continued employment and meeting underpin targets over a
period of at [east three years. Details of the underpin targets that apply to RSP awards are included in the remuneration report on
pages 92 to 1135 of Whitbread PLC. After vesting, there is an additional holding period applicable to direciors and serior executives
such that the underpin measurement period and holding period is at least five vears. 1t employment at Whitbread ccases prior to the
vesting date by reason of resignation or terminated for cause, all unvested shares will lapse. [f employment ceases for any other
reason, any vesting will be at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee of Whitbread ple and, it granted, will be on a pro-rated
basis to the leaving date. The awards are settled in equity once exercised. As with all other plans. the shares discussed here relate Lo
those of the ultimate parent undertaking, Whitbread PLC.
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Movements in the number of share awards are as tollows:

Outstanding
at the Granted Exercised Expired  Ouistanding  Exercisable
beginning of during the during the during the at the end of at the end
2 March 2023 the year year year year the year of the year
Long Term Incentive Plan 130,499 - (57,065 (4,457 68,977 68,977
Deferred equity awards 154,341 176.272 (64,917) (1,836) 263,860 -
R&R Scheme 523,455 84.249 (39,020) (29,525) 539,159 -
Restricted share plan 254,875 283,603 (3,186) (58,212) 477,080 -
£,063,170 344,124 (164,188} (94,030} 1,349,076 68,977

Outstanding
atthe Granted Exercised Expired Outstanding ~ Exercisable
beginning of during the during the during the atthe end of at the end
3 March 2022 the vear yeuar vear year the vear of the vear
Long Term Incentive Plan 149,688 - (17,859) {1,330 130,499 129,613
Deferred equity awards 242160 4.345 (79.978) (12,186) 134341 3,698
R&R Scheme 6352 851 12,146 (139.583) (1.959) 323455 9.5386
Restricted share plan 106,687 167,673 - (19.4853) 254875 -
1,131,386 184 164 {237,420 (34,960) 1063.170 143,197

Employee Sharesave scheme

The employee Sharesave scheme is open to all employees and provides for a purchase price equal to the market price on the
day preceding the date of invitation. with a 20% discount. The shares can be purchased over the six-month period following the
third or fifth anniversary of the commencement date, depending on the length chosen by the employee.

The weighted average exercise price { WAEP) of movements in the number of share awards are as foilows:

2022/23 2021422
WAEP £ WAEP £
Options _ per share Options __per share
Qutstanding at the beginming of the year 1,173,108 26.01 1,139,975 2659
Granted during the year 649,795 20.51 414,032 24.86
Exercised during the year (65,199) 27.18 (81,727} 26153
Expired during the year (497,900) 26.19 (295,172) 26.65
Oulstanding at the end of the year 1,259,804 23.01 1,173,108 26.01
Exercisable at the year-end 60,647 27.64 89,941 3066

Outstanding options to purchase ordinary shares of 76.80p between 2023 and 2028 are exercisable at prices between £24.86
and £31.62 per share {2022: between 2022 and 2027 at prices between £25.33 and £31.62). The weighted average share price
at the date of exercise for options exercised during the year was £30.10 {2022: £31.63).

The weighted average contractual life of the share options outstanding as at 2 March 2023 is between two and three vears.
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Whitbread Group PLC

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years ended 2 March 2023 and 3 March 2022:

Eapecied
Exercise Price at Expected dividend Expected Risk-free

price grant date term yield volatility rate Vesting

Grant date £ ) £ Years % % % conditivns

Deferred equity awards 28.04.2022 - 2875 3.00 2.00 N/A N/A Service’
Deferred equity awards 27 04,2021 - 3297 3.00 075 N/A N/A Service'
R&R awards — 2 yvears 28.04.2022 - 2875 2.00 2.00 N/A N/A Service®
R&R awards — 3 vears 28.04.2022 - 2875 3.00 2.00 N/A N/A Service®
Restrcted share plan® 17.01.2023 - 3028 016 - N/a N/A Servige®
Restricted share plan® 17.01.2023 - 30.28 2.66 2.00 N/A N/A Service’
Restricted share plan” 17.01 2023 - 3028 3.66 200 N/A N/A Service’
Restricted share plan’ 17.01.2023 - 30 28 216 2.00 N/A N/A Service’
Restricted share plan® 17.01.2023 - 30.28 324 2.00 N/A N/A Service®
Restricted ghare plan 27.04.2021 - 32.97 300 0.75 N/A N/A Non- market! !
SAYF -3 years 02122022 20 51 26.09 325 2.00 404 338 Service’
SAYE - 3 years 23 122021 24 86 2963 325 21030 450 269 Service®
SAYE — 5 years 02.12.2022 2051 26.09 525 200 40.0 329 Service’
SAYE -5 years 23.12.2021 24 86 29463 23 200 450 .75 Service’

' Return on capital empioyed

* Earnings per share
* Employment service
* Lease adjusted net debt

* Refer to the Annual report on remuneration for Whitbread PLC for further details

The fair value of share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a stochastic model, taking into account the terms and

conditions upon which the options were granted.

Expected volatility reflects the assumption that historical volatility is indicative of future trends. which may not necessarily be the
actual outcome. The risk-free rate is the rate of intcrest obtainable [rom Government securities over the expected life of the equity
incentive. The expected dividend yield is calculated on the basis of publicly available information at the time of the grant date

which, in most cases, is the historic dividend yield. No other features relating to the granting of options were incorporated into the

measurement ot fair value.
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31. Retirement benefits

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a contracted-in defined contribution scheme under the Whitbread Group Pension Fund. Contributions by both
employees and Group companies are held in externally invested. trusiee-administered funds.

The Group contributes a specified percentage of earnings for members of the above defined contribution scheme. and thereafter has
no further obligations in relation to the scheme. The total cost charged to the consolidated income statement in relation o the defined
contribution scheme in the year was £12.8m (2021/22: £11.0m). At the year-end, the Group owed ouistanding contributions of £nil
(2022: £nil) in respect of the defined contribution scheme. At the year-end, 24,284 employees (2022: 23,449) were active members
of the scheme, which also had 58.406 deferred members (2022: 52,303,

Defined benefit scheme

The defined benefit (final salary) section of the principal Group pension scheme, the Whitbread Group Pension Fund, was closed to
new members on 31 December 2001 and to future accrual on 31 December 2009. The Whitbread Group Pension Fund is set up under
UK wust [aw, registered with Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs and regulated by the Pensions Regulator. The Whitbread Group
Pension Fund is governed by a corporate Trustee which operates the scheme in accordancewith the requirements of UK pensions
legislation. At the year-end, the scheme had no active members (2022: nil), 18,241 deferred pensioners (2022: 18,606} and 15,951
pensionsin pavment (2022: 16,089).

The surplus recognised in the conseolidated balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension scheme s the fair value of the plan
assets fess the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period. The 1AS 19 pension cost relating to
the defined benefit section of the Whitbread Group Pension Fund is assessed in accordance with actuarial advice from. and
calculations provided by, Lane Clark & Peacock, using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outtlows using interest rates of high guality corporate bonds that
have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they arise. As the scheme is closed to future accrual, there is no future service cost.

The surplus has been recognised as, under the governing doecumentation of the Whitbread Group Pension Fund. the Group has an
unconditional right to receive a refund, assuming the gradual settlement of the scheme liabilities over time unti] all members and
their dependants have cither died or left the scheme, in accordance with the provisions of IFRIC 14 145 19 — The Limit ona Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction.

The defined benefit scheme entered into a £660.7m buy-in transaction covering 50% of pensioners on 23 June 2022 whereby the
assets of the plan were invested in a bulk purchase annuity pelicy with the insurer, Standard Life, under which the benefits payable to
defined benefit members covered under the policy became fully insured. The difference between the cost of the insurance policy and
the accounting value of the liabilities secured was £68.7m and has been recorded within actuarial losses in the statement of other
comprehensive income.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 13.0 years (2022: 17.0
vears).

Funding

Expected contributions to be made in the next reporting period total £16.4m (2021/22: £14.6m). In 2022/23, contributions were
£14.5m, with £3.6m from the employer. £10.8m from Moorgate Scottish Limited Partnership (SLP) and £0.1m of benefits settled by
the Group in relation to an unfunded scheme (2021/22: £13.0m. with £2.6m from the employer, £10.3m from Moorgate SLP and
£0.Im of benefits settled by the Group in refation to an unfunded scheme). [n addition, Whitbread paid £1.2m (2021/22: £{.8m) of
investment manager expenses.

A scheme specific actuarial valuation for the purpose of determining the level of cash contributions 1o be paid into the Whithread
Group Pension Fund was undertaken as at 31 March 2020 by Towers Watson Ltd using the projected unit credit method. The
valuation showed a surplus of assets relative to technical provisions of £55.0m (31 March 2017 deficit of £450.0m). As a result, no
deficit reduction contributions are due.

As part of the valuation discussion during 2021/22. Whitbread and the Pension Fund Trustee agreed changes to the security package
that supports the Pension Fund. The EBITDA-related covenant was permanently removed and the security that the Trustee holds
aver £300.0m of Whitbread's frechold property increased to £531.3m and will remain at this level until no further obligations arc duc
under the Scottish Partnership arrangements which is expected to be in 2025. Following that, the security held by the Trustee will be
the {ower oft £500.0m: and 120% of the buyout deficit and will remain in place until there is no longer a buyout deficit.
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Investment in Moorgate SLP

The Pension Scheme will receive a share of the income, profits and a variable capital payment from its investment in Moorgate
SLP. which was established by the Group in the year ended 4 March 2010 (the share in profits is accounted for by the Group
as contributions when paid). The partnership interests in Moorgate SLP are held by the Group. the general partner and by the
Pension Scheme.

Moergate SLP holds an investment in a further partnership, Farringdon Scottish Partnership (SP), which was also established
by the Group during 2009/10. Property assets with a market value of £221.0m were transferred trom other Group companies
to Farringdon SP and leased back to Whitbread Group PLC and Premier [nn Hotels Limited. The Group retains control over
these properties. including the flexibility to substitute alternative properties. However. the Trustee has first charge over the
property portfolio and certain other assets with an aggregate value of £228.0m which is included in the charge of £531.5m
above. The Group retains control over both partnerships and. as such, they are tully consolidated in these consolidated
financial statements.

The Pension Scheme is a partner in Moorgate SLP and, as such, is entitled to an annual share of the profits of the partnership
over the next four years. At the end of this period. the partnership capital allocated to the Pension Scheme partner will,
depending on the funding position of the Pension Scheme at that time, be transferred in cash to the Pension Scheme up to

a valae of £150.0m.

Under 1AS 19, the investment held by the Pension Scheme in Moorgate SLP. 4 consolidated entily, does not represent a plan
asset for the purposes of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly. the pension surplus position in these consolidated
financial statements does not reflect the £21.9m (2022: £96.8m) investment in Moorgate SLP held by the Pension Scheme.

Risks
Through its defined benefit scheme, the Group is exposed to a number of risks in relation to the [AS 19 surplus, the most
significant of which are detailed below:

Risk Description Principal impact and
obligation
reconciliations

Market volatility The value of the defined benefit obligation 15 linked to AA-rated corporate bonds Return on plan assets

whilst the scheme invests some of its assets in alternative asset classes (including
those denominated in foreign currencies} These assets include private equities, Actuarial movements in
secure income assets, giits, swaps and cash, This exposes the Group to nisks financial assumptions

including those relating t interest rates. equity markets, foreign exchange and
chimate change As a result, any change in market cenditions which impacts the
value of the scheme’s assets or the nterest rate on AA-rated corporate bonds will
Iead 10 volatility in the Group’s net pension hability on the balance sheet, pension
expense in the income statement and remeasurement of movements in other
comprehensive income There is the potential for heightened market volatility
through a number of different sources. including the economic impact of the
Russia-Ukraine contlict. the policy intervention of central banks in response to
the inflationary environment which could have consequential implications en
interest rates, in addition to wider economic 1mpacts There are also longer term
macroeconomic risks, such as the possible nsk of recession and constraints on
mearket liquidity, which could all adversely aftect the Scheme’s assets.

Inflationary risk Due 1o the link between the scheme obligation and inflation, an increase wn the Actuarial movements in
expected future rate of inflation will lead to higher scheme Habilities, although this | financial assumptions
is mitigated by the Scheme holding inflation-linked assets which aim to match the
increase in liabilities.

Accounting assumptions The defined benefit obligation is calculated by projecting the future cash flows of Discount rate: terest income

the scheme for many vears mio the future. Consequently, the assumptions used on scheme assets and cost

can have a significant impact on the balance sheet position and income statement on liabildies

charge In practice, future scheme experience may not be in line with the

assumptions adopted. For example, an increase in the lite expectancy of members Mortality: actuarial movements
would increase scheme habilities. in demographic assumptions

Actuarial movements in
financial assumptions
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The principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries in updating the most recent valuation carried out as at 31
March 2020 of the UK scheme to 2 March 2023 for 745 /9 Employee Benefits purposes were:

At 2 March 2023 At 3 March 2022

% e

Pre-April 2006 rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.20 340
Post-April 2006 rate of Increase in pensions in payment 2.20 2.30
Pensions increase n deferment 320 340
Discouns rate 5.00 260
Inflation assumption 3.30 3.60

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables which allow for futire mortality improvements. The mortality
improvements assumption has been updated to use the CMI 2021 model (2022: CMI 2020). The CMI 2021 model parameters include
some weighting for 2021 mortality experience. The assumptions are that a member currently aged 65 will live on average for a
further 19.7 years (2022: 20.0 years} if they are male and for a further 22.4 years (2022: 22.6 years} if they are female. For a member
who retires in 2043 at age 65, the assumptions are that they will live on average for a further 20.7 years (2022: 21.1 years) after
retirement if they are male and for a further 23.6 years (2022: 23 .8 ycars) after retirement if they arc female.

During the previous year, the Group changed its methodology for determining the discount rate to include single-AA corporate
bonds.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated incorne statement in respect of the defined benefit scheme are as follows:

2022/23 2021722
£m £m
Net interest on net defined benefit surplus (13.6) {36)
Administrative expenses 36 26
Total income recognised in the consolidated income statement (gross of deferred tax} (10.0) (1.0)
The amounts taken 1o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows:
2022/23 2021/22
£m £m
Actuarial gains (761.5) (218 8)
Return on plan assets lower/(greater) than discount rate 985.1 (100 G}
Re-measurement cffects recogmised in other comprehensive income 223.6 (318.8}
The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:
2023 2022
£m £m
Present value of defined benefit obl:gation (1,723.0) (2,5212)
Fair value of scheme assets 2,047.7 30438
Surplus recognised in the consolidated balance sheet 3247 5226
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2022/23 2021/22
£m £m
Opening defined benefit obligation 25212 2.804 3
Interest cost 64.0 523
Remeasurement due to.
Changes in financial assumptions {735.3) (266 0}
Changes in demographic assumptions (26.2) (33.9)
Experience adjstments - 81.1
Benefits paid (100.6) (116 3)
Benefits settled by the Group in relation to an unfunded pension scheme! (0.1) (0.1)
Closing defined benefit ohligation 1,723.0 25212
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Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets are as follows:

2022/23 2021/22

£m £fm

Qpening fair value of scheme assels 3,0438 29923

Interest income on scheme assets 77.6 559

Retumn on plan assets (lower)/greater than discount rate? (985.1) 1000

Contributions from employer’ kX3 26

Additienal contributions from Manrgate T P 10.8 103

Investment manager expenses paid by the emplover! 1.2 18

Benefits paxd (100.6) {116.5)

Administrative expenses (3.6) (26)

Closing fair value of scheme assets 2,047.7 30438
The major categories of plan assets are as follows:

2023 2022
Quoted and Quoted and

pooled Unquoted Tetal pooled Unquoted Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Equities - - - 764 - 76.4

Altemnative assets 1.1 - 1.1 1430 - 143.0

Bonds - 1.3 1.3 1646 32 167.8

Private markets - 508.4 508.4 - 460 7 4607

Liability driven investments® 990.5 - 990.5 21608 - 2.16G 8

Cash and other* 336 0,2 33.8 3501 - 351

Buy-in insurance - 512.6 512.6 - - -

1,025.2 1,022.5 2,047.7 25799 463 9 30138

' The total of these items equals the cash paid by the Group as per the consolidated cash flow statement *Contributions from employer’ include contributions to cover
administration expenses

2 Includes cost of managing fund assets.

¥ Liatulity driven investments includes UK fixed and index-linked gilts, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, inferest rate and inflation
{RPT)swaps, gilts futures and cash

* Other primarily relates 1o assets held in respect of cash and net current assets.

The assumptions in relation to discount rate, mortalily and inflation have a significant effect on the measurement of scheme liabilities.
The foliowing table shows the sensitivity of the valuation to changes in these assumptions:

Decrease/(increase) in liability

2023 2022
£m £m

Discount rate
2 00% increase to discount rate 357.0
2 00% decrease to discount rate (548.0)
1.00% increase to discount rate 359.0
1.00% decrease to discount rate (458.0)
Inflatien
0.25% increase to inflation rate (39.0) (73.0)
0 25% decrease to inflation rate 38.0 720
Life expectancy
Additional one-year Increase to life expectancy {71.3) (126.0)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption whilst holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is
unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. Where the discount rate is changed. this will have an
impact on the valuation of scheme assets in the opposing direction. The above sensitivities table shows only the expected changes to the
gross defined benefit obligation (liability). When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial
assumptions, the same method {projected unit credit method) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised
within the consolidated balance sheet. The methods and types of assumptions did not change.
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32. Related party disclosure

The Group consists of a parent company. Whitbread Group PLC. incorporated in the UK. and a number of subsidiarics and joint
ventures held directly and indirectly by Whitbread Group PLC, which operate and are incorporated around the world. Note 19 to
the Company's separate financial statements lists details of the interests in subsidiaries and related undertakings.

The Giroup holds 6% as a general partnership interest in Moorgate Scottish Limited Partnership (SI.P) with Whitbread Pension
Trustees holding the balance as a limited partner. Moorgate SLP holds a 67.8% investment in a further partnership, Farringdon
Scottish Partnership (SP). which was established by the Group to hold property assets. The remaining 32.2% interest in
Farringdon SP is owned by the Group. The partnerships were set up in 2009/10 as part of a transaction with Whitbread Pension
Trustees and the Group retains control over both partnerships and. as such. they are fully consolidated in these consclidated
financial statements. Further details can be found in Note 31.

Ultimate controlling party
The ultimate controlling party is Whitbread PLC.

Related party transactions

2022723 2021722

Joint ventures Joint ventures

£m £m

Sales to a related party N o1

Joint ventures
For details of the Groups investments in and oans to joint ventures, see Note 15. those details are excluded from the table above.
Compensation of key management personnel (including directors):

The key management personnei of the Group are defined as the members of the Whitbread PLC Executive Committee. Compensation
of key management personnel (including directors) is set out below,

2022723 2021722

£m £m

Short-term emplovee benefits 9.5 84
Post-employment benefits - -
Share-based payments 6.1 39
15.6 123

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Sales to, and purchases from, related parties are madc at normal market prices. Outstanding balances at vear-end are unsecured and
settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided, or received. for any related party receivables. No adjustment for
expected credit loss relating to amounts owed by related parties has been made (2022: £nil). An assessment is undertaken. each financial
year, through examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in which the related parties operate.

Transactions with other related parties
Details of transactions with directors are detailed in Note 7.

33. Events after the balance sheet date

Share buy-back

The Whitbread plc Board of Directors approved a share buy-back of Whitbread ple shares on 24 April 2023 for £300.0m and the
programme is being undertaken in accordance with that approval.

Revolving credit facility

In May 2023 the Group signed an extension to the existing 5 year £775m multicurrency Revolving Credit Facility Agreement,
extending the final maturity date by one year to now expire on 25 May 2028. The facility’s other terms remain consistent, being a
Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agreement and having variable interest rates with GBP being linked to SONIA and EUR being linked
to EURIBOR.

34. Business combinations

Acquisition in 2022/23

On 1 March 2023, the Group acquired the freehold interest of one hotel in Austria and was assigned the leasehold of {ive hotels within
Germany for cash consideration of £25 9m and deferred consideration of £2.5m.

This transaction has been accounted for as an asset acquisition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations as the fair value of the assets is
concentrated in a single group of similar assets. On acquisition. the Group has recognised PPE of £26.3m. right-of-use assets of £47.1m
and lease liabilities of £44.4m in relation to the hotels acquired. The transaction formed part of the Group's strategic priority of
international growth.
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At 2 March 2023

2 March 2023

3 March 2022

Notes fm £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 4 719 5158
Property. plant and equipment 5 1.865.4 1,563
Right-ot-use assets 6 519.7 5947
Tavestinent in subsidiaries, yoint ventures 7 20994 19479
Deerivative financial instruments 15 - 158
Loans to subsidiartes 320.2 3035
Defined benefit pension surplus 12 346.6 6194
52234 53891
Curreitt assets
Inventaries 8 16.3 162
Current tux asset 731 211
Trade and other receivables 9 31.3 6l.5
Cash and cash equivalents 1,122.1 1,089 0
1,292.8 1.187 8
Assets classified as held for sale 5 23 552
Total assets 6,518.5 6,532 1
Current liabilities
Leasc Habilities & 28.0 265
Provisions 13 8.6 1.7
Trade and other payabies 10 2,520.1 23223
1,556.7 23605
Non-cuarrent liabilities
Borrowings 11 993.4 9919
Lease liabilitics 6 613.2 7103
Provisions 13 8.3 49
Denivative tinancial instruments 15 7.8 -
Deferred tax habilities 14 142.0 1376
1,764.7 18487
Total liabilities 4,328.4 42092
Net assels 2,197.1 24229
Equity
Share capital 16 133.7 1337
Share premium 17 207.7 207.7
Rewvaluation reserve 17 17.9 218
Capital redemption reserve 17 11.7 117
Retained earnings 17 1,822.0 2,046 2
Hedging reserve 17 (1.3) -
Exciuded component of hedge reserve 17 5.4 18
2.197.1 24229

Total equity

Nl

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer

25 July 2023

The income statement of the parent Company is omitted from the Company's accounts by virtue of the exemption granted by
Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The loss generated for ordinary shareholders and included in the financial statements
of the parent Company amounted to £13.2m (2021/22: loss of £58.4m).
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Capital Excluded

Share Share Revaluation Retaned redernption  Hedging  component of
capital  premium resene earnings reserve reserve  hedge reserve Total
£m fm £m £m fm £m £n £m
At 25 February 2021 1337 207.7 232 1,900.3 117 2.1 - 22745
Eoss for the year - - - (58.4) - - - (38.4)
Olll\.l L«UI“plbll\«llJlVb LIFISIVIRY L) - - - ].I}O O 21 18 103 (“
Total comprehensive income - - - 1316 - 21 18 1355
Accrued share-based payments - - - 12,9 - - - 129
Realised revaluation gain transferred to profit and loss (L4 14 )

account - - X - - .
At 3 March 20622 1337 207.7 218 2,046 2 117 - 18 24229
Loss for the vear - - - {13.2) - - - (13.2)
Other comprehensive income - - - (232.6) - (1.3} 3.6 (230.3)
Teotal comprehensive income - - - (245.8) - (1.3} 3.6 (243.5)
Accrued share-based payments - - - 17.7 - - - 17.7
F(eah‘sed revaluation gan transferred 0 profit and loss ~ B 3.9 3.9 _ _ B R

account

At 2 March 2023 133.7 207.7 17.9 1.822.0 1.7 (1.3} 5.4 2,197.1
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. General Information and authorisation of consolidated financial statements

The financial statements of Whilbread Group PLC for the year ended 2 March 2023 werce authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 25 July 2023. Whitbread Group PLC is a public company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom
under the Companies Act and is registered in England and Wales. The Company's senior unsecured bonds are listed on the
London Stock Exchange. The address of the registered office is shown on page 2.

Whitbread Group PLC, its subsidiaries and joint ventures, operate hotels and restaurants, located in the UK and internationally.
2. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting and preparation
The financial statements of Whitbread Group PL.C have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand except when
otherwise indicated. The financial year represents the 52 weeks to 2 March 2023 (prior financial year: 533 weeks to 3 March
2022).

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard 100 'Application of Financial
Reporting Requirements’ a5 issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly. the Company has applied Financial
Reperting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framewaork' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council in preparing these
financial statements.

As permitted by FRS 101, the company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation
to share-based payments. non- current assets held for sale. financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative
information in respect of certain assets. presentation of a cash-flow statement, standards not yet effective. impairment of assets
and related party transactions. Where required. equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated accounts of the Company and
Group accounts of Whitbread PL.C. The Group accounts of Whitbread PLC are available to the public and can be obtained as set
out in Note 20,

Going concern
The directors have concluded that it is appropriate for the financial statements to be prepared on the going concern basis (see Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements).

Accounting policies
The accounting policies applied are consistent with those disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements except as
indicated below.

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures

Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less provision for any impairment. The carrying value of investments are
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Cost
is the fair value of the consideration given, including acquisition charges associated with the investment.

Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint aperations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor. The Company has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and determined it to be a joint venture.
Investments in joint ventures are recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given, including acquisition charges
associated with the investment less any provision for impairment.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Derivatives and hedging

The Company enters into derivative transactions to manage its exposure to exchange rate and foreign exchange rate risks.
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequently re-measured to their tair
value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument. in which event the timing ot the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
natnre nf the hedge relatinnshin

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is
recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Company has both the legal
right and intention to offset.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a4 non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than
12 months and is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or
current liabilities.

The Company designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest rate risks as
fair value hedges and cash flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments arc accounted for as cash flow
hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Company documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Company
documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting the hedged risk, by confirming that there is an economic
relationship between hedged items and the hedging instrument; the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that
result from that economic relationship: and the planned ratio of hedge: hedge item is the same as the actual ratio of hedge: hedge
item. The fair value change on qualifying fair value hedges is recognised in profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the cash flow hedging reserve. Any gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
of the hedge is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in cquity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affecis profit or loss, in the same line
as the recognised hedged item.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting when the hedge relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria, or when the
hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated or exercised.

Hedges of a wet investment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge ot a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net
investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the
effective portion of the hedge are recogniscd in other comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective
portion are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such
gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the statement of profit or loss.

The Company uses a loan as a hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its investments in foreign subsidiaries. Refer to
Note 24 to the consolidated tinancial statements for more details.

Critical accounting judgements and Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported as assets and liabilities at the balance shect date and the amounts reported as revenues and expenses during the
vear. Although these amounts are based on management's best estimates, events or actions may mean that actual results wtimately
differ from those estimates, and these differences may be material. These judgements and estimates and the underlying
assumptions are reviewed regularly.

The ctitical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty applicable to the Company are consistent with

those disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, with the exception of Adjusting items as these arc not disclosed
by this Company.
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3. Dividends

Whitbread Group PLC

MNotes to the company financial statements (continued)

2022/23 2022/23 202122 2021/22
Pence per share £m Pence per share £m
Dividends paid during the year - - - -
4. Intangible assets
Goadwill IT seftware Total
Cost £m £m £m
At 3 March 2022 41 13 1154
Additions - 367 367
Assets written oft - {10.3) {103
At 2 March 2023 41 137.5 141.6
Amortisatien and impairment
At 3 March 2022 (LD (62.8) (639
Amortisation dunng the year - (163} (16 3}
Ameortisation on assets written off - 10.3 105
At 2 March 2023 (L.1) (68.6) {69.7)
Net book value at 2 March 2023 3.0 68.9 71.9
Net book value at 3 March 2022 34 485 SUs
A review of IT software assets resulted in write-off of assets with a net book value of £nil {2021/22: £0.1m)
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments in relation to intangible assets at the year-end amounted to £7.6m (2022: £7.4m).
5. Property, plant and equipment
Furniture, fixtures &
Land & Buildings equipment Total
Cost £m £m £m
At 3 Mavch 2022 1.536.1 6193 21554
Additions 160 928 108.8
Interest capialised 07 - 07
Nei movements with assets held for sale 9.6 10 136
Disposals (1.2) [(URF] (1.7)
Assets written off (05) {46.0) {46.3)
At 2 March 2023 1.566.7 669.6 2,230.3
Depreciation and impairment
At 3 March 2022 (7300 (226 1) (299 1)
Depreciation charge for the year (71 (707 (77 8)
Net impairment charge (23 8} 4.0y (27 8)
Net movements with assets held for sale ICES 1.9y (8.3)
Ensposals 12 053 17
Depreciation on assets written off’ 04 460 46 4
At 2 March 2023 (108.7) (256.2) (364.9)
Net book value at 2 March 2023 1,452.0 413.4 1.865.4
Net book value at 3 March 2022 1.463.1 3932 1,856 3

Capitalised interest

Additions to land and buildings include £0.7m of interest capitalised during the year at an average rate of 2.5% (2022: £0.7m at 2.7%).

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments in relation to property, plant and equipment at the year-end amounted to £18.1m (2022: £51.2m).
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5. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Impairment

The increase in market interest rates has driven higher discount rates and has increased impairments in the Company. Gross
impairment charges of £49.9m (property. plant and equipment of £43.8m and right-ot-use asscts of £6.1m). have resulted from
reduced trade on standalone restaurants and those sites where F&B revenues represent a more significant proportion of toal
sales. as well as the increase seen in WACC. This has been offset by impairment reversals of £23.0m (property. plant and
equipment of £16.0m and right-ot-use assets of £7.0m), as the Company recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic and sites
returned to a more normal level of trading. This resulted in a total net impairment charge under IAS 36 of £26.9m being
recorded in tie Comnpany .

Further detail on the impairment assessment and the assumptions used is set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Assets held for sale

During the year. three property assets with a net book value of £1.9m (2021/22: two with a net book value of £47.3m) were
transferred into assets held for sale. Seven property assets were transferred back to fixed assets with a net book value of £7.9m
{2021/22: none). One property asset was disposed of during the year with a net book value of £46.9m (2021/22: three with a net
book value of £7.0m). No impairment loss was recognised relating to assets classitied as held for sale (2021/22: none). By the vear
end there were four sites with a combined net book value of £2.3m (2021/22: nine sites with a net hook value of £55.2m).

6. Lease arrangements

The company leases various buildings which are used within the Premier Inn business. The leases are non-canceliable leases with
varying terms. escalation clauses and renewal rights. and include variable payments that are not fixed in amount but based upon a
percentage of sales. The company also leases various plant and equipment under non-cancellable lease agreements.

An analysis of the Group’s right-of-use asset and lease liability is as follows:

Right-of-use asset

Property Other Total

£m £m fm

At 25 February 2021 5885 17 500.2
Additions 304 07 311
Net impairment reversal 50 - 350
Depreciation (30 3) (09 {312}
Terminations (04 - 04
At 3 March 2022 593.2 15 5647
Additions 15.0 0.7 15.7
Net impairment reversal 0.9 - 0.9
Diepreciation (28.1) (0.83 (28.9})
Fransfer to group undertaking (62.7) - (62.7)
At 2 March 2023 518.3 1.4 519.7

Lease liability

Property Other Total

£m £m £m

At 25 February 2021 7297 18 7315
Additions 304 07 3l
Interest 32.8 - 328
Pavments (57.7) 0.7 (58.4)
Terminations ((.2) - (0.2}
At 3 March 2022 735.0 1.8 736.8
Additions 15.0 0.7 15.7
Interest 30.0 - 30.0
Payments (71.2) (1.0} (72.2)
Transfer to group undertaking (69.1) - {69.1)
At 2 March 2023 639.7 1.5 641.2

During the year. the Company had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of £ 1 1.3m (2021/22: £20.5m)
relating to new leases and £4.4m (2021/22: £9.9m) relating to amendments to existing leases.
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6. Lease arrangements (continued)

Amounts recognised in the income statement

2022123 2021722

£m £m

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 289 312
Interest expense on lease Liabilitics 30.0 328
Expense relating to low-value assets and short-term leases - -
Varnable lease payment expense 14 -
Impairment reversal on right-of-use assets (0.9) (50)
Lease income (1.8) Q27
57.6 363

Future possible cash outflows not included in the lease liability

The Company has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. Set out below are the undiscounted future
rental payments relating to periods following the exercise date of extension and termination options that arc not included in the lease
liability.

2022123 202122

£m £m

Extension options expected not to be exercised 269.8 3733
Termunation optiens expected not to be exercised - -
269.8 3733

The Company uses judgement in determining whether termination and extension option periods will be included within the lease term.
The Company assumes that. unless a decision has been made to exit a lease, termination options will not be exercised as a result of
historic practices within the Group. At the outset of a lease, the Company assumes that it will not exercise extension options. Due to
the length of the Company’s leases, there is generally insufficient evidence that exercising an extension option is certain.

The Company as a lessor

The Company acts as a lessor in relation 1o a number of non-trading legacy sites and in subletting space within trading sites. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year is £1.8m (2021/22: £2.7m). Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable
operating leases at the year-end are as follows:

2022/23 202122

£m £m

Within one year 1.6 1.7
After ong year but not more than five years 29 24
More than five years 4.2 31
8.7 73

Maturity of lease liabilities
The company has undiscounted future lease payments associated with leases recognised within the lease liability as follows:

2022/23 2021722

fm £m

Within one vear 58.3 578
After one year but not more than five vears 2258 239.1
More than five years but not more than 10 years 2731 2697
More than 10 years but not more than 20 356.6 3538
More than 20 years 332.4 3718
1,246.2 1,2922
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7. Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures

Subsidiary
undertakings Joint venture Total
£m £m £fm
At 3 March 2022 1,947.9 - 1,947.9
Additions 138.3 - 138.3
Foreign exchange 13.4 - 13.4
At 2 March 2023 2,099.6 - 2,09%.6

During the financial vear a further investment was made to the entity’s investments in Premier Inn Holding (imbH and PI Hotels &
Restaurants Treland Limited in exchange for share capital, providing funding 1o support acquisitions of hotels in Germany and Ireland
as well as operational cash flows.

In October 2019, the Company cntered into ¢ross-currency swaps, whercby it pays an average fixed rate of 2.12% on a notional
amount of €521.0m and receives a fixed rate of 3.375% on a notional amount of £450.0m. These swaps are being used as a net
investment hedge to manage the impact of movements in the GBP:EUR exchange rate on the value of the Group's investment in its
business in Germany. The swaps mature in October 2023 in line with the bonds.

Information about the Company’s related undertakings can be found in Note 19.

8. Inventories

2023 2022
£m £m
Finished goods held for resale 15.4 13.6
Consumables 0.9 26
16.3 162
The carrying value of inventories is stated net of a provision of £1.4m (2022: £2.5m).
During the year, cost of inventories recognised as an expense totalled £148.8m (2021/22: £100.2m).
9. Trade and other receivables
2023 2022
£m £m
Trade debtors 228 249
Prepayments and accrued income 30.0 142
Other debtors 28.5 22,
813 615

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. Trade debtors includes £21.9m (2022:
£23.9m) relating to contracts with customers.

The allowance for expected credit loss relating to trade and other receivables at the year end was £0.6m (2022: £1.2m). During the
vear, credit losses of £1.1m {2021/22: £2.4m) were recognised within operating costs in the consolidated income statcment.
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10. Trade and other payables

2023 2022
£m £m
Trade payabies 87.0 683
Amounts owed to group undertakings and parent 2,085.1 1,962.7
Other taxes and socia! security 387 24.7
Contract liabilities 67.2 559
Accruals 173.3 1623
Other payables 68.8 48.4
25201 23323

Amounts payable to related parties are payable on demand and carry an average quarterly interest rate based upon the group funding.
Contract liabilities relate 1o payments received for accommodation where the stay will take place after the year-end and the Group’s

customer loyalty programmes.
Trade payables typically have maturities up to 60 days depending on the nature of the purchase transaction and the agreed terms.

11. Borrowings

Amounts drawn down on the Company s borrowing facilities are as follows:

Current Non-current
2023 2022 2023 2022
£m £m £m £
Revolving credit facility - - - -
Seniar unsecured bonds - - 993.4 991.9
- - 993.4 9919
Full details of the loans repayable are given in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
12. Pensions
2023 2022
£m £m
Pension surplus 346.6 6194

During the year. the accounting surplus decreased from £619.4m at 3 March 2022 to £346.6m at 2 March 2023. The principal

reasons for this decrease were lower returns on plan assets than expected using the discount rate, offset by actuarial gains on the

obligation caused primarily from an increase in discount rate applied.

As explained further in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, the Whitbread Group established a partnership. Moorgate

SLP, in which the Group is a general partner to hold an investment in a further partnership, Farringden SP in March 2010.

Under IAS 19, the partnership interest held by the pension scheme represents a plan asset for the purposes of this Company's

accounts, and accordingly the pension surplus position in the Company accounts was increased by £21.9m (2022: £96.8m) to reflect

the interest in Moorgate SLP held by the pension scheme.

For information concerning the assets and liabilities of the pension scheme, and details of the actuarial valuation, see Note 31 to the

consolidated tfinancial statements.
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13. Provisions

Onerous Property

Restructuring contracts costs Other Total

£m £m £m £m £m

At 3 March 2022 04 31 o1 170 20.6

Created - 1.7 - 238 4.5

Transterred - N - - 1.1

1inlised - (13 - 23 {3.6)

Released nhH (06) - +7 {5.7)

At 2 Masch 2022 - 4.0 0.1 12.9 16.7
Analysed as

Current - 4.0 0.1 45 8.6

Non-current - - - 8.3 8.3

At2 March 2023 - 4.0 0.1 12.8 16.9

Restructuring

A provision of £0.4m was brought forward in relation to the restructure of the Group’s Support Centre and site operations. During the
vear. the Company released the remaining provision to the income statcment.

Onerous contracts
Onerous contract provisions relate primarily to property and software licences where the contracts have become onerous. Provisien is
made {or property-related costs for the period that a sublet or assignment of the lease is not possible.

Onerous contract provisions are discounted using a discount rate of 2.0% (2022: 2.0%) based on an approximation for the time value
of money.

Property-related

The amount and timing of the cash outflows are subject to variation. The Company utilises the skills and expertise of both internal
and external property experts to determine the provision held. Provisions are expected to be utilised over a period of up to 12 years
and £0.2m has been utilised in the year.

Software

Certain sofiware licence agreements were deemed to be onerous when, following the disposal of Costa, it was no longer beneficial
to the Company to use the software. In addition, a provision was created in FY20 as a result of the cancellation of a contract relating
to the supply of I'T equipment. A provision of £0.8m was brought forward in retation to these contracts. During the year. the
Company utilised £0.3m (2022: £0.4m) of this provision, with the provision carried forward to be utilised over a two-year period.
The software intangible assets associated with these contracts have been fully impaired in previous financial years.

Property costs
From FY 18 to FY20. the Group established a provision for the performance of remedial works on cladding material at a small
number of the Group’s sites. As a result, a provision ot £0.1m is breught torward in relation to these costs.

Other

Insurance

A provision of £7.7m was brought forward in rclation to the estimate of the cost of tuture claims against the Group from both
employees and the public. The claims covered typically relates to accidents and injuries sustained in Whitbread's sites. During the
year further provisions were created with a valuc of £2.8m and £2.2m of the provision was utilised.

Government payments

The Company has made various claims for government support which are subject to the review of relevant agencies. The provision
recognised represents the Company’s best estimate of amounts potentially repayable under previously submitted claims. and for
potential historical indirect tax repayments. A provision of £9.2m was brought forward in relation to these claims. During the year
£0.1m of the provision was utilised with £4.7m of the provision released. The provision being held in relation to any potential
repayments required in respect of the interpretations and assumptions made by Whitbread for UK Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme claims was released as management is satisfied that no repayments are required following an HMRC review. Due to the
complex nature and fast pace of changes in the rules around certain government payments, the Company has endeavoured to apply
and adhere to the rules inplace. In certain areas where a rule interpretation was required. the Company has claimed in accordance
with its assumptions.
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14. Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)

Detferred tax relates to the following

2023 2022
£m £m
Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated capital allowances (45.2) {39.2)
Rolled over gains and property revaluations (69.0) 61.1)
Pensions (116.4} {1659)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (230.6} (266.2)
Deferred tax assets
Leases 21.8 235
Losses 60.4 1042
Other 6.4 0.9
Gross deferred tax assets 88.6 128.6
Net deferred tax lizbilities (142.0) (137 6}
15. Derivative financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments accounted for at fair value:
2023 2022
Finaucial assets at fair value
Derivative financial mstruments held at fair value Cuirent - -
Non-current - 158
Financial liabilities held at fair value
Derivative financial instruments held at fair value Current - -
Neon-current 7.8 -

The change in value of financial instruments at fair value was charged to the profit or loss account during the year with a value of
£1.1m (2022; credit of £1.3m) and the charge to the hedge reserve was £1.3m (2022: credit of £2.1m),

The fair value of derivative instruments classified as level 2 is calculated by discounting all future cash flows by the relevant market
discount rate at the balance sheet date.

16. Share capital

Allotted. called up and tully paid

2023 2022
£m £m
“A’" Ordinary shares of 25 pence each {2022 25 pence each) 110 11.0
Ordinary shares ol 25 pence each (2022: 25 pence each} 1227 1227
133.7 133.7
2023 2022
Million Million
Number of “A™ ardinary shares in issue Ho 44.0
Number or ordinary shares tn tssue 490 6 490 &
Total shares in issue 5346 534.6
The "A" shares have the same rights and rank equally with the ordinary shares, save that:
i, a holder of "A" shares shall. on return of assets, whether on a winding-up or otherwise. be entitled to participate
proportionately in the surplus assets of the Company remaining after the pavment of its liabilities
ii. a holder of "A" shares has no right as such to receive notice of or attend or vote at any general meeting of the
Company unless a resolution to vary or abrogate the rights attaching to such shares as proposed; and
iii. a holder of "A" shares is not entitled to any dividend or any other distribution (except as provided for in (i}
above).
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17. Reserves
Share capital
Share capital comprises the nominal value of the Company's ordinary shares of 25 pence each.

Share premium
The share premium reserve is the premium paid on the Company's 25 pence ordinary shares.

Revalnatinn reserve

The revaluation reserve includes the amounts that were re-valued on the UK properties up to and including 1998/99. 1t has been
the company’s policy not to revalue fixed assets and the reserve is unwinding over a period of time as the re-valued properties are
disposed of.

Hedging reserve
This reserve records movements for effective cash flow hedges measured at fair value,

Excluded component of hedge reserve
The excluded component of hedge reserve records movement in the elements of derivatives used in hedging arrangements that are
excluded trom the hedge relationship.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings are the accumulated profits of the Company.

18. Contingent liabilities
Whitbread Group PLC has undertaken to guarantee the lease payments of some other companies in the Group, the total committed

guarantees of this type amount to £2,371.6m (2022: £1.437.9m). It also has bank and other guarantees totalling £0.1m (2022: £0.1m).

The company considers it unlikely that it will be called upon to make any payments under these guarantees.

The company has additionally guaranteed liabilities of certain subsidiaries. See Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

19. Related parties

Details of related undertakings are shown below:;

19. Related parties — active undertakings % of class of

% of class of shares held by the % of
shares held group (if different nominal
Country of by the parent from the parent  value (where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
AIRE HIEX Stutigart Verwaltungs GmbH Germany® Ordimary EUR 50,000 - 000 1000
Brickwoods Limited England’ Ordinary £0 25 100.0 — 1000
Duttons Brewery Limited England’ Ordnary £1 .00 100.0 - 1000
Elm Hotel Holdings Limited England’ Ordinary £0 10 - 100.0 1000
Farringdon Scottish Partnership Scotland N/A N/A N/A TTUNIA
Healthy Retail Limited England™ A ordinary £0.01 100G -
- Bordinary £0.01 = = =
C ordinary £0.01 — - -
London Hotel Holdings Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 1000
Milton {5C) 2 Limzted Scotland® Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 1000
Milton (SC) Linuted - Scotland® Ordinary £100 L1000 - 1000
Milton | Limited England Ordmary £1 00 1000 - 100 0
Moorgate Scottish Limited Partnership Scotland® N/A N/A B N/A N/A
Pl Hotels and Restaurants Ireland Limuted Ireland Ordinary EUR 1 .0G 100.0 — —
Premier Inn (Bath Street) Limited Jersey® Ordinary £1 .00 1000 o = 1000
Premuer Inn (Guermnsey ) Limited Guernsey® Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 100.0
Premier Inn (Isle of Man) Limited isicofMan® " “Ordinary £1.00 CTTTTTTTTea 0 T - 100D
Premier Inn (Jersey) Limited Jersey® Ordmary £1 00 100.0 - 1000
Premier Inn (UK} Limited Fngland’ Ordinary £1 .00 z 607G TT1000°
Premier Inn AT Holding GmbH Ausirial” Ordinary EUR 35000 1600 —TTTTTTI00
Prermier Inn AT Immobilienbesitz (smbH Austria®™ Ordinary EUR 35,000 ) - 100 0 1000
Premier Inn AT Hotelbetriebsgesellschaft GmbH Austria” Ordinary EUR 35,000 - 1660 1000
Premier Inn Dortmund Konigswall GmbH N " Germany® Ordinary EUR 25.000 T 1006 1000
Premuer Inn Essen City Hauptbahnhof GmbH Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 - 1000 1060
Fremier Inn Flensburg City GmbH Germany Ordinary EUR 25.000 B 100 ¢ 1000
Premier inn Frankfurt Caty Ostbahnhof GmbH Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 - 1660 1000
Premier Inn Frankfurt Eschborn GmbH " "Germany® Ordinary EUR 25.006 = 15670 100.0
Premier Innt Glasgow Limited England” ~ Ordinary £1.60 o = 1000 T10007
Prenier Inn GmbH T T Gemmanyt Ordinary BEUR 25000 N 1060
Premier Inn Hamburg Nordanalsirasse GmbH Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 - 160 ¢ 100.0
Premuet Tnn Holding GmbH Germany® Ordinary EUR 256007~~~ 77 oo~ B 106.0
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19. Related parties — active undertakings (continued)

% of class of

% of class of shares held by the % of
shares held group {if different nominal
Country of by the parent from the parent  value {where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
Premnier Inn Hotel GrbH Germany® There are no classes of shares. The - 10090 100.0
totak nominal share capital amounts to
EL R 300,000 and s divided into two
shares, one 10 the nominal amount of
EUR 275 000 and one in the nominal
amount of EUR 25 000
Premier Inn Hotels Limited England' Ordmary £1 00 1000 - 100.0
Premier Inn Hotels LLC United Arab Ordinary AED 1,000 - 490 490
Premier Inn Hotels Qatar Qatar’ Ordmary QAR 100.00 - 490
Premier Inn Immo 19 GmbH T Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 o

‘Premier Inn Mannheim Quadrate T QnubH

Ordinar;f £1.00

" Ordmary EUR 23,060

Ordinary £1 00

Premier Inn Miinchen Frankfi CGermany Ordmnary EUR 25.000
Premier nn Ochre [.imited CEngland” 7 Ordmary €100 1060
Premicr Inn Rostock City Hafen GmbH Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000 ’ = TTTI000 1000
Premier Inn Verwaltungsgesellschaft Sud GmbH Germany® " Ordwnary EUR 50,000 T CTees TG00
Premier Inn Westninster Limited England' Ordmary £1 .00 -
Premier Travel Inn India Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 100.0
PT. Whitbread Indonesia T indonesia™ Ordinary USD 1 .00 = 100.0 100.0
PTT Middle East Laimited Untted Arab Ordmary AED 1,000 - 1000 1000
Emirates'!
Silk Street Hotels Limited England] Deferred £1 00 - 100.0 99.9
Ordmary USD GO Al
St Andrews Homes Limited England' Ordinary £100
Swift Hotels Eimited England’ Ordinary £1.00 .
Preference £5.00 )
T.F. Ashe & Nephew Limited England’ Deterred £1 (O
Ordunary £0.01
UNA 312 Equity Management Gmbf1 o Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000
UNA 352. Equity Management GmbH Germany Ordmnary EUR 25,000
Whitbread Asia Pacific Pnivate Limited Singapore’ Ordinary SGD 1 .00
“Whitbread East Pennines Limited " " England" " Ordinary £100
Whitbread Hotel Company Limited England' Ordinary £0.10
“Whithread Intermational Sourcing Business Services China Crdinary RMB | 00
(Shanghai} Co., L1d
Whitbread Properties Limited England' 5% non-cumulative preference £0.50 100 G - 2449
7% non-cumaulative e £0.25 100 ¢ - 164
e Crdlinary £0 175 S 1000 o 587
Whitbread West Pennines Limited - England” Ordinary £1 00 1000 - 160.6
WHRI Development DMCC United Arab Ordmmary AED 1,600 100G - 1000
Emirates'’
WHRI Holding Company Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 100 0 - 1008
19. Related parties — dormant undertakings % of class of
% of class of shares held by the % of
shares held gronp (if different nominal
Country of by the pareat frem the parent  value (where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable}
Advisebegin Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 1000 100.0
Alastair Campbxit & Company Limited Scotland’ Ordinary £1.00 — 1000 100.0
Archibald Campbell Hope & King Limited Scotland” Ordinary £1.00 — 1000 100.0
Autumn Days Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Belgrave Hotel Lunited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 1000
Belstead Brook Manor Hotel Limited England' Ordmary £1 .00 — 1000 1000
Brewers Fayre Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Britannia Inns Limuted England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 - 100.0
Broughton Park Hotel Lunited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 1000 1000
Carpenters of Widnes Limited England’ Ordmnary £0.01 1000 - 1000
Deferred ordinary £1 00 100.0 — 1000
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19. Related parties — dormant undertakings (continued) % of class of % of
% of class of shares held by the noeminal

shares held group (if different value

Country of by the parent from the parent {where

Company name incorporation  Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)}
Cherwell Inns Limited England' A ordinary non-voting £1.00 100.0 — 66 7
Chiswell Overseas Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 100.0 — 100.0
Chiswell Properties Limited England” Ordinary £1.00 1000 - 100.0
Churchgate Maner Hotel Limited England’ Ordwnary £1.00 — 100.0 1000
Country Club Hotels Limuited England’ Ordinary £1 00 - 1000 1000
Cromwell Hotel (Stevenage) England’ Ordwnary £1 Q0 — 100 0 1000
Cyun Huld Cunnpany Linuted Cuglam Ouduwary £1.00 — 1060.06 1000
Danesk Limited Scotland™ Ordinary £1 60 100.0 — 1000
David Wiiliams {Builth} Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.4 - 120.0
Dealend Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 1000 o 100 0
Delamont Freres Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 1600
Detaunay Freres Limited England’ Ordinary £1.06 100.0 - 1000
Dome Restaurants Limuted England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Dragon Inns and Restaurants Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 100 0
Dukes Head 1988 Limited England’ B ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
W ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0

E. Lacon & Co., Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
E B_Holdings Limited England’ Ordinary £1.0¢ 100.0 — 100.0
Evan Evans Bevan Limtted England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 1000
Finite Hotel Systems Lumnited England’ A ordinary £1.00 — 1060 500
B ordinary £1.00 - 1000 50.0

Fleet Wines & Spirits Limited England’ Ordinary £] 00 100.0 — 100.0
Forest of Arden Golf and Country Club Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 1000 100 0
(table Care Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 160 0 100.0
Goodhews (Castle) England’ A ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 51.0
Ordinary £1 00 - 160 0 490

Goodhews (Heldings) Limited England? A ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 42.2
B ordinary £1.00 1000 - 422

C ordinary £1 .00 100.0 — 15.6

(ioodhews (Inns) England’ Ordinary £1 00 - 100.0 100.0
Goodhews (Restaurants} England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 150 0 100.0
Goodhews B. & S Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Goodhews Enterprises England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100 0
Goodhews Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100 0
Gough Brothers Eimited England’ Deferred ordinary £.0.20 100.0 - 976
Ordinary £0.20 100.0 - 24

Grosvenor Leisure Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100 ¢
Hammock Lunited England’ Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 160 ¢
Hart & Co_, (Boats) Limited F,ngl:md' 1% non-curmulative preference £1.00 - 100 ¢ 99 0
Ordinarv £1 Q0 - 100.0 1¢

1% non-cumulatzve preference £0.01 — 1000 —

Harveys Letsure Promotions Limited England’ Aordinary £1 00 - 100.0 700
B ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 300

Hunter & Oliver Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
J Burton {Warwick) Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 - 100.0 660
1. J. Norman and Ellery Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
James Bell and Company Limited England’ Deferred ordinary £0.25 - 160 0 962
Ordinary £0.01 - 100.0 38

Jestbread Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Kingsmills Hotel Company Limited Scotland™ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1GO O
Lambtons Ale Limited England’ Crdinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Latewise Limited England’ Crdinary £1 00 53.4 - 53.4
Lawnpark Limited England’ Crdinary £1 00 100.0 - 100.0
Leisure and Retail Resources Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 99.6 59.6
Llovds Avenue Catering Limited England’ 3%, non-cumulative preference £1.00 1000 - 500
Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 500

London Internatienal Hotel Limuted England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 1000 100.0
Lonmer & Clark, Limited Scotlang™ Ordinary £1 00 - {on.0 1000
Mackeson & Company Limited England’ Ordwnary £1 00 100.0 — 100.0
Mackies Wine Company Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Maredrove Limited England’ Ordnary £1 00 100.0 — 100.0
Marine Hotel Porthcawl Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Marlow Catering Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 1000 — 100.0
Meon Valley Golf and Country Club Linuted England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 1000 100.0
Milton 2 Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 160.0 100 0
Morans of Bristol Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 — 100.0
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19. Related parties — dermant undertakings (continued) % of class of % of
% of class of  shares held by the nominal
shares held group (if different value
Country of by the parent from the parent {where
Company name incorporatioen Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
Morris’s Wine Stores Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 5.4
5 6% non~cumulative preference £1.00 - {000 946
New Clapton Stadum Company Limited England’ Ordmary £0.05 - 100.0 1000
Norseman Lager Limited England” Ordinary £1.00 - [T 100.0
Pacific Caledoman Properties Liunited Scotland™ Ordinarv £1 00 100.0 - 1000
Percheron Properties Limuted England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 166 0 100.0
Peter Dominic Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 106 0 = 100.0
P Hotels York Limited England’ Ordinarv £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Piguant Caterers Limuted England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Pizzaland Limited Engtand’ Ordinazy £1.00 1000 - 1000
Prenner Inn Kier Limited England’ A ordinary £1 00 = - =
B ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 500
Premier Inn Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100 0 100 0
Premier Inn Troon Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 - 1000 1000
Priory Leisure Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100.0 1000
R.C. Gough and Co. Limited England’ Ordmary £1 00 100.0 - 1000
Raybain (Northern) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 L1000 - 100.0
Raybain {Wine Bars) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 -~ 100.0
Respotel Limited England’ Ordmary £1 00 - 100.0 100.0
Rhymney Breweries Limited England’ Ordmary £1.00 100.0 - 1000
S & S Property Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
S H. Ward & Company Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 000
Salford Automatics Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 1000
Scorechance 1 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100 0 100 0
Scorechance 12 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100 0 1000
Scorechance 17 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1000
Scorechance 25 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1600
Scorechance § Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 1000 100.0
Sheftield Automatics Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 — 100 0
Shewell Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1040 - 1000
Silk Street Hotel Liverpool Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 100.0
Small & Co. (Engineering) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Small & Co Eimited England’ 7% cumulative preference £1 00 - 100.0 0.7
Ordinary £1 00 - 100.0 993
Spring Soft Pninks Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Sprowston Manor Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100.0 100.0
Square October | Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 HIE
Square October 2 Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 - 100.0 1000
Square October 3 Limited England’ Ordmary £1.00 — 1004 1000
St Andrews Homes (1995) Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 - 100.0 100.0
St Martins Care Homes Investmenis Limited Engiland’ Ordinary £1.0¢ - 100.0 100.0
Stonesheli Limited England’ Ordinary £1 0 - 100.0 100 0
Stripe Travel Inn Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Strong and Co. of Komsey Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Summertields Care Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100 & 1000
Sun Taverns Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 50 950 100.0
Sweetings (Chop House} Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Swingbndge Hotel Limued England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 100 0
Swift {Lurchrise) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 100.0
Swift Hotels (1995) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.6C - 1000 100.G
Swift Hotels (Management) Lirted England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Swift Inns and Restaurants Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100 0 100.G
Swift Profit Sharing Scheme Trustees Eimited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 100.0
Swift Quest Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100.0 100.0
Tewkesbury Park Golfand Country Club Limited England’ Ordinarv £1 00 - 100.0 1000
The Barcave Group Limited England’ 7% curnulative preference £1 00 100.0 - 9.9
Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 91
The Dommic Group Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 1600
The Four Seasons Hotel Investments Limited England’ 8% cumwlative preference A £1 00 — 100.0 330
8% cumulative preference B £1.00 = 1000 281
Ordinary £1.00 —- 1000 302
Preferred ordinany £1 00 - 1000 88
The Four Seasons Hotel Investtnents England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1000
Management Limited
The Four Seasons Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100 0 1000
The Ovster Spa Company Limited England” Ordinary £1 .00 1000 — 1000
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19. Related parties — dormant undertakings (continued) % of class of % of
% of class of  shares held by the nominal
shares held  group (if different value
Country of by the parent from the parent {where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Compauy Company) applicable)
The Pertsmouth and Brighton United Brewenes Limited England’ Ordwnary £0.25 100.0 - 100 0
Thornas Wethered & Sons Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 1000 — 100 0
Threlfalls (Lverpool & Birkenhead) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000
Threltalls (Salford) Limited England’ Orduary £1.00 100 .0 - 106 0
Trentrise Limied England’ Ordwnary £1.00 1000 - [
Uncle Sam’s Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 100.0
Virlat Limited Eneland’ Ordinary £1 00 - 100 e
WM. Darley, Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 — 100 0 49.8
Preference £1.00 - 1000 44 8
Preferred ordinary £0.01 - 100 0 04
W.R. Wines Limed England’ Deferred £1 00 - 100 0 95.0
West Country Brewerses Limited Fngland’ Deterred £1.00 — 00 99.0
Ordinary £0.01 - 1000 10
Wentworth Guarantee Company Limted England’ N/A N/A N/A
Whitbread (Condor) Holdings Limited England’ Ordinary £0 0001 823 17.7 100.0
Whatbread (G.C ) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100 0 100.0
Whitbread Company Two Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 1660 100.0
Whitbread Developments Limiuted England! Ordinary £1 00 10G 0 - 100.0
Whitbread Devon Limited England’ Crdinary £1.00 1000 - 100.0
Whitbread Directors | Limited Engiand’ Ordinary £0.05 — 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Directors 2 Limited Engiand’ Ordinary £1 00 990 1o 1000
Whitbread Dunstable Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 10600 — 100.0
Whitbread Enterprise Centre Limted England’ Ordinary £1 00 1000 - 100.0
Whitbread Finance PLC England! Ordinary £1 00 50.0 300 100.0
Whitbread Fremlins Limited England’ Ordinary £1 .00 160.6 - 100.0
Whitbread Golt and Country Club Limaed Englandl 5% non~cumulative preference £1 00 - 1000 450
A ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 350
Whitbread Golf Club Limited England’ Ordinary £1 .00 - 1000 1000
Whitbread Guarantee Company Two Limited England’ N/A N/A N/A
Whitbread Hotel {Boumemouth) Limited England’ Ordinary £0 03 - 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Hotels (Managcmcnt) Limited Eng]and' Deferred £1.00 - 100.0 160.0
USD0.01 - 1000 -
Whitbread Intemnational Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 - 1000
Whitbread International Trading Limited England’ Ordinary £0.25 100.0 - 160 0
Whisbread Investment Company Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100 0
Whitbread Investment Company Securities Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100 0 1000
Whitbread London Limited England’ Ordnary £1 G0 160.0 - 100.G
Whitbread Nominees Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 50.0 50.0 100.0
Whitbread Pension Trustee Directors Company Limited England’ N/A NIA N/A N/A
Whitbread Pension Trustees England’ Ordinary £1.00 1006 - 100.0
Whitbread Pub and Bars Limited Englangd’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whithread Pub Parinership Limited England’ Ordinary £1 .00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Pub Restaurants Business Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Quest Trustee Timited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100 G - 100.0
Whitbread Restaurants ( Australia) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 1000 - -
Ordinary £0.56 100 0 - {000
Whitbread Restaurants Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Scotland Limited Scotland™ Ordmary £1.00 100.0 — 160.0
Whitbread Secretaries [imited England’ Ordmnary £0.05 1060 = 50.0
4% preference £0 05 1000 - 50.0
Whitbread Share Ownership Trustees Limited England’ N/A N/A N/A
Whitbread Spa Company Limited England’ Orcinary £1 00 100 0 -
Whitbread Sunderiang (1995} Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Sunderland 2 Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 106.0 570
5.6% non~cumulative preference £1.00 - 1000 43.0
Whitbread Sunderland Limited England’ Ordinary £5 00 - 106 0 500
Preference £3.00 — 1000 500
Whitbread Trafalgar Properties Limited England’ A ordinary £1 00 100.0 - 504
B ordinary £1 00 1000 - 50.0
Whitbread UK Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 1000 -~ 000
Whitbread Wales Lunited England’ Ordinary £1 00 100 0 - 100 0
Whitbread Wessex Limited England’ Ordinagy £1 G0 100.0 - 1000
White Cross Films Limited England’ Ordmazy £1.00 100.0 - 1600
Wiggin Tree Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100G
Willhouse Limited England' Deferred £1.00 - 1000 500
Qordinary £1.00 - 100.0 25.0
W ordinary £1.00 - 1000 25.0
William Overy Crane Hire Limited England’ Ordinarv £1 00 - 100.0 100.0
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19 Related parties (continued)

The registered office of the above companics is as follows:

1 Whitbread Court, Houghton Hall Business Park, Porz Avenue, Dunstable. Beds, LUS 5XE.

2 4th Floor. Saltire Court, 20 Castle Terrace, Edinburgh. EH1 2EN.

3 3rd Floor, Kilmore House, Park Lane, Spencer Dock, Dublin 1, [reland.

4 2nd Filoor. St Mary’s Court. 20 Hill Street, Douglas. IM1 1EU. Tsle of Man.

5 4th Floor. St Paul’s Gate. 22-24 New Street, St Helier, JE1 4TR, Jersey.

6 Ground Floor. Premier Inn Dubai Investment Park, P.O. Box 35118. Dubai, United Arab Emirates.
7 3rd Floor, Tornado Towers, PO Box 34040, Doha, Qatar.

8 Messeturm {12th Floor), Iriedrich-Ebert-Anlage 49. 60308 Frankfurt am Main, Germany.

9 Reom 742,968 West Beijing Road. Jing an District, Shanghai, China.

10 Gandaria 8 Office Tower. 19th Floor Unit Al. Jalan Sultan Iskandarmuda, Kebayoran Lama. 12240, Indonesia.
11 TMF Services B.V., Nassima Tower, QOffice 1401. Sheikh Zayed Road, PO Box 213975, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.
12 38 Beach Road. 29-11 South Beach Tower. Singapore 189767, Singapore.

13 Almas 6C, Almas Tower, Jumeirah LLake Towers, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.

14 4th Floor, 115 George Street, Edinburgh, EH2 4JN. Scotland.

15 The Royal Scot Hotel, 111 Glasgow Road, Edinburgh, EH12 8NF, Scotland.

16 11 New St. Guernsey GY I 3EG. Guernsey.

17 Swallow Royal Scot Hotel, Glasgow Road, Edinburgh, EN12 8NF, Scotland.

18 100 Moorgate. London, England. EC2M 6AB.

19 Hegclgasse 13, 1010 Wien, Austria.

20 Parent undertaking
The immediate and ultimate parent undertaking is Whitbread PLC, registered in England and Wales.

The parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group accounts are drawn up and of which the Company is
a member is Whitbread PL.C. registered in England and Wales. Copies of their accounts can be obtained frem Whitbread Court.

Houghton Hall Business Park. Porz Avenue, Dunstable, Bedfordshire, LU5 5XE.

21 Events after the balance sheet date
Post balance sheet events likely to impact the company are set out within Note 33 1o the consolidated financial statements.
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